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Mario Andretti

Desire is the key 
to motivation, but 
it’s determination 
and commitment 
to an unrelenting 
pursuit of your goal 
- a commitment to 
excellence - that will 
enable you to attain 
the success you seek.
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•  Annual distribution of 150,30 cents per combined A and B shares, equates to 

growth of 13%.

•  Core property portfolio growth of 6,2% and 8,5% with the effect of gearing.

•  Forecast distribution growth of between 8% to10% per combined A and B shares 

to 30 September 2016.

• Growth in NAV per combined share of 26,7% to R17,40.

Highlights for the year
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Background

Arrowhead was formed in September 2011 and debuted 

in the Real Estate Sector on the JSE in December 2011 

as an internally managed PLS company. Arrowhead 

converted to a REIT on 1 October 2013.

Arrowhead owns a diverse portfolio of retail, 

commercial and industrial properties throughout 

South Africa. Arrowhead holds a majority interest in 

Indluplace, the first JSE listed focused residential REIT, 

as well as a minority interest in Dipula, which owns a 

diverse commercial property portfolio.

Its primary objective is to pay increasing income 

returns to investors, which it achieves through:

• escalating rentals;

• satisfactory renewal of leases;

• renting of vacant space;

• managing and, where possible, reducing costs;

• acquiring revenue enhancing properties; and

• increased distributions from Indluplace and Dipula.

Risk is managed by growing and diversifying the 

portfolio in terms of the number of properties, spread 

of tenants, spread of locations throughout South Africa 

and the spread of retail, office and industrial properties.

Interest rates are fixed for 5 years on the majority of 

Arrowhead’s debt on date of drawdown.
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Arrowhead has increased properties 

and investments under management 

from R1,4 billion (89 properties) at 

listing to around R8,6 billion (157 

properties) at 30 September 2015. The 

total asset value has grown more than 

6 times since listing, while the number 

of properties in the portfolio has more 

than doubled. Importantly, vacancies 

have reduced during this period.

Assets are managed internally by the 

executives with property management 

provided by JHI.

During 2015 Arrowhead acquired an 

additional R1,1 billion of investement 

properties. The entire residential 

portfolio was separately listed on the 

JSE on 19 June 2015 as Indluplace 

Properties Limited. Arrowhead held 

70% of the shares in issue in Indluplace 

at 30 September 2015.

The company pays its annual net 

income to its shareholders in the 

form of quarterly distributions, 

has an active investor relations 

programme and adheres to best 

practice corporate governance.
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Financial performance
YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER

2015 2014 2013 2012

Distribution per A share (cents) 75,15 66,62 60,00 60,00

Distribution per B share (cents) 75,15 66,62 53,01 40,58

Distribution per combined A and B shares (cents) 150,30 133,24 113,01 100,58

Closing share price on JSE on 30 September per A share (cents) 960 785 691 650

Closing share price on JSE on 30 September per B share (cents) 955 788 666 585

Closing share price on JSE on 30 September per combined A and B shares (cents) 1 915 1 573 1 357 1235

Total return per combined A and B shares (%) 31 33 19 41*

Trading volume A shares (%) 38 29 64 *

Trading volume B shares (%) 38 27 36 *

Market capitalisation (R billion) 8,4 5,9 2,8 2,1

Property portfolio value (R billion) 8,6 7,0 3,1 2,2

Investment in Indluplace (R billion) 1,2 0,5 - -

Investment in Dipula (R billion) 0,5 0,3 - -

Commercial property portfolio (m2) 886 775 868 301 514 021 429 543

Commercial property portfolio let (%) 93 94 91 87

Borrowings (R million) 2 414 2 360 719 615

Borrowings as a percentage of property value (%) 28 34 23 28

Weighted cost of borrowings (%) 8,96 8,61 8,17 8,13

* Not full 12 months. 

The capital structure of Arrowhead converted from linked units to ordinary shares on 19 July 2015.
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Objectives and results 
YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER

Objectives Results

Earnings of 147,90 cents per combined shares. Achieved 150,30 cents per combined shares.

Increase market capitalisation to R8,0 billion. Achieved market capitalisation of R8,4 billion.

The listing on the JSE of Arrowhead Residential with an 

asset base of R2,5 billion by 30 September 2015.

Arrowhead Residential was listed as Indluplace on 19 June 2015 

with an asset base of R1,7 billion.

The sale by the Arrowhead Charitable Trust of its 

Arrowhead shares, the repayment of the loan to 

Arrowhead and the start of the functioning of the Trust.

The loan was repaid with the proceeds from the disposal of the 

Arrowhead shares and the Charitable Trust is functioning.
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Chairman’s statement

The 12 months ended 30 September 2015 

have been an active period for Arrowhead. 

Distributable income has grown from 

133,24 cents per combined A and B 

shares to 150,30 cents per combined 

A and B shares (growth of 12,80%), 

Arrowhead’s R1,7 billion residential 

portfolio was successfully listed on the 

JSE as Indluplace Properties Limited, 

and Arrowhead’s market capitalisation 

reached R8,4 billion at year-end.

With T. Adler having been appointed 

non-executive chairman of Indluplace, 

I have been appointed chairman of 

Arrowhead in his place. I want to express 

my thanks to Taffy for his outstanding 

contribution as chairman of Arrowhead 

since the company was listed in 2011. I 

look forward to working with him both 

in his role as non-executive director 

of Arrowhead as well as chairman 

of Indluplace.

The substantial depreciation of the rand 

against the dollar and major European 

currencies, as well as the threat of 

increases in interest rates, have affected 

the investment and financing strategy of 

many of companies listed on the JSE’s 

property sector (“SAPY”). Almost 25% of 

the properties held by companies in the 

sector are held offshore, and companies 

exposed to these properties have 

benefited from the rand’s depreciation 

by way of earnings and net asset 

value growth. 



ARROWHEAD PROPERTIES INTEGRATED FINANCIAL REPORT 2015

www.arrowheadproperties.co.za  /  11 

M. Nell
17 November 2015

While Arrowhead has no offshore exposure, it has still grown its distributable income at a level exceeding that of the SAPY.

The Board and management have adopted a conservative strategy with regard to Arrowhead’s level of debt and the fixing of 

interest rates. 

Some companies have levels of gearing above that of Arrowhead and a number of companies have bank and other borrowings 

where the term is short and interest rates are not fixed. These companies have benefited from interest rates remaining almost 

unchanged during the year. Arrowhead fixes interest rates for five years from the date of borrowing, incurring higher rates. 

Notwithstanding this policy, earnings for the year have been most satisfactory.

The section “Background” on page 6 to 7 of this report reflects the change in Arrowhead since the sale during the year of its 

residential assets to Indluplace, the first listed residential REIT. Arrowhead is a diversified commercial REIT with a major 

interest of 70% in Indluplace and a minor interest of 11% in Dipula, the black empowered commercial REIT. 

There is a substantial pipeline of residential property for acquisition by Indluplace at substantial margin over Indluplace’s cost 

of equity. This should enable Indluplace to grow significantly in size to substantially increase earnings per share. Arrowhead 

will benefit from such earnings growth over the next twelve months and into the future. We are satisfied with the earnings 

performance of Dipula, and will retain this investment for the foreseeable future.

The Arrowhead share price rerated at the beginning of the financial year after the acquisition of the Vividend portfolio in the 

previous year. The “quality” of the portfolio in terms of size, location and average length of leases changed with the acquisition, 

and management will continue to strengthen the portfolio in order to achieve sustainable growth in earnings per share, as well 

as increased net asset value per share. Additional quality staff have been employed to facilitate this change to the portfolio. In 

line with the policy of improving the portfolio (always with revenue enhancing assets), Arrowhead acquired R60,5 million in 

new commercial assets in the year under review, and further strengthened the portfolio after year-end with the acquisition of 

Cleary Park Shopping Centre in Port Elizabeth, for R460 million.

On page 37 we have shown how the core portfolio has grown by 6,2%, ahead of SAPY’s growth. This growth in earnings, 

supplemented by additional earnings from investments in new acquisitions, enables Arrowhead to produce better than 

SAPY earnings.

During the next twelve months the focus will remain growing and improving Arrowhead’s portfolio, as well as encouraging 

substantial growth within Indluplace (see pages 74 to 75 for Arrowhead’s forecast for 2015/2016). Management, with the full 

support of the Board, has recommended that the company’s A and B share structure be converted into a single share structure.

Finally, I would like to express my thanks to my fellow non-executive directors, to the executive team and their support staff for 

all they have done to achieve another outstanding performance for Arrowhead.
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Who does what?

Shareholders

Board of directors

Board committees Executive
Audit and risk

Investment

Remuneration

Social and ethics
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Asset managers

Financial managers

Legal advisor

Service providers
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AWA +22,14% AWB +20,13% ALSI +2,48% SA Property Index +19,67% ALBI +1,43% 

Shareholders’ analysis
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ARROWHEAD “A” SHARES - FROM 1 OCTOBER 2014 - 30 SEPTEMBER 2015

Total Volume: 164 530 776                         Total Value: R1 530 180 905
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AWA vs AWB ALSI vs SAPI vs ALBI

Arrowhead is listed under the “Real Estate – Real Estate Holdings and Development” 

sector on the JSE as a REIT company during the period under review.
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ARROWHEAD “B” SHARES - FROM 1 OCTOBER 2014 - 30 SEPTEMBER 2015

V
al

u
e Total Volume: 164 332 699                          Total Value: R1 525 847 553 
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Share price performance A shares B shares

Opening Price: 1 October 2014 R7,86 R7,88 

Closing Price: 30 September 2015 R9,60 R9,55 

High for period R10,55 R10,44 

Low for period R7,60 R7,88 

Total number of shareholders 13 417 13 482

Number of shares in issue 437 607 408 437 607 408

Volume traded during period 164 530 776 164 332 699

Ratio of volume traded to shares in issue (%) 37,60 37,55
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Analysis of ‘A’ shareholders as at 
30 September 2015
Size of holdings - shares

Number of 
shareholders

% of total 
holdings

Number of 
shares

% shares in 
issue

1 - 1 000 8 398  62,59 1 436 339  0,33 

1 001 - 10 000 3 229  24,07 13 060 102  2,98 

10 001 - 100 000 1 421  10,59 42 808 300  9,78 

100 001 - 1 000 000 289  2,15 79 699 336  18,21 

Over 1 000 000 80  0,60 300 603 331  68,70 

Total 13 417  100,00 437 607 408  100,00 

Distribution of shareholders
Number of 

shareholders
% of total 
holdings

Number of 
shares

% shares in 
issue

Collective investment schemes 163  1,21 169 329 075  38,70 

Organs of state 3  0,02 62 434 647  14,28 

Retail shareholders 11 147  83,10 52 425 053  11,98 

Retirement benefit funds 156  1,16 49 016 537  11,20 

Trusts 1 197  8,92 25 514 919  5,83 

Stockbrokers & nominees 40  0,30 20 363 928  4,65 

Private companies 235  1,75 16 896 291  3,86 

Custodians 38  0,28 10 297 868  2,35 

Assurance companies 26  0,19 9 922 362  2,27 

Foundations & charitable funds 120  0,89 8 726 936  1,99 

Hedge funds 13  0,10 4 868 530  1,11 

Close corporations 150  1,12 2 514 593  0,57 

Medical aid funds 16  0,12 2 104 008  0,48 

Managed funds 26  0,19 2 054 850  0,47 

Investment partnerships 62  0,46 835 038  0,19 

Public companies 8  0,06 132 555  0,03 

Public entities 1  0,01 76 056  0,02 

Insurance companies 3  0,02 58 084  0,01 

Scrip lending 5  0,04 35 867  0,01 

Unclaimed scrip 8  0,06 211  0,00 

Total 13 417  100,00 437 607 408  100,00 
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Shareholder type
Number of 

shareholders
% total 

shareholders
Number of 

shares
% of shares in 

issue

Non-public shareholders 7  0,06 71 555 466  16,35 

Directors and associates (direct holding) 3 10 702 246  2,45 

Directors and associates (indirect holding) 2 6 274 051  1,43 

Government Employees Pension Fund 2 54 579 169  12,47 

Public shareholders 13 410  99,94 366 051 942  83,65 

Total 13 417  100,00 437 607 408  100,00 

Fund managers with a holding greater than 3% of the shares in issue
Number of 

shares
% of shares in 

issue

Public Investment Corporation 55 539 520  12,69 

Coronation Fund Managers 31 875 497  7,28 

Investec Asset Management 24 860 993  5,68 

Foord Asset Management 24 230 308  5,54 

Stanlib Asset Management 21 515 263  4,92 

Prudential Portfolio Management 20 292 900  4,64 

Visio Capital Management 20 170 019  4,61 

Grindrod Asset Management 19 302 645  4,41 

Sanlam Investment Management 15 649 943  3,58 

Meago Asset Management 13 534 419  3,09 

Total 246 971 507  56,44 

Beneficial shareholders with a holding greater than 3% of the shares in issue
Number of 

shares
% of shares in 

issue

Government Employees Pension Fund 54 579 169  12,47 

Nedbank Group 28 404 285  6,49 

Coronation Fund Managers 20 843 070  4,76 

Stanlib 20 119 265  4,60 

Arrowhead Nominees Proprietary Limited 16 570 532  3,79 

Investec 14 671 281  3,35 

Prudential 14 034 058  3,21 

Sanlam Group 13 751 688  3,14 

Total 182 973 348  41,81 
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Analysis of ‘B’ shareholders as at 
30 September 2015
Size of holdings - shares

Number of 
shareholders

% of total 
holdings

Number of 
shares

% shares in 
issue

1 - 1 000 8 353  61,95 1 417 052  0,32 

1 001 - 10 000 3 292  24,42 13 770 226  3,15 

10 001 - 100 000 1 479  10,97 43 762 859  10,00 

100 001 - 1 000 000 280  2,08 76 889 293  17,57 

Over 1 000 000 78  0,58 301 767 978  68,96 

Total 13 482  100,00 437 607 408  100,00 

Distribution of shareholders
Number of 

shareholders
% of total 
holdings

Number of 
shares

% shares in 
issue

Collective investment schemes 154  1,14 170 031 761  38,85 

Retail shareholders 11 350  84,19 57 806 390  13,21 

Retirement benefit funds 166  1,23 54 546 007  12,46 

Organs of state 3  0,02 50 824 192  11,61 

Trusts 1 087  8,06 20 480 727  4,68 

Private companies 227  1,68 18 948 417  4,33 

Stockbrokers & nominees 38  0,28 18 933 822  4,33 

Custodians 38  0,28 14 903 025  3,41 

Assurance companies 26  0,19 10 744 855  2,46 

Foundations & charitable funds 110  0,82 7 118 906  1,63 

Hedge funds 9  0,07 6 368 778  1,46 

Medical aid funds 17  0,13 2 278 896  0,52 

Managed funds 26  0,19 1 809 769  0,41 

Close corporations 148  1,10 1 663 206  0,38 

Scrip lending 4  0,03 493 079  0,11 

Investment partnerships 61  0,45 415 085  0,09 

Public companies 8  0,06 128 082  0,03 

Public entities 1  0,01 76 056  0,02 

Insurance companies 1  0,01 36 144  0,01 

Unclaimed scrip 8  0,06 211  0,00 

Total 13 482  100,00 437 607 408  100,00 
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Shareholder type
Number of 

shareholders
% total 

shareholders
Number of 

shares
% of shares in 

issue

Non-public shareholders 7  0,04 17 995 001  4,11 

Directors and associates (direct holding) 5 11 767 950  2,69 

Directors and associates (indirect holding) 2 6 227 051  1,42 

Public shareholders 13 475  99,96 419 612 407  95,89 

Total 13 482  100,00 437 607 408  100,00 

Fund managers with a holding greater than 3% of the shares in issue
Number of 

shares
% of shares in 

issue

Public Investment Corporation 49 094 888  11,22 

Investec Asset Management 46 604 486  10,65 

Coronation Fund Managers 33 019 984  7,55 

Visio Capital Management 24 056 767  5,50 

Stanlib Asset Management 21 931 417  5,01 

Prudential Portfolio Management 17 909 670  4,09 

Sanlam Investment Management 17 238 603  3,94 

Foord Asset Management 16 732 542  3,82 

Grindrod Asset Management 15 037 293  3,44 

Total 241 625 650  55,22 

Beneficial shareholders with a holding greater than 3% of the shares in issue
Number of 

shares
% of shares in 

issue

Government Employees Pension Fund 42 973 587  9,82 

Investec 28 079 771  6,42 

Nedbank Group 25 789 609  5,89 

Coronation Fund Managers 22 375 736  5,11 

Stanlib 20 587 182  4,70 

Arrowhead Nominees Proprietary Limited 16 570 532  3,79 

Sanlam Group 13 500 011  3,09 

Total 169 876 428  38,82 
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Non-public breakdown

A SHARES B SHARES

Non-public shareholders Number Indirect holding Number Indirect holding

Directors and associates (indirect holding) 2  6 274 051 2 6 227 051

Directors and associates (direct holding) 3 10 702 246 5 11 767 950

Total 5 16 976 297 7 17 995 001

Directors and associates (indirect holding) Number Indirect holding Number Indirect holding

G. Leissner 2  6 274 051 2 6 227 051

Total 2 6 274 051 2 6 227 051

Directors and associates (direct holding) Number Direct holding Number Direct holding

G. Leissner - - 1 365 000

I. Suleman 1  5 451 036 1 5 451 036

M. Kaplan 1  5 205 210 1 5 790 914

M. Nell 1  46 000 1 91 000

S. Noik - - 1 70 000

Total 3 10 702 246 5 11 767 950
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Andrew Carnegie

No man will make 
a great leader who 

wants to do it all 
himself, or to get 
all the credit for 

doing it.

 /  21 
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MATTHEW NELL
Independent non-executive chairman
BSc (Building Science),  MSc (Town and Regional Planning)

Matthew (65) has over 30 years’ experience in urban and housing development and 

manages a development consultancy, Shisaka Development Management Services 

Proprietary Limited. On 19 June 2015, he replaced Taffy Adler as chairman of 

the Board.

GERALD LEISSNER
Executive director - CEO 
CA (SA)

Gerald (73) is a Chartered Accountant with  50 years’ experience in the property 

industry, both in South Africa and abroad. Gerald was CEO of ApexHi from its 

founding in 2001 until ApexHi was acquired by Redefine in 2009, after which he 

served as a non-executive director of Redefine. He retired from Redefine when 

Arrowhead was formed in 2011. Gerald has served as non-executive director of the 

Johannesburg Housing Company and the Housing Development Agency, and helped 

found the Central Johannesburg Partnership  in the 1980s. He is also currently the 

the CEO of Indluplace.

MARK KAPLAN
Executive director - COO 
BBusSc, Finance (Hons)

Mark (35) was previously managing director of Aengus Property Holdings, which 

controlled a portfolio of residential assets valued in excess of R300 million.  Mark 

was involved in various entrepreneurial ventures before joining Aengus in 2007. 

He is also currently an executive director of Indluplace.

The board
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TAFFY ADLER
Independent non-executive director
BA, BPhil in African Studies,  MSc in Building Science

Taffy (65) is the director of the Property Revitalisation Programme for the 

University of the Witwatersrand. He was previously CEO of the Housing 

Development Agency and the Johannesburg Housing Company. He is also the non-

executive chairman of Indluplace. On 19 June 2015, he stepped down as chairman of 

the Board of Arrowhead, but remains on the board as an independent non-executive 

director. Independent non-executive director Matthew Nell replaced Taffy Adler as 

chairman of the Board.

ELIZE STROEBEL 
Independent non-executive director
 B.Proc, Masters in Business Management

Elize (47), a lawyer, is CEO of the Johannesburg Housing Company. She has served 

as the country director for International Housing Solutions and before that was one 

of the founding trustees and CEO of the Gauteng Partnership Fund.

IMRAAN SULEMAN
Executive director - CFO
CA (SA), BCom (Hons) Acc

Imraan (43) is a Chartered Accountant. He joined Java Capital in 2005 from one 

of the big four audit firms for whom he had worked in both South Africa and the 

UK. Imraan advised clients on a wide range of transactions including listings, 

mergers and acquisitions, capital raisings and empowerment transactions. He is a 

non- executive director of the Johannesburg Housing Company and an executive 

director of Indluplace.

SELWYN NOIK
Independent non-executive director
CA (SA)

Selwyn (68) is a Chartered Accountant. After qualifying, he spent 11 years in a 

managerial position with a listed property company Pioneer Holdings & Finance 

Corporation Limited. He was an executive director of the listed trade finance 

company Reichmans Limited for 10 years and after its acquisition by Investec, he 

assumed the role of group secretary of Investec, a position he held for 13 years until 

his retirement in 2007. Thereafter, he filled a company secretarial and compliance 

role with Investec Property until the end of 2011. He is a non-executive director 

of Indluplace.
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Service providers

CIS COMPANY SECRETARIES

CIS Company Secretaries, which bought the business of Probity, provides company 

secretarial services to Arrowhead, and provides the Board as a whole with detailed 

guidance as to how their responsibilities should be properly discharged in the 

best interest of the company. The company secretary provides a central source of 

guidance and advice to the Board and within the company, on matters of ethics and 

good corporate governance.

COMPUTERSHARE

Computershare manages over two million shareholder accounts, providing share 

registry and custodial services, employee share plan management and investor 

relations for over 80% of the companies listed on the JSE. Computershare is a CSDP 

licensed under Strate.

COUZYNS INC.

Couzyns, a firm of attorneys in Johannesburg, provides legal services to a large 

corporate client base. Couzyns deals with Arrowhead’s conveyancing matters.

CLIFFE DEKKER HOFMEYR

Cliffe Dekker Hofmeyr is one of the largest business law firms in South Africa that 

specialise in services covering the complete spectrum of business legal needs in 

their core practice areas.

GRANT THORNTON

Grant Thornton Johannesburg Partnership is part of one of the world’s leading 

audit, tax and advisory firms which helps organisations unlock their potential 

for growth by providing meaningful, actionable advice through a broad range 

of services.
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JAVA CAPITAL

Java Capital provides a complete range of financial, commercial and legal advisory and transaction execution services. It is 

licensed as a sponsor of companies listed on the JSE and as a designated advisor to the JSE’s AltX Exchange.

JHI

JHI is an independent property services company delivering comprehensive service offerings to a wide client base.

LDM VALUATION SOLUTIONS

LDM Valuation Solutions is a property valuations company operating on a national basis that specialises in turnkey projects, with 

services ranging from property valuations for mortgage lending, to valuations and due diligence advice.

NEDBANK

Nedbank Corporate and Investment Banking is a division of Nedbank, a leading African bank that provides global markets, 

transactional, corporate and investment banking services to a diverse client base including leading corporations, financial 

institutions, state owned entities and governments in South Africa and the rest of Africa.

REAL INSIGHT

Real Insight is a real estate advisory services company with a focus on property valuation services in South Africa as well as 

throughout the rest of the African continent and the Indian Ocean Islands. Real Insight was established to provide its clients with 

professional, independent and accurate property valuations.

STANDARD BANK

The bank, with a 150 year history, currently operates in 18 countries on the African continent, including South Africa, as well as 

in other selected emerging markets. Standard Bank is the prime source of funds for Arrowhead’s acquisitions.
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The team

AREND DE KOCK
Accountant

Arend is responsible for the daily financial operations of Arrowhead under the 

guidance of the CFO, Imraan Suleman. Arend has a B-Compt accounting degree and 

4 years’ property experience.

NICHOLAS KAPLAN
National asset manager

Nicholas’s responsibility is to maximise the performance of the portfolio through 

ensuring efficiencies at national level, in debt management and lease negotiations 

to ensure income optimisation. Nicholas streamlines work and information flows 

between Arrowhead and its portfolio managers.

MAX MACHANIK
National asset manager

Max’s responsibility is to maximise the performance of the portfolio, specifically 

focused on the letting of vacancies nationally, lease negotiations and marketing 

management. 

VICKI TURNER
Legal advisor

Vicki has been appointed in a legal capacity to assist with Arrowhead’s acquisition 

and disposal of property assets, and to mitigate legal risk, as and when it arises.

KEVIN HASWELL
Senior financial manager

Kevin joined Arrowhead in May 2015. Kevin qualified as a CA(SA) in 2007 and 

has seven years of property experience in property development and property 

management.

RIAZ KADER
Asset manager

Riaz has a BCom degree and 11 years’ property experience in residential, retail, 

office and industrial property. He was previously a director of JHI, and has been 

involved with property management at Arrowhead from the company’s inception. 

His responsibilities include overseeing the performance of the portfolio, with 

particular focus on leveraging efficiencies at national level, debt management, lease 

negotiations, and ensuring income is optimised through the letting of vacancies.



ARROWHEAD PROPERTIES INTEGRATED FINANCIAL REPORT 2015

www.arrowheadproperties.co.za  /  27 

The past twelve months 
have been an active period 

for Arrowhead, with 
distributable income 

growing by 12,8% 
and market capitalisation 

reaching R8,4 billion 
at year-end.
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Executive 
directors’ 
report
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Financial performance
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2015

The year ended 30 September 2015 marks Arrowhead’s fourth year as a 

listed entity.

Arrowhead paid an annual distribution of 133,24 cents per combined A and B 

linked units for the year ended 30 September 2014, and forecasted a distribution of 

147,90 cents per combined A and B shares for the year ended 30 September 2015, 

growth of 11,0% year on year. The distribution per combined A and B shares of 

150,30 cents for the year ended 30 September 2015 represents growth of 12,8% 

on the prior year’s distribution.

On 19 June 2015 Arrowhead’s residential portfolio was listed on the JSE as a 

separate fund, known as Indluplace. Indluplace is the only focused residential REIT 

on the JSE which owns a substantial residential property portfolio (including limited 

ground floor retail exposure attached to certain apartment blocks) from which it 

will pay growing distributions to its shareholders. Previously, Arrowhead owned a 

100% shareholding in Indluplace and pursuant to the listing of Indluplace, it reduced 

its shareholding to 70%.

The Arrowhead A and B shares shared distributions equally from the first quarter 

of this financial year. This was achieved far quicker than the market expected. 

Both these shares will pay the same distributions going forward and it may make 

sense to combine the two share classes. This would increase the liquidity of the 

Arrowhead shares.
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R’000 2015 2014

Revenue (excluding straight line rental income)  1 217 913  712 239 

Listed securities income  19 115  65 788 

Operating costs  (411 883)  (245 511)

Administration costs  (31 130)  (26 708)

Finance charges  (219 679)  (115 007)

Interest received  32 650  13 998 

Transaction cost on business combination  -  6 409 

Non-controlling interest profits elimination  (16 688)  - 

Distributable income  590 298  411 208 

Antecedent interest  21 169  31 598 

Accrued distribution on listed securities  22 587  - 

Total distribution  634 054  442 806 

Distribution to the Arrowhead Charitable Trust*  11 749   12 015 

Total distribution after the effects of the Arrowhead Charitable Trust  645 803  454 821 

* Distribution to the Arrowhead Charitable Trust is added back as it is eliminated on consolidation.

Property expenses as a percentage of revenue 34% 35%

Distribution per combined units for the quarter ended 31 December  156 374  87 566 

Distribution per combined units for the quarter ended 31 March  157 681  99 983 

Distribution per combined shares for the quarter ended 30 June  165 457  129 179 

Distribution per combined shares for the quarter ended 30 September^  166 291  138 093 

Total distribution 645 803 454 821

Distribution per combined units for the quarter ended 31 December (cents) 37,09 30,20

Distribution per combined units for the quarter ended 31 March (cents) 37,40 32,38

Distribution per combined shares for the quarter ended 30 June (cents) 37,81 34,23

Distribution per combined shares for the quarter ended 30 September (cents)^ 38,00 36,43

Total distribution (cents) 150,30 133,24

^ The distribution was declared on 17 November 2015.

Net asset value per share (cents) - calculated on shares in issue net of the Arrowhead Charitable Trust. 870,22 687,04

Net asset value per share (cents) - calculated on gross shares in issue at year-end. 839,40 670,73

Net asset value per share (cents) - calculated on gross shares in issue at year-end net of undeclared distribution. 820,40 670,73
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R’000 2015 2014

Rental  929 712  548 572 

Recoveries  288 201  163 667 

Total  1 217 913  712 239 

Revenue includes rental income and expenditure that is recoverable from tenants.

The substantial increase in revenue is due to the full effect of the acquisitions concluded during the previous financial year, 

together with the partial impact of acquisitions concluded during the current financial year and annual escalations to existing 

leases. The acquisition of Vividend is the main driver of this as it was consolidated into Arrowhead’s results from July 2014. 

Prior to this, Vividend was an investment and income received from Vividend was in the form of distributions received on units 

held which was recognised as income from listed securities.

As at 30 September 2014, Arrowhead owned 159 commercial and 30 residential properties. At 30 September 2015, Arrowhead 

owned 157 commercial properties (by value retail 43%, offices 45% and industrial 12%) and 95 residential properties. The 

average monthly rentals per m² per sector are R101 for retail, R115 for offices and R44 for industrial. Vacancies within the 

commercial portfolio have increased to 7,3% (2014: 6,3%). Vacancies are down from 8,2% at 31 March 2015 to 7,3% at year-end 

(retail 5,19%, office 10,38% and industrial 5,66%). The vacancy within the residential portfolio was 3,0%. 

11% of the commercial portfolio by revenue and 24% of the office portfolio was let to government and parastatal tenants.

During the year 149 662m² of the GLA of the commercial portfolio expired of which 64,0% was renewed. Rental escalations of 

8,4% have been achieved on lease renewals across the commercial portfolio and the average lease profile across the portfolio has 

increased to 3,73 years.

LISTED SECURITIES INCOME

Listed securities income comprises income received on linked units held in Dipula. The reduction in listed securities income is 

as a result of Vividend having become a subsidiary. In prior years the company recognised anticipated distributions on linked 

units held in listed property loan stock companies. In this financial year, Arrowhead has recognised the anticipated dividends 

in the form of an adjustment in the distributable earnings reconciliation at year-end to match the anticipated income of the 

distribution to the period to which the distribution relates.

REVENUE



ARROWHEAD PROPERTIES INTEGRATED FINANCIAL REPORT 2015

www.arrowheadproperties.co.za  /  33 

R’000 2015 % of total 2014 % of total 

Municipal expenses  268 968 66  170 024 69

Property management  37 591 9  21 813 9

Security  20 177 5  10 119 4

Repairs and maintenance  17 665 4  3 992 2

Letting commission  7 854 2  4 895 2

Cleaning  12 502 3  5 025 2

Insurance  5 033 1  3 137 1

Other  42 093 10  25 506 10

Total  411 883 100  244 511 100

OPERATING COSTS

Municipal expenses have increased in line with the increased revenue. The gross cost to income ratio achieved has improved 

marginally from 35% to 34% with the bulk of the recoverable expenditure being recovered. 

R’000 2015 % of total 2014 % of total 

Salaries  18 465 59  10 885 41

Professional service fees  4 923 16  9 667 36

Other  7 742 25  6 156 23

Total  31 130 100  26 708 100

ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS

The largest contributor to administrative expenses was salaries, which have increased as a result of the additional staff 

complement in line with the enlarged portfolio. The decrease in professional fees was due to the once off costs incurred in the 

acquisition of Vividend in the prior financial year. 
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DEBENTURE INTEREST

During the year under review, Arrowhead’s REIT conversion process was successfully completed and the company’s linked 

units were delinked on the JSE. The new financial instruments were listed on the JSE on 19 July 2015 and traded as shares 

in the company. As a result, the debenture interest in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income only 

represents two quarterly distributions. The third quarter distribution was distributed as a dividend under the new REIT 

structure as ordinary shares and was accounted for under the statement of changes in equity.

INTEREST RECEIVED

R’000 2015 % of total 2014 % of total

Interest on group share purchase and option schemes  26 894  82  11 344  81 

Interest on cash balances and tenants  5 756  18  2 654  19 

Total  32 650  100  13 998  100 

Interest on the group share purchase and option schemes was in respect of interest charged on the loans granted to participants of 

both the Arrowhead Unit Purchase Trust and the Indluplace Share Purchase and Option Scheme. The loans incur interest at rates 

applicable to each scheme.

FINANCE CHARGES

R’000 2015 % of total 2014 % of total

Interest paid - secured financial liabilities  193 176  88  104 682  91 

Interest paid - interest rate swaps  23 688  11  9 044  8 

Amortisation of structuring fee and other interest paid  2 815  1  1 281  1 

Total  219 679  100  115 007  100 

Finance charges increased from R115,0 million to R219,7 million as the full effects of the secured financial liabilities of 

Vividend’s interest bearing borrowings came into effect in the current financial year. 
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R’000 2015 2014

Assets

Non-current assets  9 649 996  7 601 370 

Investment property  8 538 107  6 967 844 

Property, plant and equipment  284  310 

Loans to participants of group share purchase option schemes  433 886  142 950 

Goodwill  176 830  176 830 

Financial assets  482 420  290 727 

Derivative instruments  18 469  22 709 

Current assets  148 307  114 377 

Trade and other receivables  61 119  31 302 

Cash and cash equivalents  87 188  83 075 

Non current assets held for sale  108 200  47 500 

Total assets  9 906 503  7 763 247 

Equity and liabilities

Shareholders’ interest  7 346 536  828 693 

Non-current liabilities - debentures  -  4 256 279 

Shareholders’/linked unitholders’ interest  7 346 536  5 084 972 

Other non-current liabilities  2 426 048  2 373 910 

Secured financial liabilities  2 408 033  2 355 683 

Derivative instruments  18 015  18 227 

Current liabilities  133 919  304 365 

Trade and other payables  133 919  166 269 

Unitholders for distribution  -  138 096 

Total equity and liabilities  9 906 503  7 763 247 

EXTRACTS FROM THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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 Commercial portfolio Residential portfolio* Total

No. of 
buildings R’000

No. of 
buildings R’000

No. of 
buildings R’000

Balance at beginning of the year 159 6 495 394 30 519 950 189 7 015 344

Acquisitions and fair value adjustments 1 500 629 65 1 191 507 66 1 692 136

Disposals (3) (61 173) - - (3) (61 173)

Balance at the end of the year 157 6 934 850 95 1 711 457 252 8 646 307

*  The residential portfolio is a separately listed fund on the JSE. Arrowhead’s shareholding in Indluplace was 70,2% at 30 September 2015.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

The company owns a commercial portfolio of 157 retail, industrial and office properties, and 95 residential properties held 

indirectly through Indluplace, valued at R8,6 billion, represented amongst all of the provinces. The number of commercial 

properties has increased from 89 at listing in 2011 to 157 at present with the average value per property increasing from 

R17,0 million to R44,5 million.

Analysis of movement in investment property

Investment property has increased from R7,0 billion (30 September 2014) to R8,6 billion. The increase was attributable to fair 

value adjustments of R498,2 million, acquisitions and additions of R1,2 billion and disposals of R61,2 million. During the year 

under review, 57,9% of the property portfolio was valued externally with the balance being valued by the executive directors. 

Real Insight carried out the independent valuation.

Arrowhead made the following acquisitions and disposals during the year:

Property acquisitions

Property name Acquisition yield % Province Sector Transfer or effective date R

Matsulu Shopping Centre 10,5 Mpumalanga Retail 12 August 2015 60 500 000

Residential portfolio* Variable Various Residential Various 1 090 018 712

    1 150 518 712

* Arrowhead owns 70,2% of Indluplace.

Property disposals

Property name Province Sector Sold date R

Fabriek and Sterling Gauteng Industrial 15 May 2015 13 673 500

Premier Milling KwaZulu-Natal Industrial 25 November 2014 35 000 000

Emerson Gauteng Office 12 December 2014 12 500 000

    61 173 500
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Properties disposed and in the process of being transferred

Property name Province Sector R

Beyers Naude (Blackheath) Gauteng Office 27 200 000

Gradner Street (Roggebaai) Western Cape Office 51 000 000

Benoni Rynfield Shopping Centre Gauteng Retail 30 000 000

   108 200 000

The above assets have been disclosed as non-current assets held for sale.

Assuming a gearing ratio on the portfolio of 28% and an annual effective interest rate of 9% the total growth in distributable 

income would grow to 8,5%.

LOANS TO PARTICIPANTS OF GROUP SHARE PURCHASE OPTION SCHEMES

The loans to the participants of both the Arrowhead and Indluplace share option schemes increased from R143,0 million to 

R433,9 million. Loans of R303,2 million were advanced to participants of the loan purchase schemes. The recipients include the 

executive directors and staff of Arrowhead and Indluplace. The loans bear interest at the company’s effective rate of borrowings 

(in respect of Arrowhead) and bear interest at a rate equal to the distribution of the company (in respect of Indluplace) and are 

secured by a pledge of the shares.

Year ended
30 September 2015

Year ended
30 September 2014

Description R’000 R’000 Growth (%)

Revenue  525 082 494 829 6,1

Property expenses  (185 235)  (174 942) 5,9

Net operating income 339 847  319 887 6,2

Core portfolio
Net income growth on properties owned at 1 October 2013 and still owned at 30 September 2015 

DEFERRED TAXATION

There is no need to provide for deferred tax in a REIT.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables, deposits, other receivables and payments in advance increased from R31,3 million to R61,1 million. The 

balance outstanding has increased from the prior year as a result of the enlarged property portfolio. Bad debts amounting 

to R2,8 million have been written off during the year, whilst the provision for bad debt increased from R6,7 million to 

R6,9 million. The combined amounts are less than 1% of revenue.
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SECURED FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The loans of R2,4 billion (2014: R2,3 billion) measured against investment property of R8,6 billion (2014: R7,0 billion) 

represents a loan to value of 27,9% (2014: 33,6%). The interest rate swaps of R1,8 billion and the fixed rate loan of 

R387,0 million resulted in interest on R2,2 billion of the total R2,4 billion being fixed. This equates to 90,0% of the total 

borrowings. Excess funds are placed in an access facility to reduce the overall interest charge. The effective interest rate for 

the year ended 30 September 2015 was 8,96% (2014: 8,61%).

Capital 2015 Capital 2014

Maturity Fixed rate %  3 month Jibar margin % Prime rate margin % R’000 R’000

August 2017  -  - Minus 1,5  200 000  200 000 

March 2018  -  - Minus 1,4  162 880  150 000 

March 2018  -  2,1  -  280 000  280 000 

December 2018  -  1,8  -  -  300 000 

December 2018  -  1,8  -  300 000  - 

April 2019  -  1,8  -  270 000  270 000 

April 2019  -  2,1  -  60 000  60 000 

June 2019  -  - Minus 1,4  51 000  - 

August 2019  -  1,8  -  -  500 000 

August 2019  -  1,8  -  -  70 000 

November 2019  -  1,8  -  610 000  - 

March 2020  -  - Minus 1,3  -  49 754 

March 2020 9,4 - -  387 284  387 284 

March 2020  -  2,5  -  92 716  92 716 

Total exposure  2 413 880  2 359 754

(Excluding loan initiation fees and fair value adjustments on swaps).

Arrowhead has further entered into interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates of its debt as follows:

- an interest rate swap over R140 million until 15 August 2017;

- an interest rate swap over R35 million until 15 August 2017;

- an interest rate swap over R189 million until 31 May 2018;

- an interest rate swap over R73 million until 31 May 2018;

- an interest rate swap over R629 million until 31 March 2019;

- an interest rate swap over R113 million until 17 June 2019; and

- an interest rate swap over R595 million until 2 September 2019.
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 Total (m²) Let (m²) Vacant (m²) Let (%) Vacant (%)

At beginning of the year - 1 October 2014 868 301 813 953 54 348 94 6

Acquisitions 26 425 26 202 223   

Disposals (12 320) (8 376) (3 944)   

Net adjustments 4 369 5 632 (1 263)   

Adjusted totals 886 775 837 411 49 364 94 6

Net (loss)/gain - (15 124) 15 124   

At the end of the year - 30 September 2015 886 775  822 287 64 488 93 7

Property portfolio
SUMMARY

Property name Acquisition yield (%) Province Sector Transfer or effective date R

Matsulu Shopping Centre 10,5 Mpumalanga Retail 12 August 2015 60 500 000

Residential portfolio* Variable Various Residential Various 1 090 018 712

    1 150 518 712

* Arrowhead owns 70,2% of Indluplace.

Property name Province Sector Sold date R

Premier Milling KwaZulu-Natal Industrial 25 November 2014 35 000 000

Emerson Gauteng Office 12 December 2014 12 500 000

Fabriek and Sterling Gauteng Industrial 15 May 2015 13 673 500

    61 173 500

Property name Province Sector R

Beyers Naude (Blackheath) Gauteng Office 27 200 000

Gradner Street (Roggebaai) Western Cape Office 51 000 000

Benoni Rynfield Shopping Centre Gauteng Retail 30 000 000

   108 200 000

The above assets have been disclosed as non-current assets held for sale.

COMBINED 12 MONTH LETTING REPORT

The average annualised property yield for commercial properties was 10,52%.

The average annualised property yield for residential properties was 10,40%.

PROPERTY ACQUISITIONS

PROPERTY DISPOSALS

PROPERTIES DISPOSED AND IN THE PROCESS OF BEING TRANSFERRED
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TOP TEN PROPERTIES BY FAIR VALUE

Property name Province  R Vacant (m2) Vacant (%) GLA (m2) Address

Access Park* Western Cape 606 700 000 695 3 20 481 81 Chichester Road, 

Claremont

Cape Town Westgate 

Mall 

Western Cape 292 300 000 254 1 28 951 Morgenster and Vanguard 

Road, Weltervreden Valley, 

Mitchells Plain

Sasol Rosebank Gauteng 265 900 000 - - 13 350 1 Sturdee Avenue, 

Rosebank

Jhb Rosebank 

158 Offices 

Gauteng 230 000 000 2041 10 19 509 9 Walter Street, Rosebank

Midtown Mall North West 225 000 000 1 583 9 17 456 44 Loop Street, Rustenberg

Durban Receiver 

of Revenue 

KwaZulu-

Natal

200 000 000 - - 21 936 201 Dr. Pixley Kaseme 

Street, Durban 

Beka Olifantsfontein Gauteng 177 000 000 - - 20 338 Cnr Westview Road and 

Cor Solomon Street, 

Olifantsfontein

Montclair Mall KwaZulu-

Natal

141 800 000 1 840 15 12 652 169 Wood Road, Montclair 

Sasol Oil Randburg Gauteng 141 000 000 - - 13 347 Cnr. Hill and Kent Road, 

Ferndale, Randburg

Urban Brew Gauteng 140 000 000 - - 9 804 274 Kent Road, Ferndale

2 419 700 000 6 413 177 824

* 90% interest in the Access Park building.

Property portfolio
SUMMARY
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28%

34%

Property portfolio
SUMMARY
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37%

GEOGRAPHIC SPREAD (m2)
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Non-government revenue

Government revenue
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Property portfolio
SUMMARY
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Property portfolio
RETAIL

TOP TEN RETAIL PROPERTIES BY FAIR VALUE  

Property name Province R Vacant (m2) Vacant (%) GLA (m2)

Access Park* Western Cape 606 700 000 695 3 20 481

Cape Town Westgate Mall Western Cape 292 300 000 254 1 28 951

Midtown Mall North West 225 000 000 1 583 9 17 456

Montclair Mall KwaZulu-Natal 141 800 000 1 840 15 12 652

Transforum Centre North West 131 400 000 - - 4 777

King Williams Town Market Square Eastern Cape 94 400 000 - - 13 264

Taung Forum Northern Cape 85 600 000 491 5 10 231

Terminus Shopping Centre North West 80 300 000 1 080 9 11 377

Clearwater Crossing Gauteng 70 000 000 - - 10 092

Impala Centre North West 66 200 000 - - 3 604

1 793 700 000 5 943 132 885

* 90% interest in the Access Park Building.

Retail makes up 39% of the portfolio on a revenue basis and 34% in m2. Retail has performed extremely well and vacancies are 

5,2%. Gross rentals average R101/m2 and the average annual lease escalation is 8,48%.

RETAIL –  12 MONTH LETTING REPORT

Total (m2) Let (m2) Vacant (m2) Let (%) Vacant (%)

At beginning of the year - 1 October 2014  294 002   276 708    17 294  94 6

Acquisitions 6 087 5 864 223

Disposals - - -

Adjustments 1 105 1 105 -

Adjusted totals  301 194   283 677    17 517  94 6

Net gain/(loss) - 1 683 (1 683)

At the end of the year - 30 September 2015 301 194  285 360  15 834 95 5
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TOP TEN RETAIL LEASES BY REVENUE

Property name Province Tenant name Lease expiry date GLA (m2) R/m2 Monthly rental (R)

Cape Town Westgate 

Mall

Western 

Cape

Shoprite Checkers 

(Pty) Ltd

31/10/2021 4 811 101 483 934

Church Street 

(Pietermaritzburg)

KwaZulu-

Natal

Edcon Limited 31/05/2016 5 259 84 442 195

Access Park Western 

Cape

Footgear 30/04/2017 1 178 229 270 231

Terminus Shopping 

Centre

North West Shoprite Checkers 

(Pty) Ltd

30/04/2020 3 152 84 265 251

Cape Town Westgate 

Mall

Western 

Cape

Zone Fitness Mitchells 

Plain (Pty) Ltd

31/12/2027 3 285 70 229 963

Midtown Mall North West Woolworths (Pty) Ltd 31/03/2019 2 680 82 218 670

Midtown Mall North West Mr Price Group Limited 31/08/2017 1 429 153 218 596

Lowveld Lifestyle 

Centre

Mpumalanga Vital Distribution 

Solution (Pty) Ltd

31/07/2016 3 325 65 216 616

Lyndhurst Square Gauteng MHR Supermarket CC 

t/a Lyndhurst Super Spar

31/08/2021 2 346 92 215 199

Montclair Mall KwaZulu-

Natal

Pick n Pay Retailers 

(Pty) Ltd

29/02/2020 3 839 54 209 162

31 304 2 769 817

Property portfolio
RETAIL
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Property portfolio

OFFICE

TOP TEN OFFICE PROPERTIES BY FAIR VALUE 

Property name Province  R Vacant (m2) Vacant (%) GLA (m2)

Sasol Rosebank Gauteng 265 900 000 - - 13 350

Jhb Rosebank 158 Offices Gauteng 230 000 000 2 041 10 19 510

Durban Receiver of Revenue KwaZulu-Natal 200 000 000 - - 21 936

Sasol Oil Randburg Gauteng 141 000 000 - - 13 347

Urban Brew Gauteng 140 000 000 - - 9 804

Crownwood Office Park Gauteng 134 000 000 188 1 13 347

Bridge On Bond Gauteng 125 000 000 1 065 9 12 243

25 Owl Street Gauteng 116 000 000 357 2 14 928

Selby Building Gauteng 111 300 000 104 1 16 346

Lakeview Terrace KwaZulu-Natal 90 700 000 4 065 31 13 079

1 553 900 000 7 820 147 890

Office makes up 47% of the portfolio on a revenue basis and 38% in m2. Arrowhead’s office portfolio has perfomed well 

considering the difficult office conditions and vacancies are 10.38%. Gross rentals average R115/m2 and the average annual 

lease escalation is 8.58%.

OFFICE – 12 MONTH LETTING REPORT

Total (m2) Let (m2) Vacant (m2) Let (%) Vacant (%)

At beginning of the year - 1 October 2014  339 659  309 909  29 750 91 9

Acquisitions - - -

Disposals (1 884) - (1 884)

Adjustments 396 742 (346)

Adjusted totals  338 171  310 651  27 520 92 8

Net (loss)/gain - (7 147) 7 147

At the end of the year - 30 September 2015 338 171  303 504 34 667 90 10
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TOP TEN OFFICE LEASES BY REVENUE

Property name Province Tenant name Lease expiry date GLA (m2) R/m2 Monthly rental (R)

Sasol Rosebank Gauteng Sasol Group Services a 

Division of Sasol

31/12/2016 13 350 230 3 064 780

Durban Receiver of 

Revenue

KwaZulu-

Natal

South African Revenue 

Service

31/10/2018 21 936 83 1 816 099

Urban Brew Gauteng Urban Brew Studios 

(Pty) Ltd

31/08/2017 9 804 143 1 405 286

Selby Building Gauteng Integrated Processing 

Solutions (Pty) Ltd

31/10/2016 13 662 85 1 167 114

Sasol Oil Randburg Gauteng Sasol Group Services a 

Division of Sasol

30/06/2017 13 347 79 1 060 023

Crownwood Office 

Park

Gauteng The Gauteng Provincial 

Department of Education

30/09/2019 5 830 133 774 615

Bedfordview Gauteng Friedshelf 1477 (Pty) Ltd 31/03/2018 9 221 78 722 736

RCS Western 

Cape

RCS Cards (Pty) Ltd 30/06/2018 7 143 95 675 498

Jhb Rosebank 158 

Offices

Gauteng Sandown Motor Holdings 

(Pty) Ltd t/a Mercedes 

Benz

30/04/2016 4 211 128 537 753

Media Shop Gauteng The Mediashop (Pty) Ltd 30/04/2017 2 522 213 536 036

101 026 11 759 940

Property portfolio

OFFICE
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Property portfolio
INDUSTRIAL

TOP TEN INDUSTRIAL PROPERTIES BY FAIR VALUE 

Property name Province  R Vacant (m2) Vacant (%) GLA (m2)

Beka Olifantsfontein Gauteng 177 000 000 - - 20 338

MCG Gauteng 67 300 000 - - 16 000

Kwela Logistics Western Cape 55 500 000 - - 15 450

Access City Gauteng 44 062 000 - - 24 932

Simgold Gauteng 37 478 000 2 074 11 18 197

Waterworld Gauteng 31 858 000 - - 6 524

The Kit Group Gauteng 28 279 244 - - 6 278

Kolbenco Gauteng 26 522 000 - - 13 722

Diesel Road Gauteng 26 418 000 526 7 7 923

Virgin Active Benoni Gauteng 26 048 000 - - 3 154

520 465 244 2 600 132 518

Industrial properties makes up 14% of the portfolio on a revenue basis and 28% in m2. Vacancies are 6% and gross rentals are 

R44/m2 and the average annual lease escalation is 8%.

INDUSTRIAL – 12 MONTH LETTING REPORT

Total (m2) Let (m2) Vacant (m2) Let (%) Vacant (%)

At beginning of the year (1 October 2014)  234 639  227 337  7 302 97 3

Acquisitions  20 338  20 338 -

Disposals (10 436) (8 376) (2 060)

Adjustments 2 868 3 785 (917)

Adjusted totals  247 409  243 084  4 325 98 2

Net (loss)/gain - (9 660) 9 660

At the end of the year (30 September 2015) 247 409  233 424 13 985 94 6
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TOP TEN INDUSTRIAL LEASES BY REVENUE 

Property name Province Tenant name Lease expiry date GLA (m2) R/m2 Monthly rental (R)

Beka Olifantsfontein Gauteng Beka (Pty) Ltd 30/06/2020 15 722 74 1 161 458

MCG Gauteng Newshelf 1134 (Pty) Ltd 31/01/2029 16 000 33 527 040

Kwela Logistics Western 

Cape

Kwela Logistics (Pty) Ltd 30/04/2017 15 450 33 504 447

Beka Candela Gauteng ASG 28/02/2017 4 616 74 342 206

Kolbenco Gauteng Kolbenco 30/09/2015 13 722 23 312 222

Waterworld Gauteng East Rand Power Sports 

(Pty) Ltd

31/08/2020 6 524 43 280 553

The Kit Group Gauteng The Kit Group (1275) 30/03/2018 6 278 42 266 200

McCarthy Centre - 

Turffontein

Gauteng McCarthy Limited 31/10/2018 5 935 39 233 403

Virgin Active Benoni Gauteng Virgin Active S.A 

(Pty) Ltd

28/02/2021 3 154 71 224 204

Transwire Gauteng Transwire A Division of 

ACTOM (Pty) Ltd

30/04/2023 6 500 28 180 894

93 901 4 032 627

Property portfolio
INDUSTRIAL
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PROPERTY SCHEDULE - RETAIL

No. Property name Province
Purchase 

date GLA (m2) Value (R)
Vacant 

(m2)
Vacant 

(%)
Rental 
(R/m2)

1 105 Landdros Mare Str. Limpopo Sep-11 571 5 578 000 13 2 130

2 106 Landdros Mare Str. Limpopo Sep-11 1 200 11 338 000 - - 92

3 38 Prospecton Road KwaZulu-Natal Sep-11 1 528 15 858 000 65 4 112

4 4 Weightman Avenue KwaZulu-Natal Sep-11 4 171 33 267 000 166 4 68

5 Absa Gezina Gauteng Aug-13 2 053 21 752 000 - - 106

6 Absa Heidelberg Gauteng Aug-13 777 8 511 000 - - 112

7 Absa Nigel Gauteng Aug-13 961 8 840 000 - - 82

8 Access Park Western Cape Apr-14 20 481 606 700 000 695 3 292

9 Benoni Rynfield Shopping Ctr. Gauteng Apr-14 3 880 30 000 000 - - 62

10 Westgate Mall Western Cape Apr-14 28 951 292 300 000 254 1 95

11 Citizens Building Kimberley Northern Cape Sep-11 840 5 795 000 - - 80

12 Citizens Cape Town Western Cape Sep-11 1 480 14 835 000 - - 83

13 Clearwater Crossing Gauteng Apr-14 10 092 70 000 000 - - 77

14 Dikai Shopping Centre Mpumalanga Sep-11 2 923 20 320 000 138 5 75

15 Ellerines Dundee KwaZulu-Natal Sep-11 3 518 17 898 000 - - 57

16 Ellerines Thohoyandou Limpopo Sep-11 829 6 118 000 - - 76

17 Greytown Shopping Centre KwaZulu-Natal Sep-11 5 373 21 375 000 1 070 20 41

18 Groblersdal Fruit and Veg City Mpumalanga Sep-11 3 980 14 233 000 - - 38

19 Impala Centre North West Jun-13 3 604 66 200 000 - - 189

20 Karoo Junction Western Cape Apr-14 6 899 34 684 000 633 9 63

21 Kathu Shopping Centre Northern Cape Sep-11 5 088 46 689 000 - - 92

22 King Williams Town Market Sq Eastern Cape Apr-14 13 264 94 400 000 - - 81

23 Klein Brothers Northern Cape Sep-11 915 3 522 000 - - 54

24 Lowveld Lifestyle Centre Mpumalanga Sep-11 11 170 55 200 000 - - 56

25 Lyndhurst Square Gauteng Feb-14 6 352 64 100 000 433 7 89

26 Matsulu Shopping Centre Mpumalanga Aug-15 6 087 60 929 345 223 4 100

27 Melville Properties Gauteng Sep-11 1 094 13 223 000 159 15 111

28 Midtown Mall North West Aug-12 17 456 225 000 000 1 583 9 117

29 Mkuze Plaza KwaZulu-Natal Sep-11 8 535 56 700 000 1 199 14 61

30 Montclair Mall KwaZulu-Natal Apr-14 12 652 141 800 000 1 840 15 101

31 Nelspruit Centre Mpumalanga Sep-11 1 060 14 600 000 - - 149

32 Nelspruit Ellerines Mpumalanga Sep-11 1 147 11 027 000 - - 60

33 Odendaalsrus Shopping Ctr. Free State Apr-14 3 683 26 977 000 - - 76

34 OK Klerksdorp North West Sep-11 7 931 23 890 000 1 300 16 22

Property schedule
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No. Property name Province
Purchase 

date GLA (m2) Value (R)
Vacant 

(m2)
Vacant 

(%)
Rental 
(R/m2)

35 Oudehuis Centre Western Cape Sep-11 4 182 26 574 000 765 18 77

36 Eersterust Shopping Ctr. Gauteng Apr-14 7 910 36 554 000 463 6 55

37 Ronsyn Building Western Cape Sep-11 2 391 30 343 000 - - 122

38 Rosettenville Junction Gauteng Apr-14 14 198 55 639 000 1 544 11 56

39 Royal Palm KwaZulu-Natal Sep-11 893 14 980 000 - - 172

40 Sanlam Centre Vryburg Northern Cape Sep-11 1 905 19 368 000 323 17 103

41 Shoprite Boksburg Gauteng Sep-11 3 034 21 986 000 370 12 61

42 Sibasa Centre Limpopo Sep-11 4 102 41 091 000 - - 97

43 Simunye Shopping Ctr. Mpumalanga Sep-11 6 538 38 015 000 679 10 60

44 Sterkspruit Eastern Cape Sep-12 6 733 59 300 000 348 5 87

45 Taung Forum Northern Cape Sep-11 10 231 85 600 000 491 5 83

46 Terminus Shopping Ctr. North West Jul-12 11 377 80 300 000 1 080 9 63

47 The Pond Shopping Ctr. Gauteng Sep-11 5 501 32 134 000 - - 58

48 Thohoyandou Centre Limpopo Sep-11 4 006 30 402 000 - - 81

49 Thohoyandou Shopping Ctr. Limpopo Sep-11 4 359 26 405 000 - - 69

50 Town Centre Boksburg Gauteng Sep-11 6 883 23 763 000 - - 38

51 Town Talk Nelspruit Mpumalanga Sep-11 1 082 5 559 000 - - -

52 Transforum Centre North West Jan-13 4 777 131 400 000 - - 282

53 Truworths Corner Western Cape Sep-11 520 10 866 000 - - 193

54 Tsolo Eastern Cape Sep-12 4 097 33 451 000 - - 75

305 265 2 947 389 345 15 834

PROPERTY SCHEDULE - RETAIL

Year Number of retail buildings Average size of retail buildings (m2)

2015 54 5 653

2014 53 5 624

2013 42 4 060

2012 37 4 277
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PROPERTY SCHEDULE - OFFICE

No. Property name Province
Purchase 

date GLA (m2) Value (R)
Vacant 

(m2)
Vacant 

(%)
Rental 
(R/m2)

1 101 Dorp Sreet GVT Limpopo Sep-11 5 093 46 147 000 909 18 91

2 115 Paul Kruger Gauteng Aug-12 4 080 47 800 000 - - 131

3 127 Bethlehem Street North West Sep-11 6 997 51 225 000 38 - 88

4 135 Pietermaritz Street KwaZulu-Natal Sep-11 2 198 22 188 000 - - 118

5 151/155 Juniper Road KwaZulu-Natal Sep-11 1 561 14 117 000 244 16 100

6 158 Jan Smuts Gauteng Apr-14 19 510 230 000 000 2 041 10 103

7 25 Owl Street Gauteng Apr-14 14 928 116 000 000 357 2 89

8 Absa Cash Centre KwaZulu-Natal Aug-12 2 359 37 145 000 - - 154

9 ABSA Randburg Gauteng Sep-11 1 533 4 971 000 - - 40

10 Bedford Gauteng Apr-14 9 221 80 200 000 - - 87

11 Beyers Naude Gauteng Apr-14 3 081 27 200 000 3 081 100 -

12 Bridge On Bond Gauteng Jan-13 12 243 125 000 000 1 065 9 101

13 Business Centre Gauteng Apr-12 2 926 32 054 000 - - 135

14 Church Street Pmb. KwaZulu-Natal Apr-14 5 259 44 937 000 - - 95

15 Crownwood Office Park Gauteng Jan-13 13 347 134 000 000 188 1 110

16 Dept Of Forestry & Water Eastern Cape Sep-11 3 790 35 295 000 - - 98

17 Durban Receiver of Revenue KwaZulu-Natal Apr-14 21 936 200 000 000 - - 88

18 Edufin PE Eastern Cape Sep-11 3 500 24 907 000 3 500 100 -

19 Empire Place Limpopo Sep-11 1 066 9 108 000 - - 99

20 F B Motors Limpopo Sep-11 4 217 21 603 000 - - 56

21 Fidelity Centre Eastern Cape Sep-11 7 557 55 400 000 2 209 29 75

22 Kimberley Building Northern Cape Sep-11 1 305 1 933 000 - - 38

23 Kimberley Printing Northern Cape Sep-11 1 193 1 056 000 - - 13

24 La Rocca Gauteng Aug-12 2 935 25 979 000 61 20 108

25 Lakeview Terrace KwaZulu-Natal Sep-11 13 079 90 700 000 4 065 31 83

26 Longmarket Str. Standard Bank KwaZulu-Natal Sep-11 3 890 27 554 000 1 974 5 65

27 Lynwood Botco Place Gauteng Oct-13 493 7 850 000 - - 153

28 Lynwood The Atrium Gauteng Oct-13 5 037 65 800 000 2 666 52 80

29 Lynwood Wapadrant Gauteng Oct-13 1 304 16 769 000 - - 125

30 Mae West Building Limpopo Sep-11 2 922 34 384 000 - - 124

31 Media Shop Gauteng May-13 2 522 49 300 000 - - 229

32 Middelburg SAP Mpumalanga Sep-11 3 400 15 474 000 1 660 49 27

33 Motswedi House Gauteng Sep-11 1 630 18 289 000 - - 125

34 Nedbank Kimberley Northern Cape Sep-11 1 252 13 779 000 489 39 91
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No. Property name Province
Purchase 

date GLA (m2) Value (R)
Vacant 

(m2)
Vacant 

(%)
Rental 
(R/m2)

35 North-End Eastern Cape Sep-11 7 018 47 600 000 - - 80

36 Nu-Payment Gauteng Aug-12 1 408 21 557 000 - - 149

37 Oakhill Gauteng Aug-12 1 361 15 823 000 - - 145

38 Parc Du-Bel Western Cape Sep-11 2 299 12 655 000 - - 61

39 Pentagraph Building Gauteng Sep-11 2 895 26 154 000 - - 94

40 Perm-Smith Street KwaZulu-Natal Sep-11 10 177 57 000 000 3 309 32 61

41 Perm Building Pmb. KwaZulu-Natal Sep-11 2 726 12 513 000 758 28 47

42 Perm Kimberley Northern Cape Sep-11 4 967 24 990 000 1 094 22 60

43 Philippi Court Western Cape Sep-11 1 357 15 082 000 - - 140

44 Provence House Mpumalanga Apr-14 5 866 43 250 000 711 12 89

45 RCS Western Cape Mar-14 7 143 75 000 000 - - 111

46 Rivonia Boulevard Gauteng Sep-11 3 708 20 276 000 185 5 71

47 Roggebaai Western Cape Apr-14 4 901 51 000 000 - - 115

48 SAPS-Mitchell's Plain Western Cape Sep-11 3 416 13 718 000 - - 44

49 SAPS Worcester Western Cape Sep-11 3 848 29 080 000 - - 74

50 Sasol Gas Gauteng Apr-14 2 526 22 455 000 - - -

51 Sasol Head Office Gauteng Feb-14 13 347 141 000 000 - - 108

52 Sasol Rosebank Gauteng Apr-14 13 350 265 900 000 - - 274

53 Selby Building Gauteng Dec-12 16 346 111 300 000 104 1 82

54 Sivewright Gauteng Jul-14 4 744 26 855 000 700 15 141

55 Standard Bank Blackheath Gauteng Sep-11 2 880 20 592 000 190 7 88

56 The Arches Eastern Cape Sep-11 2 707 22 228 000 122 4 96

57 The District Gauteng Dec-12 3 888 41 450 000 - - 125

58 The main change Gauteng Jun-14 5 268 46 430 000 1 016 19 244

59 Tyrwitt Avenue Gauteng Apr-14 1 497 36 000 000 - - 441

60 Urban Brew Gauteng Jan-14 9 804 140 000 000 - - 147

61 Vusani House Mpumalanga Apr-14 4 632 13 849 000 1 932 42 45

62 Wilcon House Northern Cape May-13 2 659 34 952 000 - - 140

334 100 3 116 873 000 34 667

PROPERTY SCHEDULE - OFFICE

Year Number of office buildings Average size of office buildings (m2)

2015 62 5 389

2014 61 5 501

2013 44 4 264

2012 44 3168
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PROPERTY SCHEDULE - INDUSTRIAL

No. Property name Province
Purchase 

date GLA (m2) Value (R)
Vacant 

(m2)
Vacant 

(%)
Rental 
(R/m2)

1 16/18 Forge Road Gauteng Sep-11 3 166 9 118 000 - - 32

2 21 Dartfield Omlap Gauteng Sep-11 1 016 5 392 000 - - 53

3 249 Commissioner Gauteng Jun-14 1 121 3 758 000 - - 100

4 38 Derrick Road Gauteng Sep-11 3 846 14 587 000 - - 43

5 46 Steel Road Gauteng Sep-11 3 790 15 047 000 - - 39

6 9 Montague Drive Western Cape Sep-11 2 649 16 492 000 - - 63

7 Access City Gauteng Jun-14 24 932 44 062 000 - - 40

8 Beka Bloemfontein Free State Apr-14 400 1 801 000 - - 63

9 Beka Durban KwaZulu-Natal Apr-14 490 3 233 000 - - 86

10 Beka Olifantsfontein Gauteng Dec-13 20 338 177 000 000 - - 77

11 CMH Spartan Gauteng Sep-11 2 467 8 532 000 - - 38

12 Corpgro Welkom Free State Sep-11 4 401 1 574 000 - - 10

13 Creston Gauteng Sep-11 6 546 24 252 000 - - 41

14 Danico Gauteng Sep-11 600 2 702 699 - - 107

15 Diesel Road Gauteng Sep-11 7 923 26 418 000 526 7 36

16 Federal Mogul Mpumalanga Sep-11 900 3 518 000 - - 45

17 Gearmatic Gauteng Sep-11 1 124 5 063 057 - - 73

18 Herfred Pietersburg Limpopo Sep-11 2 250 8 460 000 - - 38

19 Hi Tech Mini Factories Gauteng Sep-11 2 719 13 622 000 182 7 60

20 Jet Industrial Park Gauteng Sep-11 10 209 16 766 000 - - 21

21 JM Investments Gauteng Sep-11 2 700 10 260 000 - - 39

22 Kimberly Clark Gauteng Sep-11 6 817 20 072 000 1 897 28 56

23 Kolbenco Gauteng May-13 13 722 26 522 000 - - 23

24 Kwela Logistics Western Cape Oct-12 15 450 55 500 000 - - 35

25 Lea Glen Gauteng Aug-13 3 411 11 371 000 - - 34

26 Maverik Gauteng Jun-14 2 142 10 132 000 1 697 79 133

27 McCarthy Centre -Turffontein Gauteng Sep-11 5 935 25 983 000 - - 41

28 MCG Gauteng Jan-14 16 000 67 300 000 - - 35

29 Metcash Welkom Free State Sep-11 6 812 11 565 000 - - 22

30 Parmac Gauteng Jun-14 4 155 7 951 000 45 1 40

31 Plantation Road 18 Gauteng Sep-11 3 954 14 431 000 - - 40

32 Plantation Road 20 Gauteng Sep-11 4 209 17 135 000 - - 42
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Year Number of industrial  buildings Average size of industrial buildings (m2)

2015 40 6 185

2014 41 5 723

2013 28 5 567

2012 26 5 072

33 Propstars Gauteng Jun-14 6 624 17 005 000 - - 64

34 Simgold Gauteng May-14 18 197 37 478 000 2 074 11 21

35 Star Foods KwaZulu-Natal Sep-11 3 114 14 281 000 614 20 39

36 Tarry's Head Office Gauteng Sep-11 10 824 15 959 000 6 950 64 7

37 The Kit Group Gauteng Jun-14 6 278 28 279 244 - - 102

38 Transwire Gauteng Sep-11 6 500 17 979 000 - - 32

39 Virgin Active Benoni Gauteng Sep-11 3 154 26 048 000 - - 78

40 Waterworld Gauteng May-13 6 524 31 858 000 - - 45

247 410 868 507 000 13 985

No. Property name Province
Purchase 

date GLA (m2) Value (R)
Vacant 

(m2)
Vacant 

(%)
Rental 
(R/m2)

PROPERTY SCHEDULE - INDUSTRIAL
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Indluplace

In June 2015 Arrowhead listed  its 

wholly owned subsidiary Indluplace 

(formerly Arrowhead Residential) on 

the JSE. After raising R400,0 million to 

repay debt, the newly listed company 

owned a debt free residential portfolio 

valued at R1,6 billion. After the issue of 

Indluplace shares to its executive team,  

Arrowhead owns 70% of Indluplace.

At 30 September 2015 Indluplace 

owned 3 690 residential units located 

in Gauteng and Mpumalanga valued at 

R1,7 billion.

It is the intention of Indluplace 

to grow its portfolio significantly 

with revenue enhancing residential 

assets to be acquired countrywide, 

to be let to occupants at varying 

income levels. Arrowhead, through 

its major shareholding, will benefit 

from increasing distributions 

from Indluplace.
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Dipula

In 2014 Arrowhead acquired a 24,5% interest in Dupula’s B linked units. Arrowhead 

issued 3,2 million A and B shares this year to acquire additional Dipula B shares. 

Arrowhead owns 44,7 million Dipula B shares representing approximately 11% of 

the ownership of Dipula. The acquisitions were made with the objective of being 

able to acquire all or part of the entire property portfolio. 

Dipula is a REIT carrying on business as a long-term investor in real estate in South 

Africa for the benefit of its shareholders. Asset management is performed by an 

external asset manager which is 100% black owned and managed. Furthermore, 

Dipula’s management has a sizeable stake in the fund, thus aligning the interest of 

management with that of shareholders.

In its unaudited consolidated interim results for the six months ended 

28 February 2015, Dipula reflected a property portfolio of R4,8 billion and debt of 

R2,3 billion. The distribution on the Dipula B share was 35,35 cents per share.

In August 2015 Dipula announced the acquisition of an 80% interest in a 

R860,0 million retail and industrial portfolio of assets.
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Risk, 
sustainability, 
environment 
and social 
investment
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Risk Level Mitigating factor

Interest rates

Upward movement in interest rates would 

reduce distributions.

Low 90% of borrowings are hedged through fixed rate loans and interest 

rate swaps. The cost of borrowings is monitored closely and where 

appropriate, borrowings are restructured. As part of the treasury 

function the company also deposits excess funds into its access 

facilities.

Liquidity

Insufficient liquidity. Low A bridging finance facility of R100 million is in place which has not 

been utilised. Regular cash forecasts are prepared and monitored. 

Maturity of loans is managed.

Investments

Properties are acquired which do not fit 

investment criteria.

Low The investment committee approves all investments acquired after 

a detailed due diligence is performed. All decisions made by the 

investment committee must be unanimous. No property should 

represent more than 10% of the value of the company’s portfolio 

unless the investment proposition is such that the acquisition is 

merited.

Property damage or destruction

Damage to properties by fire or other 

causes could result in a loss of income. 

Properties acquired are not insured.

Low All properties are insured at replacement value and for loss of income. 

The policy provides a window in which to cover new acquisitions.

Vacancies

Substantial loss of revenue resulting in a 

decrease in distributions.

Low Wide spread of tenants and properties from a geographic and sector 

perspective. Tenants are contacted timeously to negotiate lease 

renewals. Active marketing policies and incentives are pursued for 

vacant premises.

Concentration of lease expiries

Could result in a loss in rental revenue, 

with premises being let at below market 

rentals and increased holding costs.

Low Lease expiries are well spread. Management regularly monitors lease 

expiries. Ongoing efforts are made to lengthen lease periods.

Regulatory and compliance

Possible non-compliance with regulatory 

requirements could result in reputational 

damage and financial loss.

Low Adequate insurance is in place to cover key insurance risks. 

Board members endeavour to ensure compliance with the highest 

professional standards. There is ongoing consultation with 

professional advisors to ensure compliance.
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Human resources

Loss of key staff members. Loss of 

executives.

Low Staff members’ packages are competitive and they receive 

performance bonuses and incentives. The CEO is on a three year 

contract that runs to 30 September 2017. The CFO and COO are on 

five year contracts which run to 30 September 2019.

Bad debts

Negative impact on distributions. Low Vigilant credit control by the property managers. All new tenants 

are vetted prior to leases being signed. Management monitors 

arrears regularly.

Operational risk

Loss of earnings due to poor processes and 

controls.

Low Monthly management meetings are held with property managers to 

discuss the performance of the portfolio. There is regular feedback 

from the internal audit of the property manager and adoption and 

monitoring by management of appropriate risk management practices.

IT

Unauthorised users gain access to 

the systems, failure of the systems or 

information is compromised.

Low Each Arrowhead team member has a laptop which is backed up 

regularly. Reliance is placed on JHI for disaster recovery and most IT 

processes. JHI audits its IT systems and is ISO compliant.

Hijacking of company

The company being hijacked for 

fraudulent purposes.

Low Company secretary makes regular checks of the details recorded 

by CIPRO.

Business continuity

Loss of company data. Moderate A disaster recovery plan is in place which is tested once a year.

Fraud and errors

Errors are made or fraud committed either 

by an employee of the company or its 

property manager.

Moderate Internal controls, schedules of payments and cash balances are tested 

and reviewed regularly.

Municipal and other services

Material increase in electricity and other 

municipal costs which could result in 

under recovery.

Moderate Lease agreements include clauses that allow the company to recover 

these costs.

Risk Level Mitigating factor

The directors of the company have accountability to shareholders and an obligation to all stakeholders (including shareholders), 

to ensure that the company’s resources are utilised to ensure its continuing viability.
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Sustainability

Arrowhead’s prime focus is on sustaining and growing the income distributions per share payable to shareholders. To achieve 

this, all property acquisitions must be revenue enhancing, in that the yield at which a property is acquired must exceed the cost 

of capital.

The key focus is to increase the net income of each property by renewing leases that have expired, letting vacant space, 

controlling and where possible reducing property operating costs and most importantly, keeping borrowing costs at the lowest 

level possible while at the same time fixing interest rates to avoid additional costs of borrowing should interest rates increase.

Effective financial controls are in place both at Arrowhead and its service providers to ensure the correct recording as well as 

the integrity of all income and expenditure generated by the portfolio of properties.

The mechanism to manage risk of any property or major tenant negatively effecting the payment of shareholder returns is the 

size and spread of the portfolio of properties in terms of number of properties and of tenants across all sectors throughout 

the country.

There will always be a strong focus on the highest standards of corporate governance.

The Arrowhead model provides for effective stakeholder relations by way of regular communication through SENS 

announcements, press releases or presentations delivered by the executive directors. Several meetings with key stakeholders 

were held during the year including interim and year-end financial reviews. The company issues its intergrated annual report 

timeously in keeping with its knowledge that an excellent reputation, its ethics and actions are important for creating and 

sustaining value.

Environment

Arrowhead recognises the link between its strategy, governance and financial performance and the social, environmental and 

economic context within which it operates. 

In all buildings acquired, equipment is or will be installed to ensure that electricity, water, refuse and domestic effluent are 

managed to provide cost effective as well as customer friendly solutions. Arrowhead is constantly assessing its position and 

seeking ways of becoming more efficient by decreasing its energy and water consumption.

Arrowhead continuously considers health and safety and has outsourced the implementation of appropriate measures to various 

property managers.

Best practices

The audit and risk committee has adopted and implemented a risk management policy, which is in accordance with industry 

practice and which specifically prohibits Arrowhead from entering into any derivative transactions that are not in the normal 

course of its business.

The audit and risk committee has monitored compliance with the policy and is satisfied that Arrowhead has, in all material 

respects, complied with the policy during the year.

The Board has monitored compliance with the policy in all material respects with the policy during the year.
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Social investment 

The Arrowhead Charitable Trust was 

established for purposes of enhancing 

welfare and educational institutions where 

the company has a presence. The trust has 

unencumbered assets of around R10 million 

and its trustees will make donations to 

education and welfare institutions during the 

2016 year. During the 2015 year the Trust deed 

was modified to bring it in line with changes in 

welfare and taxation legislation.

In June 2015, the trust acquired 15,5 million 

Arrowhead A and 15,5 million Arrowhead B 

shares at a cost of R309,0 million. The purchase 

was financed with a loan from Arrowhead with 

the distribution received on these shares being 

the same as the interest payable on the loan. 

The trustees will over time dispose of shares to 

create additional capital for the trust.

The company itself awarded three bursaries for 

tertiary study to students from disadvantaged 

backgrounds. This programme will continue 

with the awarding of additional bursaries in the 

2016 year.

Arrowhead, through its subsidiary Indluplace, 

has positioned itself as an exit for residential 

developers and believes this will contribute in 

assisting in alleviating the substantial housing 

shortage experienced in South Africa.

The company has the respect of human rights 

as one of its core values.
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During the 2016 financial year the 

company intends to transfer 101 

properties valued at R1,9 billion to a 

separate subsidiary. It proposes to list 

the subsidiary on the JSE in or about 

March 2016. After this transaction, 

Arrowhead (excluding its subsidiaries) 

will own 56 properties (562 993m2) 

valued at R5,5 billion with a vacancy 

of 5,0% and an average property value 

of R97,0 million. The average length 

of leases will be just under 4 years 

and 9,0% will be let to Government. 

The new company will have its own 

dedicated and incentivised management 

team, who will focus on growing 

the portfolio in the company on an 

accretive basis with properties valued 

at under R50,0 million per property. 

There are significant opportunities in 

this market.

Prospects for the year ending 30 September 2016
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Commercial property portfolio

The company expects the net property income of its core portfolio to grow at a rate 

of 8,5%. With gearing at the current level and interest rates fixed, as they are, the 

net property income of its core portfolio should grow at between 6,2% and 8,5%. 

Adding additional revenue from acquisitions in the 2015/2016 year, the commercial 

portfolio should reflect growing distributions of 8,0% to 10,0%.

Indluplace

From a fast growing portfolio of residential properties being acquired at margins 

in excess of Indluplace’s cost of borrowings, the contribution to distribution per 

Arrowhead shares from Indluplace should be in excess of 12,0%.

Dipula

Based on information available from Dipula, earnings per Dipula B share should 

grow by 10,0% in 2016.

Projected 2016 distribution per combined share

The forecast excludes the effects of any acquisitions (excluding Cleary Park) that 

will be made during the year as well as the letting of any vacant space. It also 

assumes that all leases expiring during the year will be renewed other than when 

the company has information to the contrary. For the 2016 financial year the 

company is projected to produce distribution growth of between 8,0% and 10,0% 

per combined A and B shares. The projections have not been reviewed or reported 

on by Grant Thornton Johannesburg Partnership.
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Arrowhead’s Board 
considers sound 
corporate governance 
practices to be a 
critical element in 
delivering sustainable 
growth for the benefit 
of all stakeholders. 
In conducting the 
affairs of the company, 
the Board endorses 
the principles of 
fairness, responsibility, 
transparency and 
accountability advocated 
by King III.
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In regularly reviewing the company’s governance structures, the Board exercises 

and ensures effective and ethical leadership, always acting in the best interests 

of the company, at the same time concerning itself with the sustainability of the 

company’s business operations. 

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the strategic direction and control of the company. 

It exercises control through a governance framework that includes the review and 

implementation of detailed reporting presented to it and its sub-committees and the 

implementation of a continuously updated risk management programme.

The role of the chairman and the CEO are separate and the CEO is fully responsible 

and accountable for the operations of the company.

The chairman leads the Board and facilitates constructive relations between the 

executives and the Board. 

The Board comprises of seven directors of whom four are independent 

non-executive directors. The executive directors are G. Leissner, the CEO, 

M. Kaplan, the COO and I. Suleman, the CFO.

The Board has adopted a charter that sets out the practices and processes it follows 

to discharge its responsibilities. The charter specifically sets a description of roles, 

functions, responsibilities and powers of the Board, the shareholders, the chairman, 

individual directors, company secretary, and other prescribed officers and 

executives of the company.

The terms of reference of the Board and its committees deal with such matters as 

corporate governance, directors’ dealings in securities, declarations of conflicts 

of interest, Board meeting documentation and procedures for the nomination, 

appointment, induction, training and evaluation of the directors.

There is an appropriate balance of power and authority on the Board so that no 

individual has unfettered powers of decision-making and no individual dominates 

the Board’s deliberations and decisions. The Board regularly reviews the decision-

making authority given to management as well as those matters reserved for 

decision-making by the Board.

Corporate governance
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Board appointments are considered by the Board as a whole in accordance with 

the company’s policy for appointments to the Board. Appointments are made in a 

formal and transparent manner.

Any director appointed during the year is required to have the appointment 

confirmed by shareholders at the next annual general meeting. One third of non-

executive directors retire on a rotation basis and may also make themselves available 

for re-election.

For details of directors making themselves available for re-election at the 

forthcoming annual general meeting, see page 154 of this report.

The Board has delegated certain specific responsibilities to the 

following committees:

• Remuneration and nomination committee;

• Audit and risk committee;

• Investment committee; and

• Social and ethics committee.

The committees assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities and duties under 

King III, whilst overall responsibility remains with the Board. Full transparency 

and disclosure of committee deliberations is encouraged and the minutes of all 

committee meetings are available to all directors.

Directors are encouraged to take independent advice at the cost of the company for 

the proper execution of their duties and responsibilities. The Board has unrestricted 

access to the external auditors, professional advisors, the services of the company 

secretary, the executives and the staff of the company at any given time. An 

induction programme is provided for new directors.

A detailed assessment of all Board members, including the chairman, was 

undertaken during the year under review. Board members were assessed on 

their interaction with the CEO and executives, their attendance, preparation and 

participation at meetings, their understanding of property and financial related 

items, their independence and commitment to corporate governance and their 

actions taken to achieve strategic objectives. The chairman was assessed on his 

leadership of the Board.

During the year, each Board member assessed the Board and the Board committees 

on which they serve.
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Directors and committee members are supplied with comprehensive information that allows them to properly discharge their 

responsibilities. The members of the Board bring a mix of skills, experience and technical expertise to the table. The Board 

meets at least four times a year.

Board meetings and attendance:

Name 10 November 2014 9 February 2015 11 May 2015 5 August 2015

T. Adler a a a a

M. Kaplan a a a a

G. Leissner a a a r

M. Nell (Chairman) a a a a

S. Noik a a a a

E. Stroebel a a a a

I. Suleman a a a a

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The committee comprises M. Nell, E. Stroebel, G. Leissner, M. Kaplan and I. Suleman and meets when decisions are required to 

acquire or dispose of property assets. Given the role played by the committee, it is acknowledged that it does not fully comply 

with King III in that the committee does not have a majority of independent non-executive directors. A full due diligence is 

undertaken before any property is considered for acquisition, and is circulated to all members of the committee and Board of 

directors, in advance of meetings. Decisions of the committee require consensus. The investment committee has met prior to 

the conclusion of each acquisition or disposal.

Meetings and attendance:

Name 28 January 2015 17 February 2015 29 April 2015 5 June 2015

M. Kaplan a a a a

G. Leissner (Chairman) a a r a

M. Nell a a a a

E. Stroebel a a a r

I. Suleman a a a a
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THE REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The committee is made up of two independent non-executive directors, T. Adler and M. Nell, whose primary responsibility is to 

monitor the remuneration policy of the company and more specifically that of the executive directors and ensure that directors 

and senior executives are remunerated fairly and responsibly. The CEO, COO and CFO attend meetings by invitation.

The committee considers the mix of regular salary remuneration, annual bonuses and incentive elements that meets the 

company’s needs. Incentives are based on targets that are stretching, verifiable and relevant.

The Arrowhead remuneration policy supports the company’s intention to attract high calibre staff as well as serving to retain 

and motivate staff, which is in the company’s as well as all stakeholders’ best interests.

Executive directors receive a fixed annual salary and increases, benchmarked against industry norms. Annual increases are paid 

subject to adequate overall performance and profitability of the company.

The payment of annual incentive awards to executive directors is linked to performance and measured against growth in 

distributions, net income growth and total return for the year as well as asset growth. In addition to the annual incentives, the 

remuneration committee has implemented a medium term incentive scheme (a copy of which is available on request from the 

company) designed to incentivise and reward the achievement of above sector growth in distributions per Arrowhead share in a 

way that encourages that growth be achieved in a sustainable manner.

Non-executive directors receive fixed fees for their services as directors and as members of the Board’s sub-committees. 

Remuneration of non-executive directors, who do not receive incentive awards, is reviewed and set by the committee for 

ultimate approval by shareholders. These fees are benchmarked every two years.

As a cornerstone of good corporate governance, there should be a formal, rigorous and transparent procedure for the 

appointment of new directors to a company’s board. A nomination committee should be appointed to lead the process for board 

appointments and to make recommendations to the board. In view of the fact that certain of the functions of remuneration and 

nomination committees overlap, the Board of the company has resolved that a remuneration and nomination committee be 

established instead of two separate committees.

Meetings and attendance:

Name 27 February 2015 11 May 2015 18 June 2015 18 September 2015

T. Adler (Chairman) a a a a

M. Kaplan - invitee a a a a

G. Leissner - invitee a a a a

M. Nell a a a a

I. Suleman - invitee a a a a
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THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

The Companies Act has transformed the audit committee from being a committee 

of the Board to a separate statutory committee that is appointed by the shareholders. 

However, the audit committee still forms part of the Board even though it has 

specific statutory responsibilities over and above responsibilities assigned to it by 

the Board.

Arrowhead’s audit and risk committee is integral to the company’s risk management 

process. It reports to shareholders on the extent to which it carried out its statutory 

oversight duties in respect of the external auditors, the appropriateness of the 

financial statements and the accounting practices, as well as the internal financial 

controls. The audit and risk committee report can be found on page 89.

The committee consists of three independent non-executive directors, S. Noik 

(Chairman), T. Adler and E. Stroebel. The CEO, COO and CFO as well as 

representatives of the external auditors attend meetings by invitation.

The committee members have the requisite financial and commercial skills to 

contribute to the committee’s deliberations.

The auditors have unrestricted access to the audit and risk committee.

Well in advance of meetings, the audit and risk committee receives timeous reports 

on the financial performance, internal controls, adherence to accounting policies, 

compliance and areas of significant risk as well as written reports from the auditors.

The committee has unrestricted access to independent expert advice should the 

need arise.

All non-audit services by the external auditors are required to be approved in 

advance by the audit and risk committee.

The Board is responsible for the group’s systems of internal control to enable the 

preparation of accurate financial statements and for maintaining an effective system 

of risk management.

One of the responsibilities of the committee is to assist the Board and monitor 

the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls and risk management 

processes generally.
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The company has an effective ongoing process for identifying risk, measuring its potential impact and initiating and 

implementing measures to reduce exposure to an acceptable level. External specialist consultants will be utilised, where 

required, to assist the committee with risk management measures.

Having regard to the size and life-stage of the company, a dedicated internal audit function is not warranted at this stage and 

the Board believes that the IT governance policy is appropriate. Use is made of external specialists (including resources of the 

external property managers) in respect of internal audit and IT functions. The situation and needs in this regard is continually 

being reassessed by the committee on an ongoing basis. Nothing has come to the attention of the committee to indicate there 

has been any material breakdown of controls during the year.

As required by the JSE, the audit and risk committee and the Board are satisfied that the CFO, I. Suleman, has the necessary 

skills and qualifications to fulfill his responsibilities.

Meetings and attendance:

Name 10 November 2014 17 November 2014 9 February 2015 11 May 2015 5 August 2015

T. Adler a a a a a

M. Kaplan - invitee a a a a a

G. Leissner - invitee a a a a a

M. Nell - invitee a a a a a

S. Noik (Chairman) a a a a a

E. Stroebel a a a a a

I. Suleman - invitee a a a a a

THE SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

A formally appointed social and ethics committee, comprising executive director M.  Kaplan and non-executive directors 

T. Adler and E. Stroebel, has been constituted in terms of the Companies Act. The social and ethics committee forms part of 

the Board, even though it has specific statutory responsibilities over and above responsibilities assigned to it by the Board.

The committee has all the functions and responsibilities provided for in the Companies Act.
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Meetings and attendance:

Name 25 March 2015

T. Adler a

M. Kaplan a

G. Leissner - invitee a

E. Stroebel (Chairman) a

I. Suleman - invitee a

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Board is assisted by a suitably qualified company secretary, N. Toerien (Principal of CIS Company Secretaries (Pty) Ltd) 

who has adequate experience, who is not a director of the company and who has been empowered to fulfil his duties. The Board 

has considered the company secretary’s competence, quilifications and experience and is satisfied that the company secretary 

has the necessary skills and experience. The Board is satisfied that the company secretary maintains an arm’s length relationship 

with the Board and is sufficiently qualified and experienced to execute the required duties. The company secretary advises the 

Board on appropriate procedures for management of meetings and ensures the corporate governance framework is maintained. 

The directors have unlimited access to the advice and services of the company secretary.
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Key:

Compliant a

Non-compliant x

1. Ethical leadership and corporate citizenship

1.1 The Board should provide effective leadership based on an ethical foundation a
1.2 The Board should ensure that the company is, and is seen to be, a responsible corporate citizen a
1.3 The Board should ensure that the company’s ethics are managed effectively a

2. Boards and directors

2.1 The Board should act as the focal point for, and custodian of, corporate governance a
2.2 The Board should appreciate that strategy, risk, performance and sustainability are inseparable a
2.3 The Board should provide effective leadership, based on an ethical foundation a
2.4 The Board should ensure that the company is, and is seen, to be a responsible corporate citizen a
2.5 The Board should ensure that the company’s ethics are managed effectively a
2.6 The Board should ensure that the company has an effective and independent audit committee a
2.7 The Board should be responsible for the governance of risk a
2.8 The Board should be responsible for information technology (IT) governance a
2.9 The Board should ensure that the company complies with applicable laws and considers adherence to 

non-binding rules, codes and standards
a

2.10 The Board should ensure that there is an effective risk-based internal audit a
2.11 The Board should appreciate that stakeholders’ perceptions affect the company’s reputation a
2.12 The Board should ensure the integrity of the company’s integrated report a
2.13 The Board should report on the effectiveness of the company’s system of internal controls a
2.14 The Board and its directors should act in the best interests of the company a
2.15 The Board should consider business rescue proceedings or other turnaround mechanisms as soon as the 

company is financially distressed as defined in the Act
a

2.16 The Board should elect a chairman of the Board who is an independent non-executive director. The CEO 

of the company should not also fulfil the role of chairman of the Board
a

KING III REVIEW

A register of Arrowhead’s compliance with the principles of King III and where applicable an explanation as to non-compliance 

can be found below and on the company’s website: www.arrowheadproperties.co.za.
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2.17 The Board should appoint the chief executive officer and establish a framework for the delegation of 

authority
a

2.18 The Board should comprise a balance of power, with a majority of non-executive directors. The majority 

of non-executive directors should be independent
a

2.19 Directors should be appointed through a formal process a
2.20 The induction of and ongoing training and development of directors should be conducted through formal 

processes
a

2.21 The Board should be assisted by a competent, suitably qualified and experienced company secretary a
2.22 The evaluation of the Board, its committees and the individual directors should be performed every year a
2.23 The Board should delegate certain functions to well-structured committees but without abdicating its 

own responsibilities
a

2.24 A governance framework should be agreed between the group and its subsidiary Boards a
2.25 Companies should remunerate directors and executives fairly and responsibly a
2.26 Companies should disclose the remuneration of each individual director and certain senior executives a
2.27 Shareholders should approve the company’s remuneration policy a

3. Audit committees

3.1 The Board should ensure that the company has an effective and independent audit committee a
3.2 Audit committee members should be suitably skilled and experienced independent non-executive 

directors
a

3.3 The audit committee should be chaired by an independent non-executive director a
3.4 The audit committee should oversee integrated reporting a
3.5 The audit committee should ensure that a combined assurance model is applied to provide a coordinated 

approach to all assurance activities
a

3.6 The audit committee should satisfy itself of the expertise, resources and experience of the company’s 

finance function
a

3.7 The audit committee should be responsible for overseeing of internal audit a
3.8 The audit committee should be an integral component of the risk management process a
3.9 The audit committee is responsible for recommending the appointment of the external auditor and 

overseeing the external audit process
a

3.10 The audit committee should report to the Board and shareholders on how it has discharged its duties a
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4. The governance of risk

4.1 The Board should be responsible for the governance of risk a
4.2 The Board should determine the levels of risk tolerance a
4.3 The risk committee or audit committee should assist the Board in carrying out its risk responsibilities a
4.4 The Board should delegate to management the responsibility to design, implement and monitor the risk 

management plan
a

4.5 The Board should ensure that risk assessments are performed on a continual basis a
4.6 The Board should ensure that frameworks and methodologies are implemented to increase the probability 

of anticipating unpredictable risks
a

4.7 The Board should ensure that management considers and implements appropriate risk responses a
4.8 The Board should ensure continual risk monitoring by management a
4.9 The Board should receive assurance regarding the effectiveness of the risk management process a
4.10 The Board should ensure that there are processes in place enabling complete, timely, relevant, accurate 

and accessible risk disclosure to stakeholders
a

5. The governance of information technology

5.1 The Board should be responsible for information technology (“IT”) governance a
5.2 IT should be aligned with the performance and sustainability objectives of the company a
5.3 The Board should delegate to management the responsibility for the implementation of an IT governance 

framework
a

5.4 The Board should monitor and evaluate significant IT investments and expenditure a
5.5 IT should form an integral part of the company’s risk management a
5.6 The Board should ensure that information assets are managed effectively a
5.7 A risk committee and audit committee should assist the Board in carrying out its IT responsibilities a

6. Compliance with laws, rules, codes and standards

6.1 The Board should ensure that the company complies with applicable laws and considers adherence to 

nonbinding rules, codes and standards
a

6.2 The Board and each individual director should have a working understanding of the effect of the applicable 

laws, rules, codes and standards on the company and its business
a

6.3 Compliance risk should form an integral part of the company’s risk management process a
6.4 The Board should delegate to management the implementation of an effective compliance framework and 

processes
a
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7. Internal audit

7.1 The Board should ensure that there is an effective risk based internal audit a*

7.2 Internal audit should follow a risk based approach to its plan a*

7.3 Internal audit should provide a written assessment of the effectiveness of the company’s system of internal 

controls and risk management

a*

7.4 The audit committee should be responsible for overseeing internal audit a*

7.5 Internal audit should be strategically positioned to achieve its objectives a*

8. Governing stakeholder relationships

8.1 The Board should appreciate that stakeholders’ perceptions affect a company’s reputation a
8.2 The Board should delegate to management to proactively deal with stakeholder relationships, stakeholders 

and the outcome of these dealings
a

8.3 The Board should strive to achieve the appropriate balance between its various stakeholder groupings, and 

the best interests of the company
a

8.4 Companies should ensure the equitable treatment of shareholders a
8.5 Transparent and effective communication with stakeholders is essential for building and maintaining their 

trust and confidence
a

8.6 The Board should ensure that disputes are resolved as effectively, efficiently and expeditiously as possible a

9. Integrated reporting and disclosure

9.1 The Board should ensure the integrity of the company’s integrated report a
9.2 Sustainability reporting and disclosure should be integrated with the company’s financial reporting a
9.3 Sustainability reporting and disclosure should be independently assured# x

*  Use is made of external specialists (including resources of the external property managers) in respect of internal audit. This is reassessed by 

the audit and risk committee on an ongoing basis.
# The directors do not consider independent assurance necessary at this stage.
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Someone is sitting in 
the shade today because 
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long time ago.
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Report of the audit and risk committee 

The audit and risk committee considers that it has adequately performed its 

functions in terms of its mandate, the King Code of Governance Principles and the 

Companies Act.

The committee met quarterly and carried out its duties by reviewing: 

•  Financial management reports;

•  External audit reports; and

•  Internal audit reports of JHI.

The committee is satisfied

•  with the independence of the external auditor, including the provision of non-

audit services and compliance with the company policy in this regard. The 

external auditor attended all meetings of the committee by invitation;

•   with the terms, nature, scope and proposed fee of the external auditor for the 

year ended 30 September 2015;

•   with the financial statements and the accounting practices utilised in the 

preparation thereof;

•  with the company’s continuing viability as a going concern; and

•   that I. Suleman, the CFO for the financial year ended September 2015, has the 

appropriate expertise and experience to meet his responsibilities in that position 

as required by the JSE.

Refer to pages 81 to 82 in the corporate governance section for additional details 

regarding the operations of the audit and risk committee.

S. Noik
Audit committee chairman
17 November 2015
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Report of the social and ethics committee

The committee has been formed as 

provided for in the Companies Act. 

Refer to pages 82 to 83 for details 

relating to the operation of the 

committee. The social and ethics report 

will be tabled at the annual general 

meeting on the 27 January 2016.

T. Adler
Social and ethics committee chairman
17 November 2015
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These financial statements have been audited as required by 

the Companies Act.
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Directors’ responsibility statement

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the annual 

financial statements of Arrowhead Properties Limited, comprising the statement of 

financial position at 30 September 2015 and statements of comprehensive income, 

changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended. To achieve the highest 

standards of financial reporting, these financial statements have been drawn up to 

comply with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 

the Companies Act.

The directors’ responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance 

of internal controls that will ensure the preparation, integrity and fair presentation 

of the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, 

selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting 

estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The directors have reviewed the appropriateness of the accounting policies and 

conclude that estimates and judgements are reasonable. They are of the opinion 

that the annual financial statements fairly present the financial position of the 

business at 30 September 2015 and of its financial performance and cash flows for 

the year to 30 September 2015. The external auditors, who have unrestricted access 

to all records and information, as well as to the audit committee, concur with this 

statement. The directors believe that all representations made to the independent 

auditors during their audit are valid and appropriate. The unqualified audit report of 

Grant Thornton Johannesburg Partnership is presented on page 98.

In addition, the directors have also reviewed the cash flow forecast for the year to 

30 September 2016 and believe that the company has adequate resources to 

continue in operation for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the annual financial 

statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis. These financial statements 

support the viability of the company.

The annual financial statements were approved by the Board on 17 November 2015 

and are signed on its behalf by:

M. Nell
Chairman

G. Leissner
CEO
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Certification by the company secretary

In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, we declare that to the best of 

our knowledge, for the year ended 30 September 2015, Arrowhead has lodged with 

the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required of a public company in 

terms of the Act and that such returns are true, correct and up to date.

CIS Company Secretaries
Company Secretary
17 November 2015
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Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of Arrowhead Properties Limited and its subsidiaries

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Arrowhead Properties Limited and its subsidiaries set 

out on pages 104 to 149, which comprise the statements of financial position as at 30 September 2015, and the statements of 

comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, 

comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of 

South Africa and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and 

separate financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements based on our audit. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and 

separate financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 

the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 

relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 

control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and 

separate financial position of Arrowhead Properties Limited and its subsidiaries as at 30 September 2015, and its consolidated 

and separate financial performance and consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards, and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

OTHER REPORTS REQUIRED BY THE COMPANIES ACT

As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2015, we have 

read the director’s report, report of the audit committee and the certification of the company secretary for the purpose of 

identifying whether there are material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate 

financial statements. These reports are the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading these reports we have 

not identified material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial statements. 

However, we have not audited these reports and accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

Grant Thornton Johannesburg Partnership
Registered Auditors
P Badrick

Partner

Registered Auditor Chartered Accountant (SA)

17 November 2015
@Grant Thornton

Wanderers Office Park

52 Corlett Drive,  llovo, 2196
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The Board has pleasure in submitting the directors’ report for the year ended 

30 September 2015.

NATURE OF BUSINESS

Arrowhead is a REIT and is listed on the JSE Limited under the Financial – Real 

Estate sector. Arrowhead became a REIT with effect from 1 October 2013.

Arrowhead is a REIT holding a diverse portfolio of commercial (office, retail and 

industrial) and residential properties throughout South Africa. Its main focus 

is on paying growing income returns to its investors. This is achieved through 

escalating rentals in terms of leases with tenants, satisfactory renewal of leases with 

existing tenants, renting of vacant space within the property portfolio, managing 

and reducing, where possible, costs associated with the property portfolio and 

by acquiring revenue enhancing properties. The company owns a portfolio of 

157 retail, industrial and commercial properties, and 95 residential properties 

held indirectly through Indluplace, valued at R8,6 billion, spread through all 

the provinces.

YEAR UNDER REVIEW

The results of the company are addressed in the reports of the Chairman and the 

executive directors and are set out in the annual financial statements on pages 10 to 

11 and 28 to 67 respectively.

SHARE AND DEBENTURE CAPITAL

The Company’s authorised share capital comprises of 1 000 000 000 ordinary 

A shares and 1 000 000 000 ordinary B shares of no par value. The company’s 

ordinary shares trade as shares on the JSE.

During the year ended 30 September 2015 the following shares were issued through 

a general placement:

•  31 914 894 - A and B  linked units were issued to fund the acquisition of 

investment properties at R9,40 and R9,40 respectively;

•  7 899 464  - A and B  linked units were issued to participants of the Arrowhead 

Unit Purchase Trust at R7,95 and R7,92 respectively;

•  3 228 194  - A and B  linked units were issued to fund the investment in Dipula at 

R8,95 and R8,98 respectively; and

•  15 500 000 - A and B  linked units were issued to the Arrowhead Charitable Trust 

at R9,95 and R9,98 respectively.

Directors’ report
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During the year under review, Arrowhead’s REIT conversion process was successfully completed and the company’s linked 

units were delinked on the JSE. The new equity instruments were listed on the JSE on 19 July 2015.

There were 437 607 408 A and 437 607 408 B shares in issue at 30 September 2015.

DISTRIBUTIONS

The following distributions were declared during the year:

• Distribution number 13 of 37,09 cents per combined linked unit for the three months ended 31 December 2014;

• Distribution number 14 of 37,40 cents per combined  linked unit for the three months ended 31 March 2015;

• Distribution number 15 of 37,81 cents per  combined linked unit for the three months ended 30 June 2015; and

• Distribution number 16 of 38,00 cents per combined share for the three months ended 30 September 2015*.

* The distribution was declared on 17 November 2015.

DIRECTORATE

The directors of the Company at the date of this report were:

Executive directors
• G. Leissner - CEO

• M.Kaplan - COO

• I. Suleman - CFO 

Independent non – executive directors
• T. Adler

• M. Nell (Chairman)

• S. Noik

• E. Stroebel

Brief curricula vitae of the directors have been included on pages 22 to 23.

The number of board and committee meetings attended by each of the directors during the year is tabled in the corporate 

governance report on pages 77 to 87.

Arrowhead’s CFO was assessed by the audit committee (as is done annually) to be appropriately qualified and experienced for 

the position.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

The interests of the directors in the shares of the Company at 30 September 2015 were as follows:

Executive directors 
Beneficial 

direct
Beneficial 

indirect Total 2015
Beneficial 

direct
Beneficial 

indirect Total 2014

G. Leissner     

A shares  -  6 273 051  6 273 051  365 000  3 618 042  3 983 042 

B shares 365 000  6 227 051  6 592 051  365 000  3 572 042  3 937 042 

M. Kaplan      

A shares  5 205 210  -  5 205 210  3 387 202  -  3 387 202 

B shares  5 790 914  -  5 790 914  4 031 906  -  4 031 906 

I. Suleman      

A shares  5 451 036  -  5 451 036  3 327 028  -  3 327 028 

B shares  5 451 036  -  5 451 036  3 327 028  -  3 327 028 

Non-executive directors    

M. Nell    

A shares  46 000  -  46 000  46 000  -  46 000 

B shares  91 000 -  91 000  91 000  -  91 000 

S. Noik     

A shares  - 1 000 1 000  - -  - 

B shares  70 000 -  70 000  70 000 -  70 000 

  22 470 196  12 501 102  34 971 298  15 010 164  7 190 084  22 200 248

Comprise:

Total A shares  10 702 246  6 274 051  16 976 297  7 125 230  3 618 042  10 743 272 

Total B shares  11 767 950  6 227 051  17 995 001  7 884 934  3 572 042  11 456 976 

Save as announced on SENS on 30 November 2015, there have been no changes in these holdings between the year-end and the date of 
this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

The company has not entered into any contracts in which a director has a material interest during the year under review.

GOING CONCERN

The directors are of the opinion that the company has adequate resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future 

and that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the company’s financial statements. The directors have 

satisfied themselves that the company is in a sound financial position and that it has access to sufficient borrowings facilities to 

meet its foreseeable cash requirements.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

Beneficial shareholders holding in excess of 3% of the units in issue are detailed on pages 16 to 20 of the annual report.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

In terms of the service contracts agreed between the executive directors and the 

company, the CEO is contracted until 31 March 2017 whilst the CFO and COO are 

both contracted until 31 March 2019.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

R 2015 2014

Fees earned by non-executive directors 

T. Adler  482 625  247 500 

M. Nell  334 400  229 900 

S. Noik  350 093  187 550 

E. Stroebel  352 191  223 850 

Paid by Indluplace (179 293) -

Total non-executive fees  1 340 016  888 800 

R 2015 2014

Fees earned by executive directors 

G. Leissner – Annual salary  3 868 925 2 822 250 

M. Kaplan – Annual salary  3 135 140 2 257 800 

I. Suleman – Annual salary  3 135 140  2 257 800 

Total executive fees 10 139 205 7 337 850 

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary at the date of this report was CIS Company Secretaries 

Proprietary Limited, a subsidiary of Computershare Investor Services Proprietary 

Limited which acquired the business of Probity Business Services Proprietary 

Limited, the previous company secretary on 4 June 2014.

The business and postal addresses of the company secretary are set out on page 151.

Melrose Arch
G. Leissner
17 November 2015
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Statement of financial position

R Notes Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014

ASSETS

Non-current assets  9 649 995 621  7 601 370 212  8 321 414 781  6 909 367 293 

Investment property  8 538 107 335  6 967 844 150  4 435 990 345  4 172 885 999 

Fair value of property portfolio for accounting 
purposes 3  8 450 212 845  6 899 291 030  4 362 540 951  4 113 349 922 

Straight line rental income accrual 4  87 894 490  68 553 120  73 449 394  59 536 077 

Property, plant and equipment 6  284 266  309 887  284 266  280 195 

Loans to participants of group share purchase 
option schemes 7  433 885 591  142 950 031  258 091 961  142 950 031 

Loan to the Arrowhead Charitable Trust 8  -  -  308 915 000  134 010 000 

Goodwill 33  176 830 044  176 830 044  -  - 

Interest in subsidiaries 10  -  -  2 829 792 436  2 159 844 558 

Financial assets 9  482 419 735  290 726 630  482 419 735  290 726 630 

Derivative instruments 22  18 468 650  22 709 470  5 921 038  8 669 880 

Current assets  148 307 295  114 376 996  59 548 002  42 296 798 

Trade and other receivables 11  61 119 465  31 302 269  22 498 733  8 710 057 

Cash and cash equivalents 12  87 187 830  83 074 727  37 049 269  33 586 741 

Non-current assets held for sale 5  108 200 000  47 500 000  -  47 500 000 

Total assets  9 906 502 916  7 763 247 208  8 380 962 783  6 999 164 091 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ interest  7 346 536 150  828 692 753  6 730 423 695  819 105 658 

Stated capital 13  5 128 004 583  174  5 436 919 583  176 

Non-controlling interest   576 126 672  -  -  - 

Reserves  1 642 404 895  828 692 579  1 293 504 112  819 105 482 

Non-current liabilities - debentures 14  -  4 256 279 188  -  4 387 074 109 

Shareholders’/linked unitholders’ interest  7 346 536 150  5 084 971 941  6 730 423 695  5 206 179 767 

Other non-current liabilities  2 426 048 182  2 373 910 174  1 587 097 362  1 592 510 158 

Secured financial liabilities 15  2 408 033 238  2 355 683 626  1 549 366 545  1 586 336 209 

Loans from subsidiaries 10  -  -  31 696 122 -

Derivative instruments 22  18 014 944  18 226 548  6 034 695  6 173 949 

Current liabilities  133 918 584  304 365 093  63 441 726  200 474 167 

Trade and other payables 16  133 918 584  166 269 057  62 155 242  62 378 131 

Loans from subsidiaries 10  -  -  1 286 484 -

Unitholders for distribution  -  138 096 036  -  138 096 036 

Total equity and liabilities  9 906 502 916  7 763 247 208  8 380 962 783  6 999 164 091 

Number of A shares/linked units in issue  422 107 408  370 064 585 

Number of B shares/linked units in issue  422 107 408  370 064 585 

Net asset value per A and B shares/linked units (R)  8,70  6,87 

Gearing ratio (secured liabilities/investment property) (%)  27,85  33,58 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2015
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Statement of profit and loss and other 
comprehensive income

R Notes Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014

Property portfolio revenue

Contractual rental income  1 217 913 318  712 239 038  689 670 113  583 692 817 

Straight line rental income accrual 4  19 341 370  25 794 665  13 913 317  28 577 642 

Management fees received  -  -  900 000  7 426 623 

Listed securities income 17  19 114 701  65 788 683  27 545 232  69 743 111 

Total revenue  1 256 369 389  803 822 386  732 028 662  689 440 193 

Operating costs  (411 882 897)  (245 510 136)  (237 432 192)  (200 380 255)

Administration costs  (31 130 422)  (26 709 116)  (27 024 553)  (20 086 746)

Net operating profit 18  813 356 070  531 603 134  467 571 917  468 973 192 

Changes in fair values 20  640 713 208  272 392 378  332 977 797  250 050 247 

Profit from operations  1 454 069 278  803 995 512  800 549 714  719 023 439 

Net finance (charges)/income 21  (187 028 664)  (101 008 269)  117 444 598  (16 825 173)

Finance charges  (219 678 715)  (115 007 197)  (138 215 935)  (99 105 944)

Interest received  32 650 051  13 998 928  255 660 533  82 280 771 

Profit before debenture interest and taxation  1 267 040 614  702 987 243  917 994 312  702 198 266 

Debenture interest 34  (278 136 793)  (375 200 760)  (278 136 793)  (385 510 495)

Profit before taxation  988 903 821  327 786 483  639 857 519  316 687 771 

Taxation 23  -  -  -  - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  988 903 821  327 786 483  639 857 519  316 687 771 

Profit for the year attributable to:

Equity shareholders of Arrowhead Properties Limited  945 118 377  327 786 483  639 857 519  316 687 771 

Non-controlling interests  43 785 444  -  -  - 

 988 903 821  327 786 483  639 857 519  316 687 771 

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE/LINKED UNIT

Weighted average number of shares/linked unit

A shares/linked units in issue  405 620 529  278 806 529 

B shares/linked units in issue  405 620 529  278 806 529 

Basic and diluted earnings per share/linked unit (cents)

A shares/linked units  116,50  126,07 

B shares/linked units  116,50  126,07 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2015
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Statements of changes in equity

R Stated capital Reserves
Non-controlling 

interest Total
Balance at 30 September 2013  139  500 906 098  -  500 906 237 

Issue of shares  35  -  -  35 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  327 786 482  -  327 786 482 

Balance at 30 September 2014  174  828 692 579  -  828 692 753 

Issue of shares  10  -  564 109 786  564 109 796 

Transfers between equity holders  -  28 193 827  (28 193 827)  - 

REIT conversion  5 128 004 399  -  -  5 128 004 399 

Dividends paid  -  (159 599 889)  (3 574 731)  (163 174 620)

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  945 118 377  43 785 444  988 903 821 

Balance at 30 September 2015  5 128 004 583  1 642 404 895  576 126 672  7 346 536 150 

Note: 13

COMPANY
Balance at 30 September 2013  141  502 417 711 -  502 417 852 

Issue of shares  35  - -  35 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  316 687 771 -  316 687 771 

Balance at 30 September 2014  176  819 105 482 -  819 105 658 

Issue of shares  12  - -  12 

REIT conversion  5 436 919 395  - -  5 436 919 395 

Dividends paid  -  (165 458 889) -  (165 458 889)

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  639 857 519 -  639 857 519 

Balance at 30 September 2015  5 436 919 583  1 293 504 112 -  6 730 423 695 

Note: 13

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2015

OWNERS OF PARENT 
GROUP
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Statement of cash flows
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2015

R Notes Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014

Net cash (utilised)/generated from operating 
activities  (34 690 311)  93 493 087  (18 770 189)  94 374 330 

Cash generated from operations 25.2  727 377 068  528 150 289  432 677 665  456 861 493 

Finance charges paid  (219 678 715)  (115 007 197)  (138 215 935)  (99 105 944)

Interest received  32 650 051  13 998 928  255 660 533  82 280 771 

Dividends received  19 114 701  -  27 545 232  - 

Dividends paid - non-controlling interest  (3 574 731)  -  -  - 

Dividends paid  (159 599 889)  -  (165 458 889)  - 

Debenture interest paid  (430 978 796)  (333 648 935)  (430 978 795)  (345 661 990)

Net cash utilised in investing activities  (1 101 324 301)  (1 364 550 408)  (542 770 906)  (1 414 919 639)

Acquisition of investment property 3 & 5  (1 174 577 237)  (1 267 272 568)  (80 056 274)  (757 891 164)

Proceeds from disposal of investment property  61 173 500  -  61 173 500  - 

Investment and loans to subsidiaries  -  -  (669 947 878)  (659 935 465)

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 33  -  (100 155 138)  -  - 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (228 128)  (172 761)  (257 818)  (143 069)

Repayment of loans to participants of group 
share purchase option schemes  12 307 564  3 050 059  12 307 564  3 050 059 

Proceeds from loans advanced to the 
Arrowhead Charitable Trust  -  -  134 010 000  - 

Net cash generated from financing activities  1 140 127 714  1 328 748 004  565 003 623  1 328 748 003 

Proceeds from issue of linked units   570 095 249  454 345 054  570 095 249  454 345 053 

Proceeds from realisation of Arrowhead 
Charitable Trust units  134 010 000  -  -  - 

Proceeds from issue of shares - non controlling 
interest  385 101 083  -  -  - 

Proceeds from loans to subsidiary  -  -  32 982 606  - 

Proceeds from/(repayment of) financial liabilities  50 921 382  874 402 950  (38 074 232)  874 402 950 

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents  4 113 102  57 690 683  3 462 528  8 202 694 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  83 074 728  25 384 045  33 586 741  25 384 047 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 12  87 187 830  83 074 728  37 049 269  33 586 741 

The principal non cash flow transactions were the issue of shares/linked units to the participants of the group share purchase 

option schemes of R303,2 million, the issue of shares/linked units for the acquisition of listed securities of R57,9 million and 

the issue of linked units to the Arrowhead Charitable Trust of R308,9 million.

In the prior year, the principal non cash flow transactions were the issue of linked units for investment properties amounting to 

R125,0 million, the issue of linked units to the participants of the Arrowhead Unit Purchase Trust of R86,0 million, the issue of 

linked units for the acquisition of listed securities of R278,0 million and the issue of linked units for the business combination of 

R1,46 billion.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as 

issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, the JSE Listing requirements and the 

requirements of the South African Companies Act.

The financial statements are prepared on the historic cost basis, except for 

investment properties and certain financial instruments which are carried at fair 

value, and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. These 

accounting policies have been applied consistently with the previous year.

1.1 Basis of preparation

Except for the new standards adopted, the accounting policies applied by the 

group, and the preparation of these annual financial statements are consistent 

with the accounting policies applied in the preparation of the previous annual 

financial statements. 

1.2 Basis of consolidation

The group financial statements include those of the holding company and 

enterprises controlled by the company. Control is achieved when the company has 

the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee enterprise. 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities, income, 

expenses and cash flows of the group and all entities controlled by the group. 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised profits or losses between group 

companies are eliminated on consolidation.

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the company has the power to govern the 

financial and operating policies of the entities so as to obtain benefits from its 

activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that are presently exercisable 

or convertible are taken into account.

In the separate financial statements of the company, investments in subsidiaries are 

accounted for at cost and adjusted for impairment if applicable.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities, income, 

expenses and cash flows of the group and all entities controlled by the group. The 

results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 

consolidated profit or loss from the date of acquisition or up to the date of disposal. 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised profits or losses between group 

companies are eliminated on consolidation.

Notes to the financial statements
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Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which 

control is transferred to the group. Judgement is applied in determining the acquisition date and determining whether control is 

transferred from one party to another.

The group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as follows:

• the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 

• the recognised amount of the non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus 

•  if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree; less 

•  the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

Where the excess is negative this is immediately recognised in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

A “business” is defined as an integrated set of activities and assets that is capable of being conducted and managed for the 

purpose of providing a return in the form of dividends, lower costs or other economic benefits directly to investors or other 

owners, members or participants.

A “business combination” is defined as a transaction or other event in which an acquirer obtains control of one or 

more businesses.

If a business combination results in the termination of pre-existing relationships between the group and the acquiree, then the 

lower of the termination amount, as contained in the agreement, and the value of the off-market element is deducted from the 

consideration transferred and recognised in profit or loss.

Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the group incurs in 

connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

Costs associated with the issue of debt or equity securities are recorded directly in the statement of changes in equity.

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is 

classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise subsequent changes to the fair 

value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

Transactions with non-controlling interest holders

The group applies a policy of treating transactions with non-controlling interest holders as transactions with equity holders of 

the group. Disposals to non-controlling interest holders that do not result in the loss of control, result in gains and losses for the 

group that are recorded directly in the statement of changes in equity. The difference between any consideration paid and the 

relevant share of the net asset value acquired from non-controlling interests is recorded directly in the statement of changes 

in equity.

1.3 Treasury shares/linked units

Where an entity under the group’s control holds shares/linked units in the holding company, the consideration paid to acquire 

these shares/units is deducted from the shareholders’/linked unit holders’ equity as treasury stock. When these shares/units 

are sold or re-issued, any consideration received is included in shareholders’/linked unit holders’ equity.
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1.4 Financial instruments

Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of 

another entity.

Financial instruments are recognised on the statement of financial position when the group becomes party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument. The group initially recognises a financial instrument as a financial asset, a financial liability or as 

an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

The group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the 

rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards 

of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest financial assets that is created or retained by the entity is 

recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired.

Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, these instruments are 

measured as follows:

Financial assets

• Trade and other receivables

  Trade and other receivable are initially recognised at fair value including transaction costs and are subsequently measured 

at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Trade and other receivables are presented net of an allowance for 

impairment. The allowance for impairment is raised based on the difference between the carrying value of the receivables 

and the present value of expected future cash flows using the discount rate calculated at initial recognition. Movements 

in the provision are recognised in profit or loss. Unrecoverable amounts are written off against the allowance account. 

Subsequent recoveries of previously written off amounts are credited to profit or loss.

• Cash and cash equivalents

  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Cash and cash equivalents are highly liquid, short term 

investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash. These investments are subject to insignificant risk in 

change in value. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost that approximates fair value.

• Loans to participants of the Arrowhead and Indluplace Unit Purchase Trust Option Scheme

  Loans to participants of the Arrowhead and Indluplace Unit Purchase Trust Option Scheme consist of shares issued to the 

directors and employees of Arrowhead and Indluplace at market value. The loans incur interest at the effective interest rates 

incurred on the secured financial liabilities and are repayable with the quarterly distributions.

• Derivative instrument

  The group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate risks arising from its financing 

activities. Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised and subsequently measured at fair value. The gain 



ARROWHEAD PROPERTIES INTEGRATED FINANCIAL REPORT 2015

www.arrowheadproperties.co.za  /  111 

  or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised in profit or loss. The 

group holds interest rate swaps. The fair value of the interest rate swap is the 

estimated amount that the group would receive or pay to terminate the swap 

at the reporting date, taking into account current interest rates and the current 

creditworthiness of the swap counterparties.

• Investment in listed securities

  Investment in listed securities are initially measured at cost and are subsequently 

re-measured to fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

• Debentures

  Debentures are recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest 

rate method.

• Shareholders/Unitholders for distribution

  Debenture interest is recognised in the period in which it occurs through 

profit or loss. Net profits available after subtracting cost for maintaining the 

revenue enhancing properties are paid to shareholders/linked units holders on 

the number of shares/linked units in issue based on a specific applied formula 

implemented by the directors of the group.

• Interest bearing borrowings

  Interest bearing borrowings are recognised at amortised cost using the effective 

interest rate method. Any raising costs that are incurred on interest bearing 

borrowings are offset against the debt balance and recognised as additional 

interest using the effective interest rate method over the term of the loan. The 

finance cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it accrues.

• Trade and other payables

  Trade and other payables are initially recognised at cost and subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, with gains 

or losses being recognised in profit or loss.

Offset

•  Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in 

the statement of financial position when the group has a legally enforceable right 

to set off the recognised amounts, and intends either to settle on a net basis, or 

to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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Where the carrying amounts of short term financial instruments carried at 

amortised cost approximate their amortised cost value and the impact of 

discounting is not considered to be material, no discounting is applied.

1.5 Investment property

Investment property is property held for the purpose of earning rental income and 

for capital appreciation. Investment property is initially recorded at cost and include 

transaction costs on acquisition. Subsequent expenditure to add to or replace a part 

of the property is capitalised at cost. 

Investment property is valued annually and adjusted to fair value as at statement of 

financial position date.

Independent valuations are obtained on a rotational basis, ensuring that every 

property is valued at least once every three years by an external independent 

valuer. The remaining properties are valued by the directors annually on an open 

market basis.

The proposed net profit budget relating to each internally valued property for the 

following year is used in conjunction with a discounted cash flow model to calculate 

the fair value adjustment value of the investment property. The discount, yield 

and reversion rate used in the discounted cash flow calculation reflects the risks 

anticipated in the geographical area.

Any gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of the investment property is 

included in net profit for the year.

Gains and losses on the disposal of investment property is recognised in net profit 

and are calculated as the difference between the sale price and the carrying value of 

the property.

1.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation 

and impairment.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight line basis over the 

current useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives of the assets are:

• Computer equipment (3 years)

• Furniture, fittings and equipment (3 years)
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The useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted if necessary.

The depreciation on property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss in the year in which it occurred.

The gain or loss on property, plant and equipment is determined by subtracting the carrying value from the net disposal 

proceeds on date of sale. The gain or loss on sale of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income and is not classified as revenue.

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of equipment is capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefits will 

flow to the entity and the cost can be measured reliably. All other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense in the 

period in which it incurred.

1.7 Revenue recognition

a) Property portfolio revenue

  Property portfolio revenue comprises operating lease income and operating cost recoveries from the letting of investment 

property. Operating lease income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Operating cost recoveries 

are recognised two months in arrears from incurring the expense. Contingent rents (turnover rentals) are included in 

revenue when the amount can be reliably measured.

b) Interest income

  Interest income is recognised as it accrues, usingthe effective interest rate method.

1.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying value of assets is reviewed for impairment at each reporting date. Assets are impaired when events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable.

If such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amounts, the assets are written down 

to their recoverable amounts.

Recoverable amount is determined as the higher of fair value less costs to sell or value in use. Where it is not possible to 

estimate the recoverable amount for an individual asset, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to 

which the asset belongs.

In assessing the value in use, the estimated cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment 

testing, goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating unit expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination.

Impairment losses and the reversal of impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss other than those relating to revalued 

assets, in which case the impairment or reversal of impairment is accounted for as a revaluation decrease or increase 

respectively. In the case of a cash-generating unit, an impairment is first allocated to goodwill and then to the other assets in 
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the cash-generating unit on a pro rata basis. Impairments to goodwill are not subsequently reversed. An impairment loss is only 

reversed if there is an indication that the impairment loss no longer exists and the recoverable amount increases as a result of 

a change in estimates used to determine the recoverable amount, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that 

would have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

Impairments to goodwill are never reversed.

1.9 Employee short-term benefits

The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the employees render the related service. 

Short-term employee benefits are measured on an undiscounted basis. The accrual for employee entitlements to salaries, 

bonuses and annual leave represents the amount which the group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay as a result 

of the employees’ services provided up to the reporting date.

1.10 Letting costs

Installations and lease commissions are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. 

Depreciation is provided to write down the cost, less residual value, by equal instalments over the period of the lease.

1.11 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the development or acquisition of qualifying assets are capitalised to the cost of 

that asset until such time as it is substantially ready for its intended use. The capitalisation rate is arrived at by reference to the 

actual rate payable. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

1.12 Operating segments

An operating segment is a component of the company that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and 

incur expenses. The operating results are reviewed regularly by executive management to make decisions about and to assess 

the performance of the segment.

On a primary basis the operations are organised into geographical major business segments. The operating segments are based 

on the International Financial Reporting Standards.

1.13 Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather than continuing use, are classified as held 

for sale. Investment property classified as held for sale is measured in terms of IAS 40 – ‘Investment Property’ at fair value with 

gains and losses on subsequent measurement being recognised in profit or loss.
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1.14 Stated capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. External costs directly attributable to the 

issue of new shares are shown as a deduction in equity from the proceeds.

1.15 Key estimates and assumptions

Estimates and assumptions, an integral part of financial reporting, have an 

impact on the amounts reported for the company’s assets, liabilities, income and 

expenses. Judgement in these areas is based on historical experience and reasonable 

expectations relating to future events. Actual results may differ from these 

estimates. Information on the key estimations and uncertainties that have the most 

significant effect on amounts recognised are set out in the following notes to the 

financial statements:

• Accounting policies – notes 1.4, 1.5, 1.8

• Investment property valuation – note 3

• Goodwill – note 33

• Impairment of receivables – note 11

Further matters that require key judgement in the preparation of these annual 

financial statements are:

Payment for the acquisition of investment property

In the current year, the acquisitions of investment property was treated as property 

acquisitions in terms of IAS 40 – ‘Investment property’. In the opinion of the 

directors these properties did not constitute a business as defined in terms of 

IFRS 3, as there were not adequate processes identified with these properties to 

warrant classification as businesses.

Allocation of shares/linked units between stated capital and debentures

The fair value of the debentures are determined based on the expected forward 

distributions. The debentures are recognised as liabilities as there is a contractual 

obligation on the company to deliver cash to the holders in the form of 

distributions. The excess of the fair value above the face value of the debentures 

are recognised as debenture premium and will be recognised in profit or loss on the 

effective interest rate method over the term of the debentures. Any remaining value 

is recognised as stated capital.
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Deferred taxation

As the group is a REIT, no provision for current tax has been provided as the 

Group’s distributable income is paid to the shareholders/linked unitholders. No 

deferred tax has been provided on property fair value movements as no capital gains 

tax is payable on disposal of properties due to the REIT legislation. No deferred tax 

is provided on any other timing differences as the group does not expect to have 

taxable income in the foreseeable future.

2.  STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS APPLICABLE TO THE COMPANY NOT YET 
EFFECTIVE

There are new or revised accounting standards and interpretations in issue that are 

not yet effective. These include the following standards and interpretations that are 

material to the business and may have an impact on future financial statements, or 

those for which the impact has not yet been assessed. These standards were not 

early adopted.
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Standard Details of amendments
Annual periods 

beginning on or after

IFRS 9 -

Financial Statements

The IASB aims to replace IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement’ (IAS 39) in its entirety with IFRS 9. To date, the chapters 

dealing with recognition, classification, measurement, de-recognition 

of financial assets and liabilities and hedge accounting have been 

issued. Chapters dealing with impairment methodology are still being 

developed. Further, in November 2011, the IASB tentatively decided 

to consider making limited modifications to IFRS 9’s financial asset 

classification model to address application issues. 1 January 2018

IFRS 10 -

Consolidated Financial 

Investments

•  Amendments to address an acknowledged inconsistency between the 

requirements in IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ and those 

in IAS 28 (2011) ‘Investments in Associates’ in dealing with the sale or 

contribution of a subsidiary.

 •  Amendments modifying IFRS 10.32 to state that the consolidation 

requirement only applies to subsidiaries who are not themselves 

investment entities and whose main purpose is to provide services 

which relate to the investment entity’s investment activities. 

 •  Amendments providing relief to non-investment entity investors in 

associates or joint ventures that are investment entities by allowing 

the non-investment entity investor to retain, when applying the equity 

method, the fair value measurement applied by the investment entity 

associates or joint ventures to their interests in subsidiaries. 

•  Amendments confirming that the IFRS 10.4(a) consolidation 

exemption is also available to parent entities which are subsidiaries 

of investment entities where the investment entity measures its 

investments at fair value in terms of IFRS 10.31. 1 January 2016

IFRS 15 -

Revenue from Contracts 

with Customers

New guidance on recognition of revenue that requires recognition of 

revenue in a manner that depicts the transfer of goods or services to 

customers at an amount that reflects the consideration the entity expects 

to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. 1 January 2017
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IAS 1 -

Presentation of Financial 

Statements

•  Amendments clarifying IAS 1’s specified line items on the statement(s) 

of profit and loss and other comprehensive income and the statement 

of financial position can be disaggregated. 

•  Additional requirements of how entities should present subtotals in the 

statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and the 

statement of financial position.

•  Clarification that entities have flexibility as to the order in which they 

present their notes to the financial statements, but also emphasising 

the need to consider fundamental principles of comparability and 

understandability in determining the order. 1 January 2016

IAS 19 -

Employee benefits

Annual Improvements 2012–2014 Cycle: lAS 19.83 requires that the 

currency and term of the corporate or government bonds used to 

determine the discount rate for post- employment benefit obligations 

must be consistent with the currency and estimated term of the 

obligations. The amendments clarify that the assessment of the depth 

of the corporate bond market shall be made at the currency-level rather 

than the country-level. 1 July 2016

IAS 27 -

Consolidated and separte 

financial statements

•  Amendments to introducing a third option which allows entities to 

account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 

under the equity method in their separate financial statements. 1 January 2016

Standard Details of amendments
Annual periods 

beginning on or after

The directors have not yet determined what the impact of these new Standards and Interpretation on the company will be.
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3. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

R Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014

Net carrying value

Cost  7 951 998 546  6 679 664 445  4 173 481 691  3 908 005 226 

Fair value surplus (note 20)  498 214 299  219 626 585  189 059 260  205 344 696 

 8 450 212 845  6 899 291 030  4 362 540 951  4 113 349 922 

Movement for the year

Investment properties at the beginning of year  6 899 291 030  3 070 451 683  4 113 349 922  3 070 451 681 

Disposal of investment property  (13 083 527)  (11 407 960)  (13 083 527)  (11 407 960)

Acquisitions  1 150 518 712  1 328 712 068  60 500 000  880 963 282 

Acquired from business combination  -  2 257 926 721  -  - 

Improvements to buildings  18 832 023  69 026 052  10 963 320  8 721 442 

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale (note 5)  (108 200 000)  (47 500 000)  -  (47 500 000)

Changes in fair value (note 20)  498 214 299  219 626 585  189 059 260  205 344 696 

Capital expenditure, tenant installations and lease 
commissions  4 640 308  12 455 881  1 751 976  6 776 781 

- Capitalised  25 725 627  20 499 125  19 963 509  11 370 555 

- Amortised  (21 085 319)  (8 043 244)  (18 211 533)  (4 593 774)

Balance at the end of the year  8 450 212 845  6 899 291 030  4 362 540 951  4 113 349 922 

Reconciliation to valuation

Investment properties carrying amount  8 450 212 845  6 899 291 030  4 362 540 951  4 113 349 922 

Straight line rental income accrual  87 894 490  68 553 120  73 449 394  59 536 077 

Non-current asset held for sale (note 5)  108 200 000  47 500 000  -  47 500 000 

Investment properties per valuations  8 646 307 335  7 015 344 150  4 435 990 345  4 220 385 999 

Full details of investment properties owned by the company are contained in the register of investment properties which is 

open for inspection by shareholders at the registered office of the company (see page 150).

In terms of the accounting policy, the portfolio is valued annually. One third of the properties were valued by Real Insight, a 

registered valuer in terms of Section 19 of the Property Valuers Professional Act (Act No 47 of 2000). The remaining properties 

were valued by the directors.

The valuations were performed using the discounted cash flow methodology. This method is based on an open market basis 

with consideration given to the future earnings potential and applying an appropriate capitalisation rate. Refer to note 31 for the 

fair value hierachy.

Investment properties are encumbered as set out in note 15.
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4. STRAIGHT LINE RENTAL INCOME ACCRUAL

R Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014
Balance at the beginning of the year  68 553 120  30 958 435  59 536 077  30 958 435 

Arising on business combination  -  11 800 020  -  - 

Movement for the year  19 341 370  25 794 665  13 913 317  28 577 642 

Balance at the end of the year  87 894 490  68 553 120  73 449 394  59 536 077 

5. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

This consists of investment property that will be 
recovered through sale in the next financial year.

Balance at the beginning of the year 47 500 000 - 47 500 000 -

Roggebaai Building  51 000 000  -  -  - 

Benoni Rynfield Shopping Centre  30 000 000  -  -  - 

Beyers Naude Building  27 200 000  -  -  - 

Premier Milling Building  -  35 000 000  -  35 000 000 

Emerson Building  -  12 500 000  -  12 500 000 

Properties sold (47 500 000) - (47 500 000) -

Balance at the end of the year  108 200 000  47 500 000  -  47 500 000 

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Computer equipment  266 198  200 442  266 198  170 750 

Cost  752 501  544 449  752 501  514 757 

Accumulated depreciation  (486 303)  (344 007)  (486 303)  (344 007)

Furniture, fittings and equipment  18 068  109 445  18 068  109 445 

Cost  663 890  654 340  663 890  654 340 

Accumulated depreciation  (645 822)  (544 895)  (645 822)  (544 895)

 284 266  309 887  284 266  280 195 

Movement for the year  

Balance at beginning of year  309 887  494 109  280 195  494 109 

Net acquisitions  228 127  172 761  257 819  143 069 

Computer equipment  218 576  154 608  248 268  124 916 

Furniture, fittings and equipment  9 551  18 153  9 551  18 153 

Depreciation  (253 748)  (356 983)  (253 748)  (356 983)

Computer equipment  (152 821)  (142 716)  (152 821)  (142 716)

Furniture, fittings and equipment  (100 927)  (214 267)  (100 927)  (214 267)

 284 266  309 887  284 266  280 195 
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R Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014
Balance at the beginning of the year  142 950 031  59 976 485  142 950 031  59 976 485 

Advances  303 243 124  86 023 606  127 449 494  86 023 606 

Interest charged on loans  26 893 808  11 344 166  21 809 333  11 344 166 

Repayments  (29 257 804)  (14 394 226)  (28 178 521)  (14 394 226)

Amounts transferred to trade and other receivables (note 11)  (9 943 568)  -  (5 938 376)  - 

Balance at the end of the year  433 885 591  142 950 031  258 091 961  142 950 031 

Owing by the following directors:

Loans to Participants of Arrowhead Share/Unit Purchase Trust

G. Leissner  86 098 302  46 677 953  86 098 302  46 677 953 

2013 year - Issued 992 063 A shares/linked units at R6,55 and 
992 063 B shares/linked units at R6,05 on 7 December 2012

2014 year - Issued 2 313 875 A shares/linked units at R6,99 and 
2 313 875 B shares/linked units at R6,90 on 13 November 2013

2015 year - Issued 2 655 009 A shares/linked units at R7,95 and 
2 655 009 B shares/linked units at R7,92 on 10 November 2014

M. Kaplan  80 473 323  47 916 275  80 473 323  47 916 275 

2013 year - Issued 1 587 302 A shares/linked units at R6,55 and 
1 587 302 B shares/linked units at R6,05 on 7 December 2012

2014 year - Issued 1 850 900 A shares/linked units at R6,99 and 
1 850 900 B shares/linked units at R6,90 on 13 November 2013

2015 year - Issued 2 124 008 A shares/linked units at R7,95 and 
2 124 008 B shares/linked units at R7,92 on 10 November 2014

I. Suleman  74 782 001  42 059 404  74 782 001  42 059 404 

2013 year - Issued 1 388 889 A shares/linked units at R6,55 and 
1 388 889 B shares/linked units at R6,05 on 7 December 2012

2014 year - Issued 1 746 075 A shares/linked units at R6,99 and 
1 746 075 B shares/linked units at R6,90 on 13 November 2013

2015 year - Issued 2 124 008 A shares/linked units at R7,95 and 
2 124 008 B shares/linked units at R7,92 on 10 November 2014

 241 353 626  136 653 632  241 353 626  136 653 632 

7. LOANS TO PARTICIPANTS OF GROUP SHARE PURCHASE OPTION SCHEMES
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Owing by the following employees:

Loans to Participants of Arrowhead Share/Unit Purchase Trust

M. Machanik  2 382 370  2 499 714  2 382 370  2 499 714 

2013 year - Issued 100 000 A shares/linked units at R7,35 and 
100 000 B shares/linked units at R7,22 on 1 March 2013

2014 year Issued 75 234 A shares/linked units at R6,99 and 
75 234 B shares/linked units at R6,90 on 13 November 2013

2015 year Issued 71 109 A shares/linked units at R7,95 and 
71 109 B shares/linked units at R7,92 on 10 November 2014

D. Mayers  -  3 796 685  -  3 796 685 

2013 year - Issued 161 771 A shares/linked units at R7,35 and 
161 771 B shares/linked units at R7,22 on 1 March 2013

2014 year - Issued 103 672 A shares/linked units at R6,99 and 
103 672 B shares/linked units at R6,90 on 13 November 2013

R. Kader  9 993 223  -  9 993 223  - 

2015 year Issued 500 000 A shares/linked units at R9,96 and 
500 000 B shares/linked units at R10,08 on 10 November 2014

C. de Wit  3 001 451  -  3 001 451  - 

2015 year - Issued 196 912 A shares/linked units at R7,95 and 
196 912 B shares/linked units at R7,92 on 10 November 2014

V. Turner  520 890  -  520 890  - 

2015 year - Issued 173 283 A shares/linked units at R7,95 and 
173 283 B shares/linked units at R7,92 on 10 November 2014

N. Kaplan  840 401  -  840 401  - 

2015 year - Issued 55 135 A shares/linked units at R7,95 and 55 
135 B shares/linked units at R7,92 on 10 November 2014

 16 738 335  6 296 399  16 738 335  6 296 399 

7. LOANS TO PARTICIPANTS OF GROUP SHARE PURCHASE OPTION SCHEMES (CONTINUED)

R Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014

Loans to Participants of Indluplace Share Purchase and Option Scheme

Owing by the following directors of Indluplace:

G. Leissner  52 738 090  -  -  - 

2015 year - Issued 5 273 809 shares at R10,00 on 19 June 2015

M. Kaplan  52 738 090  -  -  - 

2015 year - Issued 5 273 809 shares at R10,00 on 19 June 2015

I. Suleman  52 738 090  -  -  - 

2015 year - Issued 5 273 809 shares at R10,00 on 19 June 2015

C. de Wit  17 579 360  -  -  - 

2015 year - Issued 1 757 936 shares at R10,00 on 19 June 2015

 175 793 630  -  -  - 

 433 885 591  142 950 031  258 091 961  142 950 031 
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Loans to Participants of Arrowhead Share/Unit Purchase Trust

The loans were granted to the executive directors and employees for the purpose of subscribing for shares/linked units in the 

Company as per the Arrowhead Unit Purchase Trust and in terms of the Companies Act.

The shares/linked units have been pledged as security against the loans.

The loans bear interest at the company’s rate of borrowing and is calculated at 31 December, 31 March, 30 June and 

30 September and are repayable by 30 September 2018.

The distributions received on the shares/linked units are used to repay the interest accumulated on the loans.

The excess distribution amounts received after repayment of the interest are refunded to the executives.

Loans to Participants of Indluplace Share Purchase and Option Scheme

The loans were granted to the executive directors for the purpose of subscribing for shares in the company as per the 

Indluplace Share Purchase and Option Scheme and in terms of the Companies Act. The shares have been pledged as security 

against the loans.

The loans bear interest at the equal rate to the distribution declared and is calculated at 31 December, 31 March, 30 June and 

30 September and is repayable at any time by the employee but not later than 10 years from the making of the loan.

The distributions received on the shares are used to repay the interest accumulated on the loans.

8. LOAN TO THE ARROWHEAD CHARITABLE TRUST

R Company 2015 Company 2014
Balance beginning of the year  134 010 000  134 010 000 

Advances  308 915 000  - 

Interest received on loans (note 21)  11 749 000  12 013 200 

Repayments  (145 759 000)  (12 013 200)

Balance at the end of the year  308 915 000  134 010 000 

Issued 15 500 000 A shares/linked units at R9,95 on 30 June 2015;

Issued 15 500 000 B shares/linked units at R9,98 on 30 June 2015;

Issued 9 000 000 A shares/linked units at R7,57 on 24 April 2013; and

Issued 9 000 000 B shares/linked units at R7,32 on 24 April 2013.

The total subscription price payable for the subscription units will be financed by the trust loan.

The trust loan is secured by a pledge and cession in securitatem debiti of the subscription units and is repayable out of the 

proceeds of the sale by the Arrowhead Charitable Trust of the subscription shares/units.

The interest on the trust loan is equivalent to the interest distribution received on the subscription shares/units.

The trust loan will be repaid in full on the earlier of the fifth anniversary of the subscription date and or the date on which the 

trust and Arrowhead agree in writing that the trust loan will be repaid.

During the year under review, 8,6 million A and 8,6 million B linked units were disposed to settle the loan of R134,0 million.
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9. FINANCIAL ASSETS

R Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014
Investment in Dipula

Comprises 22,0% (2014: 24,5%) of the B shares/
linked units (11,03% (2014: 13,0 %) of the total 
issued shares/linked units) - at fair value through 
profit and loss.*

- Opening balance  290 726 630  -  290 726 630  - 

- Acquisitions - at cost  58 131 519  277 939 020  58 131 519  277 939 020 

- Fair value adjustment  133 561 586  415 319  133 561 586  415 319 

- Accrual for distribution receivable  -  12 372 291  -  12 372 291 

  482 419 735  290 726 630  482 419 735  290 726 630 

*  The decrease in the percentage held at year-end is as a result of the company not acquiring an equivalent percentage of shares which were 

issued in the current year resulting in a dilution in the shareholding.

At year-end no distribution was accrued for as Dipula has de-linked its linked units and as a result of this its income can only 

be recognised once declared as a dividend. Arrowhead has recognised the anticipated dividends in the form of an adjustment at 

year-end to match the anticipated income of the distribution for the period to which the distribution relates - refer to note 24 

for the distributable earnings reconciliation.

10. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES AND LOANS (FROM)/TO SUBSIDIARIES

R Company 2015 Company 2014

a) INVESTMENTS

Vividend and Vividend Management Group

100 % of Vividend and Vividend Management Group - at cost  1 607 650 575  1 607 650 575 

 1 607 650 575  1 607 650 575 

Indluplace#

70.2% (2014: 100%) of Indluplace - at cost  1 222 141 861  - 

 1 222 141 861  - 

 2 829 792 436 1 607 650 575

#  During the year under review Arrowhead listed its residential portfolio on the JSE as a seperate entity, Indluplace. On 19 June 2015 

Indluplace issued 40 000 000 shares for R400,0 million in terms of its pre-listing statement which resulted in a 29,8% dilution of its 

investment in Indluplace. Indluplace is a REIT and is focused on the owning and growing of a substantial residential portfolio from which it 

will pay distributions to shareholders.
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R Company 2015 Company 2014

b) LOANS (FROM)/TO SUBSIDIARIES

(Due to)/owing by Indluplace (631 214) 518 878 861

(Due to)/owing by Vividend Management Group (655 270) 7 810 507

(Due to)/owing by Vividend (31 696 122) 25 504 615

(32 982 606) 552 193 983

2 796 809 830 2 159 844 558

Shown on statement of financial position as:

Interest in subsidiaries 2 829 792 436 2 159 844 558

Long term portion - loans from subsidiary (31 696 122) -

Short term portion - loans from subsidiary (1 286 484) -

2 796 809 830 2 159 844 558

The loans are unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment. The loans from Vividend and Vividend Management Group bear 

interest, which is based on the distributable income of these entities. The loan to Indluplace incurred interest which was based 

on the distributable income up until 31 May 2015. 
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The allowance for doubtful debts has been determined on a tenant by tenant basis.

Receivables past due but not impaired are believed collectable due to the nature of the tenant and payment history.

12. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and 
cash equivalents comprise:

Bank balances  87 187 830  83 074 727  37 049 269  33 586 741 

Cash is invested with Standard Bank and First National Bank.

11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

R Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014
Trade receivables  20 219 671  25 634 946  12 604 839  4 391 727 

Allowance for impairments of trade receivables  (6 856 383)  (6 706 707)  (4 385 486)  (3 131 483)

 13 363 288  18 928 239  8 219 353  1 260 244 

Short term portion of loans to participants of group 
share purchase option schemes (note 7)  9 943 568  -  5 938 376  - 

Municipal deposits  13 610 686  11 466 294  7 388 557  6 542 077 

Prepayments  1 610 046  907 736  952 447  907 736 

Amounts receivable from property managers  22 591 877  -  -  - 

 61 119 465  31 302 269  22 498 733  8 710 057 

Ageing of receivables past due but not impaired

As at 30 September 2015 trade receivables of 
R4 720 452 (2014: R1 762 705) were past due but not 
impaired.

30 days  1 743 649  299 052  1 203 544  228 419 

60 days  707 799  404 841  536 187  129 250 

90 days  356 883  153 733  230 232  140 908 

120+ days  1 912 121  905 079  618 662  701 418 

Total  4 720 452  1 762 705  2 588 625  1 199 995 

Ageing of impaired receivables

Current  489 194  417 552  413 025  349 380 

30 days  802 989  410 025  737 434  304 034 

60 days  279 374  452 415  203 937  140 512 

90 days  255 544  293 514  198 158  223 012 

120+ days  5 029 282  5 133 201  2 832 932  2 114 545 

Total  6 856 383  6 706 707  4 385 486  3 131 483 

Movement on the allowance for impairments of trade 

receivables

Balance at the beginning of the year  6 706 707  4 094 109  3 131 483  2 856 624 

Impairment losses recognised on receivables  149 676  2 612 598  1 254 003  274 859 

Balance at the end of the year  6 856 383  6 706 707  4 385 486  3 131 483 
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13. STATED CAPITAL

R Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014

Authorised

2 000 000 000 ordinary no par value shares 

Issued
875 214 816 (2014: 758 129 170) ordinary shares at 
0,0000001 cent each

 174  139  176  141 

Shares issued during the year  10  35  12  35 

REIT conversion* (note 14)  5 128 004 399  -  5 436 919 395  - 

 5 128 004 583  174  5 436 919 583  176 

Movement for the year

Balance at the beginning of the year  740 129 170  394 790 958  758 129 170  412 790 958 

Shares issued during the year  104 085 104  345 338 212  117 085 104  345 338 212 

Balance at the end of the year  844 214 274  740 129 170  875 214 274  758 129 170 

*  During the year under review, Arrowhead’s REIT conversion process was successfully completed and the company’s linked units were 

delinked on the JSE. The new equity instruments were listed on the JSE on 19 July 2015 as ordinary shares.

The unissued shares are under the control of the directors. This authority remains in force until the next annual general meeting 

of the company on 27 January 2016.

The difference in the issued stated capital between the group and the company is 15,5 million (2014: 9,0 million) A and 

15,5 million B shares, which Arrowhead issued to the Arrowhead Charitable Trust.
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14. DEBENTURES

R Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014

Issued

422 107 408 (2014: 370 064 585) (Group)] 
[437 607 408 (2014: 379 064 585)(Company) A 
debentures at R1,0176]  432 311 386  376 577 722  457 242 586  385 736 122 

422 107 408 (2014: 370 064 585) (Group)] 
[437 607 408 (2014: 379 064 585)(Company) B 
debentures at R1,0176]  432 311 386  376 577 722  457 242 586  385 736 122 

Debenture premium  4 289 498 440  3 523 452 929  4 548 551 036  3 635 931 050 

 - on debentures issued  4 406 485 205  3 625 693 728  4 668 752 880  3 741 386 928 

 - amortisation  (116 986 765)  (102 240 799)  (120 201 844)  (105 455 878)

Debenture issue expenses  (26 116 813)  (20 329 185)  (26 116 813)  (20 329 185)

REIT conversion - transferred to stated capital (note 13)  (5 128 004 399)  -  (5 436 919 395)  - 

 -  4 256 279 188  -  4 387 074 109 

Movement for the year

Balance at the beginning of the year  4 256 279 188  1 890 588 787  4 387 074 109  2 023 087 173 

Debentures issued during the year  892 258 806  2 405 403 907  1 070 378 882  2 405 403 907 

Amortisation of debenture premium  (14 745 966)  (36 008 452)  (14 745 966)  (37 711 916)

Antecedent interest received  23 867 126  31 598 587  23 867 126  31 598 587 

Antecedent interest distributed  (23 867 126)  (31 598 587)  (23 867 126)  (31 598 587)

Debenture issue expenses  (5 787 629)  (3 705 055)  (5 787 630)  (3 705 055)

REIT conversion - transferred to stated capital (note 13)  (5 128 004 399)  -  (5 436 919 395)  - 

Balance at the end of the year  -  4 256 279 188  -  4 387 074 109 

Prior to the conversion to an all-equity share structure

The debentures were unsecured and subordinated in favour of the unsubordinated creditors of the company. 

As the company was obligated to pay interest on the debentures, which interest was calculated in terms of a distributable 

earnings formula and accrued to the debenture holder every three months, the instrument was classified as a liability in 

prior years.

The debentures were redeemable at the instance of the debenture holder by special resolution after 31 August 2041 or 10th 

anniversary following 31 August 2041 or every 10th anniversary following 31 August 2051.

During the year under review, Arrowhead’s REIT conversion process was successfully completed and the company’s linked 

units were delinked on the JSE. The new equity instruments were listed on the JSE on 19 July 2015 and in the future will trade 

as shares in the company.



ARROWHEAD PROPERTIES INTEGRATED FINANCIAL REPORT 2015

www.arrowheadproperties.co.za  /  129 

15. SECURED FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

R Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014

STANDARD BANK

Loan number: 148102  387 284 437  387 284 437  387 284 437  387 284 437 

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, 
bears interest at a fixed rate of 9,37% and is repayable on 
31 March 2020

Loan number: 154824  92 715 563  92 715 563  92 715 563  92 715 563 

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, 
bears interest at a variable rate linked to 3 months JIBAR 
plus 2,54% and is repayable on 31 March 2020

Loan number: 148164  280 000 000  280 000 000  280 000 000  280 000 000 

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, 
bears interest at a variable rate linked to 3 months JIBAR 
plus 2,10% and is repayable on 31 March 2018

Loan number 265125  60 000 000  60 000 000  60 000 000  60 000 000 

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, 
bears interest at a variable rate linked to 3 months JIBAR 
plus 2,10% and is repayable on 30 April 2019

Loan number: 249812  162 879 668  150 000 000  162 879 668  150 000 000 

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, 
bears interest at prime less 1,4% and is repayable on 
31 March 2018

Loan number: 264534  300 000 000  300 000 000  300 000 000  300 000 000 

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, 
bears interest at a variable rate linked to 3 months JIBAR 
plus 1,77% and is repayable on 31 December 2018

Loan number: 266514  270 000 000  270 000 000  270 000 000  270 000 000 

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, 
bears interest at a variable rate linked to 3 months JIBAR 
plus 1,77% repayable on 30 April 2019

Loan number: 148147  -  49 753 900  -  49 753 900 

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, 
bears interest at a variable rate linked to prime less 1,3% 
and is repayable on 31 March 2020
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R Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014

NEDBANK

Loan number: 30142645  200 000 000  200 000 000 - -

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, 
bears interest at prime less 1,45% and is repayable on 
15 August 2017

Loan number: 30149978  610 000 000 - - -

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, 
bears interest at a variable rate linked to 3 months JIBAR 
plus 1,75% repayable on 15 November 2019

Loan number: 30144916  51 000 000 - - -

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, 
bears interest at prime less 1,40% and is repayable on 
18 June 2019

Loan number: 30132981 -  500 000 000 - -

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, 
bears interest at a variable rate linked to 3 months JIBAR 
plus 1,75% repayable on 15 August 2019. During the 
year under review facilities 30132981 and 30140221 was 
replaced with facility 30149978

Loan number: 30140221 -  70 000 000 - -

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, 
bears interest at a variable rate linked to 3 months JIBAR 
plus 1,75% repayable on 15 August 2019. During the 
year under review facilities 30132981 and 30140221 was 
replaced with facility 30149978

Total debt  2 413 879 668  2 359 753 900  1 552 879 668  1 589 753 900 

Less: deferred finance costs  (5 846 430)  (4 070 274)  (3 513 123)  (3 417 691)

Opening balance  (4 070 274)  (1 539 962)  (3 417 691)  (1 539 962)

Finance costs incurred during the year  (3 204 386)  (3 718 125)  (1 200 000)  (2 703 000)

Amortisation for the year (note 21)  1 428 230  1 187 813  1 104 568  825 271 

 2 408 033 238  2 355 683 626  1 549 366 545  1 586 336 209 

Shown on statement of financial position as:

Long term portion  2 408 033 238  2 355 683 626  1 549 366 545  1 586 336 209 

Short term portion  -  -  -  - 

 2 408 033 238  2 355 683 626  1 549 366 545  1 586 336 209 

The above are secured over investment properties valued at R6,1 billion (2014: R6,1 billion).

At year-end, the company’s unutilised loan facilities amounted to R207,0 million (2014: R210,0 million), the gearing ratio was 

27,9% (2014: 33,6%) and the average all inclusive rate of interest was 8,96% (2014: 8,61%).

15. SECURED FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
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16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

R Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014
Rental income received in advance  9 225 419  1 995 000  2 809 788  508 801 

Value added taxation  9 561 831  9 577 102  5 351 694  4 796 935 

Tenant deposits  51 551 397  32 933 314  27 748 718  23 338 435 

Accrued expenses  63 579 937  71 763 641  26 245 042  33 733 960 

Owing for acquisition of investment property  -  50 000 000  -  - 

 133 918 584  166 269 057  62 155 242  62 378 131 

17. LISTED SECURITIES INCOME

Distributions received

 - Dipula  19 114 701  26 973 732  19 114 701  26 973 732 

 - Indluplace  -  -  8 430 531  3 954 428 

 - Vividend  -  38 814 951  -  38 814 951 

 19 114 701  65 788 683  27 545 232  69 743 111 

18. NET OPERATING PROFIT

Net operating profit includes the following items:

Charges

Audit fees  1 193 400  972 875  793 400  948 485 

Depreciation  253 748  356 983  253 748  356 983 

Professional services fee  4 923 349  15 913 201  3 882 564  3 258 437 

Property management fees  37 590 944  21 813 429  20 006 486  19 820 538 

19. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

FEES PAID TO EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Annual salaries   

G. Leissner  3 868 925  2 822 250  3 868 925  2 822 250 

M. Kaplan  3 135 140  2 257 800  3 135 140  2 257 800 

I. Suleman  3 135 140  2 257 800  3 135 140  2 257 800 

 10 139 205  7 337 850  10 139 205  7 337 850 

Fees paid to non executive directors

T. Adler  482 625  247 500  380 625  247 500 

M. Nell  334 400  229 900  334 400  229 900 

S. Noik  350 093  187 550  272 800  187 550 

E. Stroebel  352 191  223 850  352 191  223 850 

Paid by Indluplace *  (179 293)  -  -  - 

  1 340 016  888 800  1 340 016  888 800 

Total remuneration  11 479 221  8 226 650  11 479 221  8 226 650 

* Remuneration for services rendered by Indluplace directors.
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20. CHANGES IN FAIR VALUES 

R Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014

Gain on revaluation of investment property  517 555 669  245 421 250  202 972 577  233 922 338 

Straight line rental income accrual on investment 
property (note 4)

 (19 341 370)  (25 794 665)  (13 913 317)  (28 577 642)

Fair value gains on investment property (note 3)  498 214 299  219 626 585  189 059 260  205 344 696 

Gain on revaluation of listed securities  145 932 004  41 933 238  145 932 004  41 933 238 

Profit on sale of investment properties  596 121  7 955 142  596 121  7 955 141 

Derivative instruments  (4 029 216)  2 877 413  (2 609 588)  (5 182 828)

 640 713 208  272 392 378  332 977 797  250 050 247 

21. NET FINANCE (CHARGES)/INCOME

Finance charges

Interest paid - secured financial liabilities  (193 175 979)  (104 682 259)  (123 570 988)  (89 920 042)

Interest paid - interest rate swaps  (23 687 548)  (9 043 639)  (13 533 887)  (8 272 727)

Interest paid - other  (1 386 958)  (93 486)  (6 492)  (87 904)

Amortisation of structuring fee (note 15)  (1 428 230)  (1 187 813)  (1 104 568)  (825 271)

 (219 678 715)  (115 007 197)  (138 215 935)  (99 105 944)

Interest received
Interest received - bank  4 481 555  2 249 748  3 684 436  1 625 381 

Interest received from tenants  1 274 688  405 014  748 559  366 869 

Interest received - Participants of the Arrowhead 
unit/share Purchase Trust (note 7)

 21 797 221  11 344 166  21 809 333  11 344 166 

Interest received - Participants of the Indluplace 
Share Option Scheme (note 7)

 5 096 587  -  -  - 

Interest received - The Arrowhead Charitable Trust 
(note 8)

 -  -  11 749 000  12 013 200 

Interest received from subsidiary companies  -  -  217 669 205  56 931 155 

 32 650 051  13 998 928  255 660 533  82 280 771 

 (187 028 664)  (101 008 269)  117 444 598  (16 825 173)
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R Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014

STANDARD BANK

Long-term cancellable interest rate swaps

R189 million at a fixed quarter Jibar 3 million fixed 
rate of 6,14%, maturing on 31 May 2018

 4 895 469  7 133 811  4 895 469  7 133 811 

R73 million at a fixed quarter Jibar 3 million fixed 
rate of 6,73%, maturing on 31 May 2018

 1 025 569  1 536 069  1 025 569  1 536 069 

R629 million at a fixed quarter Jibar 3 million fixed 
rate of 7,81%, maturing on 31 March 2019

 (5 238 604)  (5 389 258)  (5 238 604)  (5 389 258)

R113 million at a fixed quarter Jibar 3 million fixed 
rate of 7,79%, maturing on 17  June 2019

 (796 091)  (784 691)  (796 091)  (784 691)

 (113 657)  2 495 931  (113 657)  2 495 931 

The derivative instruments were valued by Standard 
Bank by discounting the future cash flows using the 
JIBAR swap curve. Refer to note 31 for the fair value 
hierarchy.

NEDBANK

Long-term cancellable interest rate swaps

R140 million at a fixed quarter Jibar 3 million fixed 
rate of 7,187%, maturing on 15 August 2017

 (1 332 042)  (1 404 392)  -  - 

R35 million at a fixed quarter Jibar 3 million fixed 
rate of 7,288%, maturing on 15 August 2017

 56 494  212 554  -  - 

R595 million at a fixed quarter Jibar 3 million fixed 
rate of 7,704%, maturing on 2 September 2019

 6 519 570  7 855 488  -  - 

 5 244 022  6 663 650  -  - 

The fair value of the interest rate swap derivative was 
determined by Nedbank Capital and relates to the 
fixed rate swaps relative to 3 month JIBAR.

OTHER
Derivative arising on call option  5 971 548  5 971 548  -  - 

The fair value of the call option was determined by an 
independent, external valuator using the 
Black-Scholes method on 28 February 2014. The 
directors are of the opinion that the value would not 
have changed significantly to 30 September 2015, 
hence no fair value adjustment passed on at year-end. 
The call option relates to Arrowhead as the buyer. 
The put option relates to the seller.

The option relates to the possible acquisition of 
the remaining 10% of the Access Park Property. 
The option is for five years.

The risk free and volatility rates used were 8,54% and 
17,2% respectively.

22. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
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Derivative arising on put option contract  (10 648 207)  (10 648 207)  -  - 

The fair value of the put option was determined 
by an independent, external valuator using the 
Black- Scholes method.

The option relates to the possible acquisition of the 
remaining 10% of Access Park Property. The option 
period is for five years. The risk free and volatility 
rates used were 8,54% and 17,2% respectively.

 (4 676 659)  (4 676 659)  -  - 

Total derivatives  453 706  4 482 922  (113 657)  2 495 931 

Shown on the statement of financial position as follows :

Non-current assets  18 468 650  22 709 470  5 921 038  8 669 880 

Non-current liabilities  (18 014 944)  (18 226 548)  (6 034 695)  (6 173 949)

 453 706  4 482 922  (113 657)  2 495 931 

23. TAXATION

Current taxation  -  -  -  - 

Deferred taxation  -  -  -  - 

Reconciliation of taxation charge

Profit before tax at 28%  276 893 070  91 780 215  179 160 105  88 672 576 

Taxation effect of:  

Unprovided timing differences  (39 732 781)  (12 546 982)  (40 130 276)  (99 418)

Non-taxable income  (4 128 870)  (10 082 367)  (4 128 870)  (10 559 337)

Permanent differences  (140 953 631)  (69 150 866)  (53 122 365)  (78 013 821)

Qualifying distribution  (92 077 788)  -  (81 778 594)  - 

 -  -  -  - 

No provision for normal taxation has been made as the group has an estimated loss for tax purposes of R13,0 million 

(2014: R13,0 million).

No provision for normal taxation has been made as the company has an estimated loss for tax purposes of R11,9 million 

(2014: R11,9 million).

R Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014

22. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
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24. EARNINGS, HEADLINE EARNINGS AND DISTRIBUTABLE EARNINGS

R Group 2015 Group 2014
Number of combined A and B shares/linked units in issue at year-end 844 214 816 740 129 170

Weighted average number of combined shares/linked units in issue used for the calculation of 
earnings and headline earnings per shares/linked unit

811 241 058 557 613 058

Reconciliation of earnings, headline earnings and distributable earnings

Profit for the year attributable to Arrowhead shareholders  945 118 377  327 786 483 

Debenture interest at effective interest rates (note 34)  -  375 200 760 

Earnings  945 118 377  702 987 243 

Changes in fair value of investment property (note 3)  (498 214 299)  (219 626 585)

Changes in fair value of investment property: non-controlling interest  26 671 604  - 

Profit on sale of investment property (note 20)  (596 121)  (7 955 141)

Headline earnings attributable to shareholders/linked unitholders  472 979 561  475 405 517 

Debenture interest at effective interest rates (note 34) - prior to de-linking*  278 136 793 -

Changes in fair values of listed securities income and financial instruments  (141 902 788)  (44 810 651)

Straight line rental income accrual (note 4)  (19 341 370)  (25 794 665)

Straight line rental income accrual: non-controlling interest  425 995  - 

Interest received on the loan to the Arrowhead Charitable Trust eliminated on group level (note 8)  11 749 000  - 

Accrued distribution on financial assets  22 587 017  - 

Other  -  107 

Antecedent interest  21 168 503  31 598 587 

Transaction costs on business combination (note 33)  -  6 408 905 

Amounts available for distribution to shareholders/unitholders  645 802 711  442 807 800 

Basic and diluted earnings per A share/linked unit (cents)  116,50  126,07 

Basic and diluted earnings per B share/linked unit (cents)  116,50  126,07 

Headline earnings per A share/linked unit (cents)  58,30  85,26 

Headline earnings per B share/linked unit (cents)  58,30  85,26 

*  During the current year the debenture interest paid has been excluded from headline earning as the linked units have been de-linked 

resulting in disclosure of earnings per share compared to earnings per unitholder in the prior year. This resulted in a significant decrease in 

the basic and diluted earnings per share as well as the headling earnings per share.

Given the nature of its business, Arrowhead uses distribution per share as its key performance measure as it is considered a 

more relevant performance measure than earnings or headline earnings per share.
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25. NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

25.1 THE FOLLOWING CONVENTION APPLIES TO FIGURES OTHER THAN ADJUSTMENTS

Outflows of cash are represented by figures in brackets. Inflows of cash are represented by figures without brackets.

25.2 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

R Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014
Profit before taxation  988 903 821  327 786 483  639 857 519  316 687 771 

Adjusted for 

Non cash items :  (664 524 541)  (291 678 873)  (353 860 486)  (284 754 413)

Changes in fair values  (640 202 550)  (272 392 378)  (326 788 039)  (250 050 247)

Straight line rental income accrual (note 4)  (19 341 370)  (25 794 665)  (13 913 317)  (28 577 642)

Dividends received (note 17)  (19 114 701)  -  (27 545 232)  - 

Depreciation (note 6)  253 748  356 983  253 748  356 983 

Other movements  (589 973)  (520 974)  (589 973)  (9 343 656)

Amortisation of tenant installations and lease 
commissions 

 13 042 075  5 484 348  13 617 759  2 034 878 

Amortisation of structuring fee (note 21)  1 428 230  1 187 813  1 104 568  825 271 

Net finance charges/(income)  187 028 664  101 008 268  (117 444 598)  16 825 172 

Debenture interest (note 34)  278 136 793  375 200 760  278 136 793  385 510 495 

Operating profit before working capital changes  789 544 737  512 316 638  446 689 228  434 269 025 

Working capital changes  (62 167 669)  15 833 651  (14 011 563)  22 592 468 

Trade and other receivables  (29 817 196)  (20 448 973)  (13 788 675)  8 202 695 

Arising on business combination  -  (82 519 993)  -  - 

Trade and other payables  (32 350 473)  118 802 617  (222 888)  14 389 773 

 727 377 068  528 150 289  432 677 665  456 861 493 

26. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Approved and committed  948 500 000  46 000 000  460 000 000  46 000 000 

Approved not yet committed  -  -  -  - 

 948 500 000  46 000 000  460 000 000  46 000 000 

The acquisition is to be funded from either existing facilities or further book builds.

Refer to note 32 for further details regarding the acquisitions.

Acquisition of investment properties and improvements to existing properties
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27. MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS RECEIVABLE

R Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014
Receivable within one year  631 306 937  466 491 284  420 802 713  446 862 294 

Receivable two to five years  960 854 387  831 459 676  617 959 622  789 075 488 

Receivable beyond five years  202 205 739  191 132 045  163 010 498  189 712 368 

 1 794 367 063  1 489 083 005  1 201 772 833  1 425 650 150 

Minimum lease payments comprises contractual rental income from investment properties and operating lease recoveries due 

in terms of signed lease agreements.

28. RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered related if they meet the defintion of a related party in terms of IAS 24.

Relationships
Subsidiaries -  Refer to note 10, Indite Properties Limited.

Other -  The Arrowhead Charitable Trust;

 Participants of the Arrowhead share/unit purchase trust; and

 Participants of the Indluplace share purchase option scheme.

Directors’ emoluments :  11 479 221  8 226 650 

Executive directors (note 19)  10 139 205  7 337 850 

Non-executive directors (note 19)  1 340 016  888 800 

Balances owing by related parties :

Loans to directors (note 7)  417 147 256  136 653 632  241 353 626  136 653 632 

Loan to Arrowhead Charitable Trust (note 8)  -  -  308 915 000  134 010 000 

Loans to subsidiaries (note 10)  -  -  (32 982 606)  552 193 983 

Transactions :

Interest received from subsidiaries (note 21) - -  217 669 205  56 931 155 

Interest received from The Arrowhead Charitable 
Trust (note 21) - - 11 749 000 12 013 200

Interest received from participants of group share 
purchase option schemes (note 21) 26 893 808 11 344 166 21 809 333 11 344 166

Dividends received from subsidiaries (note 17) - - 8 430 531 42 769 379

Management fees received from subsidiaries - -  900 000  7 428 142 
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The group’s financial instruments consists mainly of deposits with banks, interest bearing liabilities, derivative instruments, 

trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, debentures and linked unitholders for distribution. Book value 

approximates fair value in respect of these financial instruments.

Exposure to market, credit and liquidity risks arises in the normal course of business.

The table below sets out the classification of each class of financial asset and liability and their fair values.

Group At amortised cost

 At fair value 
through profit 

or loss 
Non-financial 

instrument Total

As at 30 September 2015

Trade and other receivables  59 509 419  -  1 610 046  61 119 465 

Derivative instruments  -  18 468 650  -  18 468 650 

Financial assets  -  482 419 735  -  482 419 735 

Loans to participants of group share purchase 
option schemes  433 885 591  -  -  433 885 591 

Cash and cash equivalents  87 187 830  -  -  87 187 830 

Total financial assets  580 582 840  500 888 385  1 610 046  1 083 081 271 

Secured financial liabilities  2 408 033 238  -  -  2 408 033 238 

Derivative instruments  18 014 944  -  18 014 944 

Trade and other payables  115 131 334  -  18 787 250  133 918 584 

Total financial liabilities  2 523 164 572  18 014 944  18 787 250  2 559 966 766 

As at 30 September 2014

Trade and other receivables  30 394 533  -  907 736  31 302 269 

Derivative instruments  -  22 709 470  -  22 709 470 

Financial assets  -  290 726 630 -  290 726 630 

Loans to participants of group share purchase 
option schemes  142 950 031  -  -  142 950 031 

Cash and cash equivalents  83 074 727  -  -  83 074 727 

Total financial assets  256 419 291  313 436 100  907 736  570 763 127 

Debentures  4 256 279 188  -  -  4 256 279 188 

Secured financial liabilities  2 355 683 626  -  -  2 355 683 626 

Derivative instruments  -  18 226 548  -  18 226 548 

Trade and other payables  156 691 954  -  9 577 103  166 269 057 

Unitholders for distribution  138 096 036  -  -  138 096 036 

Total financial liabilities  6 906 750 804  18 226 548  9 577 103  6 934 554 455 
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Company At amortised cost

 At fair value 
through profit 

or loss 
Non Financial 

instrument Total

As at 30 September 2015

Trade and other receivables  21 546 286  -  952 447  22 498 733 

Derivative instruments  -  5 921 038  -  5 921 038 

Financial assets  482 419 735  -  482 419 735 

Loan to the Arrowhead Charitable Trust  308 915 000  -  -  308 915 000 

Loans to participants of group share purchase 
option schemes  258 091 961  -  -  258 091 961 

Cash and cash equivalents  37 049 269  -  -  37 049 269 

Total financial assets 625 602 516  488 340 773  952 447 1 114 895 736 

Secured financial liabilities  1 549 366 545  -  -  1 549 366 545 

Derivative instruments -  6 034 695  -  6 034 695 

Trade and other payables 53 993 760  - 8 161 482  62 155 242 

Loans to subsidiaries  32 982 606  -  -  32 982 606

Total financial liabilities 1 636 342 911  6 034 695 8 161 482  1 650 539 088 

As at 30 September 2014

Trade and other receivables  7 802 321  -  907 736  8 710 057 

Derivative instruments  -  8 669 880  -  8 669 880 

Financial assets  -  290 726 630  -  290 726 630 

Loans to subsidiaries  552 193 983  -  -  552 193 983 

Loan to the Arrowhead Charitable Trust  134 010 000  -  -  134 010 000 

Loans to participants of group share purchase 
option schemes  142 950 031  -  -  142 950 031 

Cash and cash equivalents  33 586 741  -  -  33 586 741 

Total financial assets  870 543 076  299 396 510  907 736  1 170 847 322 

Debentures  4 387 074 109  -  -  4 387 074 109 

Secured financial liabilities  1 586 336 209  -  -  1 586 336 209 

Derivative instruments  -  6 173 949  -  6 173 949 

Trade and other payables  57 581 196  -  4 796 935  62 378 131 

Unitholders for distribution  138 096 036  -  -  138 096 036 

Total financial liabilities  6 169 087 550  6 173 949  4 796 935  6 180 058 434 
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Interest rate risk

The group manages its exposure to changes in interest rates by hedging its exposure to interest rates in respect of the majority 

of its borrowings either in the form of fixed rate loans or interest rate swaps. At year-end, interest rates in respect of 90% 

(2014: 91%) of borrowings were hedged.

The average rate of interest for the year was 8,96% (2014: 8,61%). The value of unhedged borrowings is R207,0 million 

(2014: R212,0 million), and as a result, the company’s unhedged exposure is immaterial at year-end.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will not be able to meet its financial commitments as and when they fall due. This risk 

is managed by holding cash balances and a revolving loan facility and by regularly monitoring cash flows.

No interest payments on debentures have been included as the amounts involved are dependent on future changes in income 

enhancing investment property.

The group will utilise undrawn facilities and cash on hand to meet its short term funding requirements.

A maturity analysis of the company’s financial assets and liabilities and its exposure to interest rate risk at year-end are set out 

in the proceeding table:

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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Group:

 Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate % 

 Less than 
one year 

 One to five 
years 

 More than 
five years  Total

As at 30 September 2015

Trade and other receivables  61 119 465  -  -  61 119 465 

Derivative instruments Average 6,78  -  18 468 650  -  18 468 650 

Financial assets  -  -  482 419 735  482 419 735 

Loans to participants of group share 
purchase option schemes 9,0  -  433 885 591  -  433 885 591 

Cash and cash equivalents 4,5  87 187 830  -  -  87 187 830 

Total financial assets  148 307 295  452 354 241  482 419 735  1 083 081 271 

Secured financial liabilities 8,96  -  2 408 033 238  -  2 408 033 238 

Interest outflow on secured financial liabilities  215 759 778  863 039 112  -  1 078 798 890 

Trade and other payables  133 918 584  -  -  133 918 584 

Derivative instruments Average 6,44  -  18 014 944  -  18 014 944 

Total financial liabilities  349 678 362  3 289 087 294  -  3 638 765 656 

As at 30 September 2014

Trade and other receivables  31 302 269  -  -  31 302 269 

Derivative instruments Average 6,96  -  22 709 470  -  22 709 470 

Financial assets  -  -  290 726 630  290 726 630 

Loans to participants of group share 
purchase option schemes 8,61  -  142 950 031  -  142 950 031 

Cash and cash equivalents 4,5  83 074 727  -  -  83 074 727 

Total financial assets  114 376 996  165 659 501  290 726 630  570 763 127 

Debentures Variable  -  -  4 256 279 188  4 256 279 188 

Secured financial liabilities 8,17  -  2 355 683 626  -  2 355 683 626 

Interest outflow on secured financial liabilities  193 385 944  323 548 614  -  516 934 558 

Trade and other payables  166 269 057  - -  166 269 057 

Derivative instruments Average 7,6  -  18 226 548  -  18 226 548 

Unitholders for distribution Variable  138 096 036  -  -  138 096 036 

Total financial liabilities  497 751 037  2 697 458 788  4 256 279 188  7 451 489 013 
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Company:

 Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate % 

 Less than 
one year 

 One to five 
years 

 More than 
five years  Total

As at 30 September 2015
Trade and other receivables  22 498 733  -  -  22 498 733 

Derivative instruments Average 6,14  -  5 921 038  -  5 921 038 

Financial assets  -  -  482 419 735  482 419 735 

Loans to participants of group share 
purchase option schemes 9,0  -  258 091 961  -  258 091 961 

Loan to the Arrowhead Charitable Trust  -  308 915 000  -  308 915 000 

Cash and cash equivalents 4,5  37 049 269  -  -  37 049 269 

Total financial assets  59 548 002  572 927 999  482 419 735 1 114 895 736 

Secured financial liabilities 8,53  -  1 549 366 545  -  1 549 366 545 

Interest outflow on secured financial liabilities  132 160 966  528 643 865  -  660 804 831 

Trade and other payables  62 155 242  -  -  62 155 242 

Loans to subsidiaries  1 286 484 31 696 122  -  32 982 606

Derivative instruments Average 6,14  -  6 034 695  -  6 034 695 

Total financial liabilities  195 602 692  2 115 741 227  -  2 311 343 919 

As at 30 September 2014

Trade and other receivables  8 710 057  -  -  8 710 057 

Derivative instruments Average 6,96  -  8 669 880  -  8 669 880 

Financial assets  -  290 726 630  290 726 630 

Loans to participants of the Arrowhead Unit 
Purchase Trust 8,61  -  142 950 031  -  142 950 031 

Loans to subsidiaries  -  -  552 193 983  552 193 983 

Loan to Arrowhead Charitable Trust  -  134 010 000  -  134 010 000 

Cash and cash equivalents 4,5  33 586 741  -  -  33 586 741 

Total financial assets  42 296 798  285 629 911  842 920 613  1 170 847 322 

Debentures Variable  -  -  4 387 074 109  4 387 074 109 

Secured financial liabilities 8,17  -  1 586 336 209  -  1 586 336 209 

Interest outflow on secured financial liabilities  194 585 944  327 845 600  -  522 431 544 

Trade and other payables  62 378 131  -  -  62 378 131 

Derivative instruments Average 6,44  -  6 173 949  -  6 173 949 

Unitholders for distribution Variable  138 096 036  -  -  138 096 036 

Total financial liabilities  395 060 111  1 920 355 758  4 387 074 109  6 702 489 978 

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the risk that a tenant may default or not meet its obligations timeously. The financial position of the 

tenants is monitored on an ongoing basis. The risk is minimised as receivables are spread over a wide customer base. Allowance 

is made for specific doubtful debts and credit risk is therefore limited to the carrying amount of the financial asset at year-end.

Receivables past due but not impaired are believed collectable due to the nature of the tenant and payment history.

Other than mortgage bonds on investment properties, no other assets have been issued as collateral or security.

The impairment allowance at 30 September 2015 of R6,9 million (2014: R6,7 million), net of tenant deposits and guarantees, 

relates to tenants who have either vacated the premises or who have been handed over for non payment.

The credit quality of receivables neither past due nor impaired are considered satisfactory.

Management does not consider there to be any credit risk exposure that is not already covered in the impairment. The carrying 

value of receivables is considered to reasonably approximate fair value.

30. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The company’s borrowings, excluding debentures, are limited to 50% of the valuation of the investment property portfolio in 

terms of the existing debt covenants and unlimited in terms of the memorandum of incorporation of the company.

As at 30 September 2015, the unutilised borrowing capacity of the company was as follows:

R Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014
Investment properties at valuation  8 646 307 335  7 015 344 150  4 435 990 345  4 220 385 999 

50% thereof  4 323 153 668  3 507 672 075  2 217 995 172  2 110 193 000 

Total borrowings  (2 413 879 668)  (2 359 753 900)  (1 552 879 668)  (1 589 753 900)

Unutilised borrowing capacity  1 909 274 000  1 147 918 175  665 115 504  520 439 100 

Management is committed to a gearing level of a maximum of 40%.

31. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The different levels have been defined as:
Level 1 - fair value is determined from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical asset or liabilities;

Level 2 -  fair value is determined through the use of valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly 

or indirectly; and

Level 3 - fair value is determined through the use of valuation techniques using significant inputs.

The investment in Dipula units are valued using a level 1 model. 

The derivative instruments are valued using a level 2 model. 

Investment property is valued using a level 3 model.

Measurement of fair value for level 3

Investment property is measured using the discounted net cashflow method. Using the expected net income an appropiate 

capitalisation rate is applied. During the year under review, 57,9% of the property portfolio was valued externally with the 

balance being valued by the executive directors. 
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Designated at fair 
value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

GROUP

Year ended 30 September 2015

Investment property (including non-current 

assets held for sale)  8 646 307 335  -  -  8 646 307 335 

Financial assets  500 888 385  482 419 735  12 497 102  5 971 548 

Listed securities  482 419 735  482 419 735  -  - 

Interest rate swaps  12 497 102  -  12 497 102  - 

Other financial assets  5 971 548  -  -  5 971 548 

Total assets  9 147 195 720  482 419 735  12 497 102  8 652 278 883 

Financial liabilities  18 014 944  -  7 366 737  10 648 207 

Interest rate swaps  7 366 737  -  7 366 737  - 

Other financial liabilities  10 648 207  -  -  10 648 207 

Total liabilities  18 014 944  -  7 366 737  10 648 207 

COMPANY

Year ended 30 September 2015

Investment property (including non-current 

assets held for sale)  4 435 990 345  -  -  4 435 990 345 

Financial assets  488 340 773  482 419 735  5 921 038  - 

Listed securities  482 419 735  482 419 735  -  - 

Interest rate swaps  5 921 038  -  5 921 038  - 

Total assets  4 924 331 118  482 419 735  5 921 038  4 435 990 345 

Financial liabilities  6 034 695  -  6 034 695  - 

Interest rate swaps  6 034 695  -  6 034 695  - 

Total liabilities  6 034 695  -  6 034 695  - 

The key inputs are as follows:
Expected net operating income;

Discount rate;

Growth rate; and

Vacancy factor.

31. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (CONTINUED)
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Designated at fair 
value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

GROUP

Year ended 30 September 2014

Investment property (including 

non-current assets held for sale) 7 015 344 150  -  -  7 015 344 150 

Financial assets  313 436 100  290 726 630  16 737 922  5 971 548 

Listed securities  290 726 630  290 726 630  -  - 

Interest rate swaps  16 737 922  -  16 737 922  - 

Other financial assets  5 971 548  -  -  5 971 548 

Total assets  7 328 780 250  290 726 630  16 737 922  7 021 315 698 

Financial liabilities  18 226 548  -  7 578 341  10 648 207 

Interest rate swaps  7 578 341  -  7 578 341  - 

Other financial liabilities  10 648 207  -  -  10 648 207 

Total liabilities  18 226 548  -  7 578 341  10 648 207 

COMPANY

Year ended 30 September 2014

Investment property (including 

non-current assets held for sale)

 4 220 385 999  -  -  4 220 385 999 

Financial assets  299 396 510  290 726 630  8 669 880  - 

Listed securities  290 726 630  290 726 630  -  - 

Interest rate swaps  8 669 880  -  8 669 880  - 

Total assets  4 519 782 509  290 726 630  8 669 880  4 220 385 999 

Financial liabilities  6 173 949  -  6 173 949  - 

Interest rate swaps  6 173 949  -  6 173 949  - 

Total liabilities  6 173 949  -  6 173 949  - 
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33. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

In the prior year the group acquired both Vividend Income Fund and the associated management company for a consideration 

of R1,6 billion. The acquired operations contributed revenue of R83,5 million and net profit of R5,0 million to the group for 

the year ended 30 September 2014. Had the acquired operations been acquired on 1 October 2013, the revenue and net profit 

contribution would have been R358,0 million and R47,0 million respectively.

Goodwill - R Group 2015 Group 2014
Cost  176 830 044  176 830 044 

Movement for the year

Opening balance  176 830 044  - 

Additions through business combinations  -  176 830 044 

 176 830 044  176 830 044 

These amounts have been calculated using the group’s accounting policies.

32. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The directors are not aware of any other matter or circumstances arising since the end of the financial period until date of this 

report, except for the below:

•  As announced on SENS on 2 October 2015, Arrowhead has concluded an agreement with Redefine Properties Limited 

for the acquisition of the rental enterprise of the retail centre known as Cleary Park in the Eastern Cape for an amount of 

R460,0 million.

•  As announced on SENS on 19 October 2015, Indluplace entered into a memorandum of understanding subject to certain 

conditions precedent, with SAWHF, a fund managed by the International Housing Solutions Group, for the acquisition of 

approximately R782,0 million portfolio of residential properties (“the residential property portfolio”) (“the acquisition”) 

at a net yield of 8,4%. The residential property portfolio consists of about 1 400 units located in Western Cape (21%), 

Mpumalanga (23%) and the remainder in Gauteng. The residential property portfolio also includes a development that will 

be completed early in 2016. 

•  As announced on SENS on 21 October 2015, Indluplace conducted a book build initially looking to raise R350,0 million 

and in light of the strong demand raised R470,0 million through the issue of 44 761 904 new shares at R10,50 per share, a 

discount of 2,9% to the closing price of the previous day.
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R

Group 2015

Acquiree’s fair 
value

Group 2014

Acquiree’s fair 
value

Investment Property  - 2 269 726 741

Long term liabilities  - (775 058 125)

Working capital  - (82 519 993)

Derivatives  - 4 676 659

Cash and cash equivalents  - 7 869 815

Fair value of assets acquired  - 1 424 695 097

Goodwill recognised  - 176 830 044

Purchase consideration  - 1 601 525 141

Total purchase consideration  - 1 601 525 141

Less: Paid for by issue of units  - (1 458 391 174)

: Cash and cash equivalents in operations acquired  - (7 869 815)

:  Fair value in change (when holding changed from at fair value through profit and loss 
to subsidiary)  - (41 517 919)

Add: Transaction costs expensed  - 6 408 905

Cash outflows on acquisition  - 100 155 138

The goodwill that arose was due to the expected synergies between the two companies.

The goodwill that arose was allocated to the Vividend cash generating unit. The goodwill was tested at year-end for impairment 

by comparing the carrying amount to the value in use. The cash flows used in the value in use calculation was the forecast 

distribution for the 2016 financial year capitalised at a rate of 9,85%. The following key assumptions were applied in calculating 

the forecast distribution:

Average rental increase - 7,5%;

Average increase in operating costs - 7,5%; and

All profits will be distrubuted to shareholders and thus no tax is payable.

Impairment of goodwill
The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is based on the higher of the fair value less cost to sell or value-in-use 

calculations. The calculations use discounted cashflow projections based on financial forecasts over a 3 year period.

The discount rate used in the cashflow model is 9,85%.

The discount rate is a pre-tax rate that reflects the current market assessments of the time-value of money and risks specied to 

the cash-generating unit.

The growth rate used in forecasted cashflows are estimated at 7,5%.

A reasonable change in the assumptions applied would not results in the carrying amount exceeding the recoverable amount.

Therefore no impairment is required.
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34. DEBENTURE INTEREST

R Group 2015 Group 2014 Company 2015 Company 2014
Distributed to unitholders during the year  316 749 885  442 807 799  316 749 885  454 820 999 

Amortisation of debenture premium  (14 745 966)  (36 008 452)  (14 745 966)  (37 711 917)

Antecedent interest portion included in intial value of 
the debenture liability

 (23 867 126)  (31 598 587)  (23 867 126)  (31 598 587)

Debenture interest at effective interest rates  278 136 793  375 200 760  278 136 793  385 510 495 

35. OPERATING SEGMENTS 

The entity has four reportable segments based on the geographic split of the country which are the entity's strategic business 

segments. For each strategic business segments, the entity's executive directors review internal management reports on a 

monthly basis. All segments are located in South Africa. There are no single major customers.

The following summary describes the operations in each of the entity's reportable segments.

R Gauteng KwaZulu-Natal Eastern Cape Other Total

30 SEPTEMBER 2015
Contractual rental income  893 760 298  126 486 574  57 941 033  139 725 413  1 217 913 318 

Straight line rental income accrual  -  -  -  19 341 370  19 341 370 

Listed securities income  -  -  -  19 114 701  19 114 701 

Operating and administration costs  (311 392 039)  (48 191 419)  (17 296 355)  (66 133 506)  (443 013 319)

Net operating profit  582 368 259  78 295 155  40 644 678  112 047 978  813 356 070 

Interest received  1 063 164  78 166  19 013  31 489 708  32 650 051 

Finance charges  (12 821)  (350)  (1 164)  (219 664 380)  (219 678 715)

Net operating income/(loss)  583 418 602  78 372 971  40 662 527  (76 126 694)  626 327 406 

Changes in fair values  -  -  -  640 713 208  640 713 208 

Reportable segment profit before 

debenture interest and tax  583 418 602  78 372 971  40 662 527  564 586 514  1 267 040 614 

Debenture interest  -  -  -  (278 136 793)  (278 136 793)

Taxation  -  -  -  -  - 

Reportable segment profit after 

debenture interest and tax  583 418 602  78 372 971  40 662 527  286 449 721  988 903 821 

Reportable segment assets  4 490 346 930  829 675 900  374 610 310  4 211 869 776  9 906 502 916 

Reportable segment liabilities  (73 382 794)  (14 040 197)  (5 033 714)  (2 467 510 061)  (2 559 966 766)

 4 416 964 136  815 635 703  369 576 596  1 744 359 715  7 346 536 150 
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R Gauteng KwaZulu-Natal Eastern Cape Other Total

30 SEPTEMBER 2014
Contractual rental income 443 659 716 80 720 941 45 652 793 141 894 508 711 927 958

Straight line rental income accrual - - - 25 794 665 25 794 665

Listed securities income - - - 65 788 683 65 788 683

Other income 39 711 50 498 2 265 218 606 311 080

Operating and administration costs (152 525 966) (30 166 713) (12 325 649) (77 200 924) (272 219 252)

Net operating profit 291 173 461 50 604 726 33 329 409 156 495 538 531 603 134

Interest received 157 552 55 038 3 794 13 782 544 13 998 928

Finance charges (23 157) - (2 508) (114 981 533) (115 007 197)

Net operating income 291 307 856 50 659 764 33 330 695 55 296 549 430 594 865

Changes in fair values - - - 272 392 378 272 392 378

Reportable segment profit before 

debenture interest and tax

291 307 856 50 659 764 33 330 695 327 688 927 702 987 243

Debenture interest - - - (375 200 760) (375 200 760)

Taxation - - - - -

Reportable segment profit after 

debenture interest and tax

291 307 856 50 659 764 33 330 695 (47 511 833) 327 786 483

Reportable segment assets 4 495 671 707 961 231 992 455 186 150 1 851 157 359 7 763 247 208

Reportable segment liabilities (795 502 786) (310 361 829) (73 957 495) (5 754 732 345) (6 934 554 455)

3 700 168 921 650 870 163 381 228 655 (3 903 574 986) 828 692 753



ARROWHEAD PROPERTIES INTEGRATED FINANCIAL REPORT 2015

Integrated annual report 2015

Administration

ARROWHEAD PROPERTES LIMITED 

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

Company registration number: 2011/000308/06

JSE share code: AWA

ISIN: ZAE000203105

JSE share code: AWB 

ISIN: ZAE000203113

Office 206, 2nd Floor, 18 Melrose Boulevard, 

Melrose Arch, 2196

PO Box 685, Melrose Arch, Johannesburg, 2076

+27 (0)10 1000 076

www.arrowheadproperties.co.za

info@arrowheadproperties.co.za

150  /



ARROWHEAD PROPERTIES INTEGRATED FINANCIAL REPORT 2015

www.arrowheadproperties.co.za  /  151 

COMMERCIAL BANKERS

The Standard Bank of South Africa 
Limited

30 Baker Street, Rosebank, 2196

PO Box 7725, Johannesburg, 2000

+27 (0)11 636 9111

Nedbank Group Limited

135 Rivonia Road, Sandown, 2196

PO Box 1144, Johannesburg, 2000

+27 (0)11 294 4444 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Grant Thornton Johannesburg 
Partnership

Wanderers Office Park, 52 Corlett Dr, 

Johannesburg, 2196

Private Bag X 10046, Sandton, 2146

+27 (0)10 590 7200

COMPANY SECRETARY

CIS Company Secretaries (Pty) Ltd

70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001

PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107

+27 (0)11 370 5000

TRANSFER SECRETARIES

Computershare Investor Services 
(Pty) Ltd

70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001

PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107

+27 (0)11 370 5000

PROPERTY MANAGER

JHI Properties (Pty) Ltd

Block A/B, 3A Summmit Road, Dunkeld 

West, Johannesburg, 2196

Private Bag X45, Benmore, 2010

+27 (0)11 911 8000

INDEPENDENT VALUER

LDM Valuation Solutions (Pty) Ltd

50 Bristol Road, Saxonwold, 

Johannesburg, 2196

PO Box 673, Halfway House, 1685

+27 (0)11 442 0754

Real Insight (Pty) Ltd

3rd Floor, North Wing, Hyde Park, 

Johannesburg, 2196

PO Box 413581, Craighall, 2024

+27 (0)11 325 6511

CORPORATE ADVISOR

Java Capital (Pty) Ltd

6A Sandown Valley Crescent, Sandton, 

2196, Johannesburg

PO Box 2087, Parklands, 2121

+27 (0)11 722 3050

LEGAL ADVISOR

Couzyns Inc

1st Floor, Rosebank Corner, 

191 Jan Smuts Avenue, Rosebank, 

Johannesburg 2193

PO Box 2242, Johannesburg, 2000

+27 (0)11 788 0188

Cliffe Dekker Hofmeyr Inc

1 Protea Place, c/o Fredman and Protea 

Place, Sandton, 2196

Private Bag X40, Benmore, 2010

+27 (0)11 562 1000

SPONSOR AND TRUSTEE FOR 
DEBENTURE HOLDERS

Java Capital Trustees and Sponsors 
(Pty) Ltd

6A Sandown Valley Crescent, Sandton, 

2196, Johannesburg

PO Box 2087, Parklands, 2121

+27 (0)11 722 3050



ARROWHEAD PROPERTIES INTEGRATED FINANCIAL REPORT 2015

Integrated annual report 2015152  /

Shareholders’ diary

Annual general meeting

27 January 2016

DIVIDEND TIMETABLE FOR THE 2016 FINANCIAL YEAR

Distribution number 17 18 19 20

Three months ended 31 December 2015 31 March 2016 30 June 2016 30 September 2016

Declaration date 17 February 2016 18 May 2016 17 August 2016 16 November 2016

Shares trade ex distribution 29 February 2016 30 May 2016 29 August 2016 5 December 2016

Payment date 7 March 2016 6 June 2016 5 September 2016 12 December 2016
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Arrowhead Properties Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) 
(Registration number 2011/000308/06)
JSE share code: AWA ISIN: ZAE000203105 
JSE share code: AWB ISIN: ZAE000203113
(Approved as a REIT by the JSE) 
(“Arrowhead” or “the company”)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF A AND B SHAREHOLDERS

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of A and B shareholders of 

Arrowhead (“shareholders”) will be held at the offices of Arrowhead, 2nd Floor, 

18 Melrose Boulevard, Melrose Arch, Johannesburg on Wednesday, 27 January 2016 

at 10h00 (the “annual general meeting”) for the purposes of:

•  presenting the directors’ report, the social and ethics committee report, the 

audited annual financial statements and the audit and risk committee report of 

the company for the year ended 30 September 2015 contained in the integrated 

annual report to which this notice of annual general meeting is attached; 

•  transacting any other business as may be transacted at an annual general 

meeting of shareholders of a company including the re-appointment of the 

auditors and re-election of retiring directors; and 

•  considering and, if deemed fit, adopting with or without modification, the 

shareholder ordinary and special resolutions set out below. 

In terms of section 59(1)(a) and (b) of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended 

(the “Companies Act” or “Act”), the Board has set the record date for the purpose 

of determining which shareholders are entitled to:

•  receive notice of the annual general meeting (being the date on which the 

shareholder must be registered in the share register in order to receive notice of 

the annual general meeting); and 

•  participate in and vote at the annual general meeting (being the date on which 

the shareholder must be registered in the company’s share register in order to 

participate in and vote at the annual general meeting), as follows: 

Notice of the annual general meeting
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In terms of section 62(3)(e) of the Companies Act:

•  a shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy/ies to attend, 

participate in and vote at the annual general meeting in the place of the shareholder, by completing the form of proxy in 

accordance with the instruction set out therein; and 

• a proxy need not be a shareholder of the company. 

Kindly note that in terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act, meeting participants (including proxies) are required to 

provide reasonably satisfactory identification before being entitled to attend or participate in the annual general meeting. In 

this regard, all Arrowhead shareholders recorded in the register of the company on the voting record date will be required to 

provide identification satisfactory to the chairman of the annual general meeting. Forms of identification include valid identity 

documents, driver’s licences and passports.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 1: 
Re-election of M. Kaplan, I. Suleman and T. Adler as directors

“Resolved that the following be re-elected as directors of the company (each by way of a seperate vote):

 1.1  M. Kaplan who retires in terms of the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and who, being eligible, 

offers himself for re-election;

 1.2  I. Suleman who retires in terms of the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and who, being eligible, 

offers himself for re- election; and

 1.3  T. Adler who retires in terms of the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and who, being eligible, 

offers himself for re- election.”

Brief curricula vitae in respect of M. Kaplan, I. Suleman and T. Adler is set out on pages 22 to 23 of the integrated annual report 

of which this notice forms part.

The Board has considered each of M. Kaplan, I. Suleman and T. Adler’s past performances and contribution to the company and 

recommends that M. Kaplan, I. Suleman and T. Adler be re-elected as directors of the company.

In order for each of ordinary resolutions 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3 to be adopted, the support of more than 50% of the total number of 

votes exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required.

Event Date

Last day to trade in order to be eligible to participate in and vote at 

the annual general meeting on Friday, 15 January 2016

Record date for voting purposes (“voting record date”) on Friday, 22 January 2016

Last day to lodge forms of proxy for the annual general meeting on Monday, 25 January 2016

Annual general meeting (at 10:00) on Wednesday, 27 January 2016

Results of annual general meeting released on SENS on Wednesday, 27 January 2016
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ORDINARY RESOLUTION 2: 
Re-appointment of members of the audit and risk committee

“Resolved that the members of the company’s audit and risk committee set out below be and are hereby re-appointed, each by 

way of a separate vote, with effect from the end of this annual general meeting in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act. 

The membership as proposed by the remuneration committee is:

2.1 S. Noik (Chairman),

2.2 E. Stroebel; and

2.3 T. Adler,

all of whom are independent non-executive directors.”

Brief curriculum vitae of each of the above audit and risk committee members is set out on pages 22 to 23 of the integrated 

annual report.

In order for ordinary resolutions 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3 to be adopted, the support of more than 50% of the total number of votes 

exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required to pass these resolutions.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 3: 
Re-appointment of auditors

“Resolved that Grant Thornton, together with Jacques Barradas be and are hereby re-appointed as the auditors of the company 

from the conclusion of this annual general meeting until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting.”

The audit and risk committee has nominated Grant Thornton for appointment as auditors of the company under section 90 of 

the Companies Act.

In order for ordinary resolution 3 to be adopted, the support of more than 50% of the total number of votes exercisable by 

shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required to pass this resolution.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 4: 
Unissued shares

“Resolved that, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (“the JSE Listings 

Requirements”) and the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation the authorised but unissued shares of the company be 

and are hereby placed under the control of the directors of the company with the authority to allot and issue and otherwise 

dispose of all or part thereof in their discretion to fund acquisition issues and/or vendor consideration placings, as defined in 

the JSE Listings Requirements, provided that such allotment or issue or disposal is subject to a maximum discount of 10% of 

the weighted average traded price on the JSE of those shares over the 10 business days prior to the date that the price of the 

issue is agreed between the company and the party subscribing for the shares, adjusted for a dividend where the “ex” date of the 

dividend occurs during the 10 business day period in question.”

In order for ordinary resolution 4 to be adopted, the support of more than 50% of the total number of votes exercisable by 

shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required to pass this resolution.
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ORDINARY RESOLUTION 5:
General authority to issue shares for cash

“Resolved that, subject to the restrictions set out below and subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the JSE Listings 

Requirements and the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, the directors of the company be and are hereby authorised 

until this authority lapses at the next annual general meeting of the company, provided that this authority shall not extend 

beyond 15 months, to allot and issue A and B shares (collectively “shares”) in the capital of the company for cash on the 

following basis:

•  the shares which are the subject of the issue for cash must be of a class already in issue or, where this is not the case, must be 

limited to such shares or rights as are convertible into a class already in issue;

•  the allotment and issue of shares for cash shall be made only to persons qualifying as “public shareholders”, as defined in the 

JSE Listings Requirements, and not to “related parties”;

•  shares which are the subject of general issues for cash shall not exceed 23 436 613 A shares and 23 436 613 B shares being 

5% of the company’s total shares in issue as at the date of notice of this annual general meeting.

  Accordingly, any shares issued under this authority prior to this authority lapsing shall be deducted from the 23 436 613 A 

shares and 23 436 613 B shares the company is authorised to issue in terms of this authority for the purpose of determining 

the remaining number of shares that may be issued in terms of this authority;

•  in the event of a sub-division or consolidation of shares, prior to this authority lapsing, the existing authority shall be 

adjusted accordingly to represent the same allocation ratio;

•  the maximum discount at which the shares may be issued is 10% of the weighted average traded price of such shares 

measured over the 30 business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed between the company and the party 

subscribing for the shares adjusted for a dividend where the “ex” date of the dividend occurs during the 30 day period in 

question;
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•  after the company has issued shares in terms of this general authority to issue shares for cash representing on a cumulative 

basis within a financial year, 5% or more of the number of shares in issue prior to that issue, the company shall publish an 

announcement containing full details of that issue, including:

 • the number of shares issued;

 •  the average discount to the weighted average traded price of the shares over the 30 business days prior to the date that 

the issue is agreed in writing between the company and the party/ies subscribing for the shares; and 

 •  an explanation, including supporting documentation (if any), of the intended use of the funds.”

For the avoidance of doubt, insofar as A and B shares are issued pursuant to this general authority at any time prior to the 

implementation of any transaction to restructure the share capital of the company such that it comprises a single class of share 

only, the A and B shares so issued shall be taken into account in determining the aggregate number of shares of the company 

issued pursuant to this general authority.

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, in order for ordinary resolution 5 to be adopted, the support of at least 75% of the 

total number of votes exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required to pass this resolution.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 6: 
Unissued Arrowhead shares placed under the control of the directors for acquisition issues and/or vendor consideration placings 
in respect of the period commencing from the date of this notice of annual general meeting and expiring on Wednesday, 
20 January 2016 (being 5 business days before the date of the annual general meeting)

“Resolved that the authorised and unissued shares of the company be and are hereby placed under the control of the directors 

of the company, which directors are, subject to the JSE Listings Requirements, the provisions of the Companies Act and the 

company’s Memorandum of Incorporation authorised to allot and issue up to 25 000 000 A shares and 25 000 000 B shares, at 

such time or times, to such persons, and upon the terms and conditions of:

• an acquisition issue, as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements; and/or 

•  a vendor consideration placing, as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements, in compliance with paragraph 5.62 of the JSE 

Listings Requirements, as they deem fit, provided that the relevant acquisitions have been announced by the company at 

any time between the date of this notice of annual general meeting and Wednesday, 20 January 2016 (being 5 business days 

before the date of the annual general meeting).

For the avoidance of doubt, insofar as A and B shares are issued pursuant to this general authority at any time prior to the 

implementation of any transaction to restructure the share capital of the company such that it comprises a single class of share 

only, the A and B shares so issued shall be taken into account in determining the aggregate number of shares of the company 

issued pursuant to this general authority.”

In order for ordinary resolution 6 to be adopted, the support of more than 50% of the total number of votes exercisable by 

shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required to pass this resolution.
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ORDINARY RESOLUTION 7: 
Non-binding advisory vote on remuneration policy

“Resolved that in accordance with the principles of the King III recommendation on governance, and through a non-binding 

advisory vote, the company’s remuneration policy and the implementation thereof as further detailed below be and is 

hereby approved.”

Overview

Remuneration is used to incentivise and retain staff thereby contributing to succession and long-term sustainability of the 

company. The Arrowhead remuneration policy supports the company’s intention to attract high calibre staff as well as serving 

to retain and motivate staff which is in the company’s as well as all stakeholders’ best interest.

Annual increases include annual salary increases which are inflation related adjustments benchmarked against industry norms. 

Annual increases are paid subject to adequate overall performance, stability and position of the company.

Non-executive directors do not receive remuneration or incentive rewards related to the price of the company’s shares or 

corporate performance and their fees are approved by shareholders.

The payment of incentive awards to executive directors has a performance linked component measured against growth in 

distribution, net income growth, and total return for the year as well as asset base growth. In addition to the annual incentives, 

the remuneration and nomination committee has implemented a medium term incentive scheme designed to incentivise and 

reward the achievement of above sector growth in distributions per Arrowhead share in a way that encourages that growth be 

achieved in a sustainable manner.The company does not provide any retirement or medical aid benefits and these are for the 

account of the employee.

The approval of the company’s remuneration policy is by way of a non-binding advisory vote requiring the support of more than 

50% of the total number of votes exercisable by shareholders present in person or by proxy.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 8: 
Signature of documentation

“Resolved that any director of the company or the company secretary be and is hereby authorised to sign all such 

documentation and do all such things as may be necessary for or incidental to the implementation of the ordinary resolution 

numbers 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 and special resolutions 1, 2, 3 and 4 passed at this annual general meeting subject to the 

terms thereof.”

In order for ordinary resolution 8 to be adopted, the support of more than 50% of the total number of votes exercisable by 

shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required to pass this resolution.
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SPECIAL RESOLUTION 1: 
Share Repurchases

“Resolved as a special resolution that the company or any of its subsidiaries be and are hereby authorised by way of a general 

approval to acquire shares issued by the company, in terms of sections 46 and 48 of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008 and in terms 

of the JSE Listings Requirements being that:

•  any acquisition of shares shall be implemented through the order book of the JSE and without prior arrangement;

•  this general authority shall be valid until the company’s next annual general meeting, provided that it shall not extend 

beyond 15 months from the date of passing of this special resolution;

•  the company (or any subsidiary) is duly authorised by its Memorandum of Incorporation to do so;

•  acquisitions of shares in the aggregate in any one financial year may not exceed 20% (or 10% where the acquisitions are 

effected by a subsidiary) of the company’s issued share capital as at the date of passing this special resolution; 

•  in determining the price at which shares issued by the company are acquired by it or any of its subsidiaries in terms of this 

general authority, the maximum premium at which such shares may be acquired will be 10% of the weighted average of the 

market value on the JSE over the 5 business days immediately preceding the repurchase of such shares;

•  at any point in time the company (or any subsidiary) may appoint only one agent to effect repurchases on its behalf;

•  repurchases may not take place during a prohibited period (as defined in paragraph 3.67 of the JSE Listings Requirements) 

unless a repurchase program is in place (where the dates and quantities of shares to be repurchased during the prohibited 

period are fixed) and has been submitted to the JSE in writing prior to the commencement of the prohibited period; 

•  an announcement will be published as soon as the company or any of its subsidiaries have acquired shares constituting on 

a cumulative basis, 3% of the number of shares in issue prior to the acquisition pursuant to which the aforesaid threshold is 

reached and for each 3% in aggregate acquired thereafter, containing full details of such acquisitions; and

•  the Board of directors of the company must resolve that the repurchase is authorised, the company and its subsidiaries have 

passed the solvency and liquidity test, as set out in section 4 of the Companies Act, and since that test was performed, there 

have been no material changes to the financial position of the group.”

In order for special resolution 1 to be adopted, the support of at least 75% of the total number of votes exercisable by 

shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required to pass this resolution.

In accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements, the directors record that although there is no immediate intention to effect 

a repurchase of the shares of the company, the directors will utilise this general authority to repurchase shares as and when 

suitable opportunities present themselves, which may require expeditious and immediate action.
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The directors undertake that, after considering the maximum number of shares that may be repurchased and the price at which 

the repurchases may take place pursuant to the share repurchase general authority, for a period of 12 months after the date of 

notice of this annual general meeting:

•  the company and the group will, in the ordinary course of business, be able to pay its debts;

•  the consolidated assets of the company and the group fairly valued in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards, will exceed the consolidated liabilities of the company and the group fairly valued in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards; and

•  the company’s and the group’s share capital, reserves and working capital will be adequate for ordinary business purposes.

The following additional information, some of which may appear elsewhere in the integrated annual report, is provided in terms 

of paragraph 11.26 of the JSE Listings Requirements for purposes of this general authority:

• Major beneficial shareholders – pages 16 to 20;

• Capital structure of the company – pages 16 to 20 (note 13).

Directors’ responsibility statement

The directors whose names appear on pages 22 to 23 of the integrated annual report of which this notice forms part, collectively 

and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information pertaining to this special resolution and certify 

that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no facts that have been omitted which would make any statement false 

or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that the special resolution contains 

all information required by the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements.

Material changes

Other than the facts and developments reported on in the integrated annual report of which this notice forms part, there have 

been no material changes in the affairs or financial position of the company and its subsidiaries since the date of signature of the 

audit report for the financial year ended 30 September 2015 and up to the date of this notice.

Following the implementation of any restructure of the share capital of the company such that it comprises a single class of 

share only 20% (or 10% where the acquisitions are effected by a subsidiary) of the company’s issued share capital, provided 

that the aggregate of all A and B shares acquired pursuant to this general authority prior to such restructure shall be taken into 

account in determining the aggregate number of shares of the company acquired pursuant to this general authority.
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Reason for special resolution 1

The reason for special resolution 1 is to grant the directors of the company (or a subsidiary of the company) general authority 

to effect a repurchase of the company’s shares on the JSE.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION 2: 
Financial assistance to related and inter-related parties

“Resolved as a special resolution that, to the extent required by the Companies Act, 71 of 2008 (“Companies Act”) the Board of 

directors of the company may, subject to compliance with the requirements of the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, 

the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, each as presently constituted and as amended from time to time, 

authorise the company to provide direct or indirect financial assistance, as contemplated in section 45 of the Companies Act 

by way of loans, guarantees, the provision of security or otherwise, to any of its present or future subsidiaries and/or any other 

company or corporation that is or becomes related or inter- related (as defined in the Companies Act) to the company for any 

purpose or in connection with any matter, such authority to endure until the next annual general meeting provided that such 

authority shall not extend beyond 2 years, and further provided that inasmuch as the company’s provision of financial assistance 

to its subsidiaries will at any and all times be in excess of one tenth of 1% of the company’s net worth, the company hereby 

provides notice to its shareholders of that fact.”

In order for special resolution 2 to be adopted, the support of at least 75% of the total number of votes exercisable by 

shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required to pass this resolution.

Reason for special resolution 2

The company would like the ability to provide financial assistance, in appropriate circumstances and if the need arises, in 

accordance with section 45 of the Companies Act. Under the Companies Act, the company will, however, require the special 

resolution referred to above to be adopted, provided that the Board of directors of the company is satisfied that the terms under 

which the financial assistance is proposed to be given are fair and reasonable to the company and, immediately after providing 

the financial assistance, the company would satisfy the solvency and liquidity test contemplated in the Companies Act. In the 

circumstances and in order to, inter alia, ensure that the company’s subsidiaries and other related and inter-related companies 

and corporations have access to financing and/or financial backing from the company (as opposed to banks), it is necessary to 

obtain the approval of shareholders, as set out in special resolution 2. Therefore, the reason for special resolution 2 is to permit 

the company to provide direct or indirect financial assistance (within the meaning attributed to that term in section 45 of the 

Companies Act) to the entities referred to in special resolution 2 above.
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Notice in terms of section 45(5) of the Companies Act in respect of special resolution 2

Notice is hereby given to shareholders of the company in terms of section 45(5) of the Companies Act of a resolution adopted 

by the Board authorising the company to provide such direct or indirect financial assistance as specified in the special resolution 

above –

•  by the time that this notice of annual general meeting is delivered to shareholders of the company, the Board will have 

adopted a resolution (“section 45 Board resolution”) authorising the company to provide, at any time and from time to time 

during the period of 2 (two) years commencing on the date on which the special resolution is adopted, any direct or indirect 

financial assistance as contemplated in section 45 of the Companies Act to any 1 (one) or more related or inter-related 

companies or corporations of the company and/or to any 1 (one) or more members of any such related or inter-related 

company or corporation and/or to any 1 (one) or more persons related to any such company or corporation;

•  the section 45 Board resolution will be effective only if and to the extent that the special resolution under the heading 

“special resolution number 2” is adopted by the shareholders of the company, and the provision of any such direct or 

indirect financial assistance by the company, pursuant to such resolution, will always be subject to the Board being satisfied 

that (i) immediately after providing such financial assistance, the company will satisfy the solvency and liquidity test as 

referred to in section 45(3)(b)(i) of the Companies Act, and that (ii) the terms under which such financial assistance is to 

be given are fair and reasonable to the company as referred to in section 45(3)(b)(ii) of the Companies Act; and

•  in as much as the section 45 Board resolution contemplates that such financial assistance will in the aggregate exceed 

one– tenth of one percent of the company’s net worth at the date of adoption of such resolution, the company hereby 

provides notice of the section 45 Board resolution to shareholders of the company.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION 3: 
Approval of fees payable to non-executive directors

To consider and if deemed fit, to pass with or without modification, the following special resolutions by way of separate 

resolutions:

3.1  “Resolved, as a special resolution, that the fees of R52 800 per annum payable by the company to non-executive directors for 

their services on the remuneration and nomination committee of the Board of directors (“Remuneration and Nomination 

Committee”) (in terms of section 66 of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008) (“Companies Act”) be and are hereby approved for 

a period of two years from the passing of this resolution or until its renewal, whichever is the earliest.”
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3.2  “Resolved, as a special resolution, that an annual increase not exceeding 15% of the fees payable by the company to the 

non- executive directors on the Remuneration Committee for their services be and is hereby approved for a period of two 

years from the passing of this resolution or until its renewal, whichever is the earliest.”

In order for special resolutions 3.1 and 3.2 to be adopted, the support of at least 75% of the total number of votes exercisable by 

shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required to pass those resolutions.

Reason for special resolution 3.1

The reason for special resolution 3.1 is to obtain shareholder approval by way of special resolution in accordance with 

section 66(9) of the Companies Act for the payment by the company of remuneration to the non-executive directors of the 

company for their services on the remuneration and nomination committee for the year ending 2016 in the amount set out 

under special resolution 3. Save as aforesaid, the fees payable by the company to non-executive directors for their services as 

directors are as approved for the financial year ended 2014.

Reason for special resolution 3.2

As the fees payable to non-executive directors are, from time to time, benchmarked to other companies with a similar market 

capitalisation taking into account the estimated time and the other requirements of directors, an annual increase not exceeding 

15% is proposed for approval for the subsequent year.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION 4: 
Amendment of the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation

“Resolved that in accordance with section 16(1)(c) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 the company’s Memorandum of 

Incorporation be hereby amended by the deletion of the phrase “except during the period of his agreement, and his 

appointment shall terminate if he ceases for any reason to be a director” in clause 29.1. Clause 29.1 shall accordingly read:

“The directors may from time to time appoint 1 (one) or more of their body to the office of chief executive officer for such 

term and at such remuneration as they may think fit, and may revoke such appointment subject to the terms of any agreement 

entered into in any particular case, provided that the period of office of a chief executive officer appointed in terms of 

an agreement shall be for a maximum period of 5 (five) years at any one time. A director so appointed shall be subject to 

retirement in the same manner as the other directors.” 

In order for special resolution 4 to be adopted, the support of at least 75% of the total number of votes exercisable by 

shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required to pass this resolution.
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Reason for special resolution 4

The reason for special resolution 4 is to amend the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation so as to provide for the rotation 

of one third of all directors including the chief executive officer at the annual general meeting of the company.

QUORUM

A quorum for purposes of considering the resolutions above shall consist of three shareholders of the company personally 

present or represented by proxy (and if the shareholder is a body corporate, the representative of the body corporate) and 

entitled to vote at the annual general meeting. In addition, a quorum shall comprise 25% of all the voting rights that are entitled 

to be exercised by Arrowhead shareholders in respect of each matter to be decided at the annual general meeting.

The date on which Arrowhead shareholders must be recorded as such in the register maintained by the transfer secretaries, 

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 

2107), for the purposes of being entitled to attend, participate in and vote at the annual general meeting is Friday, 

22 January 2016.

SHAREHOLDERS

General Instructions

Shareholders are encouraged to attend, speak and vote at the annual general meeting.

Electronic Participation

The company has made provision for Arrowhead shareholders or their proxies to participate electronically in the annual 

general meeting by way of telephone conferencing. Should shareholders wish to participate in the annual general meeting 

by telephone conference call as aforesaid, the shareholder or its proxy as the case may be, will be required to advise the 

company thereof by no later than 10:00 on Monday, 25 January 2016, by submitting by e-mail to the company secretary at 

neville.toerien@computershare.co.za or by fax to be faxed to +27 (0)11 688 5279, for the attention of Neville Toerien, relevant 

contact details, including an e-mail address, cellular number and landline as well as full details of the Arrowhead shareholder’s 

title to securities issued by the company and proof of identity, in the form of copies of identity documents and share certificates 

(in the case of materialised certificated Arrowhead shares) and (in the case of dematerialised Arrowhead shares) written 

confirmation from the Arrowhead shareholder’s CSDP confirming the Arrowhead shareholder’s title to the dematerialised 

Arrowhead shares. Upon receipt of the required information, the Arrowhead shareholder concerned will be provided with 

a secure code and instructions to access the electronic communication during the annual general meeting. Arrowhead 

shareholders must note that access to the electronic communication will be at the expense of the Arrowhead shareholders 

who wish to utilise the facility.

Arrowhead shareholders and their appointed proxies attending by conference call will not be able to cast their votes at the 

annual general meeting through this medium. Such shareholders, should they wish to have their vote counted at the annual 

general meeting must to the extent applicable complete the form of proxy or contact their CSDP or broker, in both instances as 

set out above.
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Voting, Proxies and authority for representatives to act

A shareholder of the company entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint one or more 

proxies (who need not be a shareholder of the company) to attend, vote and speak in his/her stead.

On a show of hands, every shareholder of the company present in person or represented by proxy shall have one vote only. On 

a poll, every shareholder of the company present in person or represented by proxy shall have one vote for every share held in 

the company by such shareholder.

A form of proxy is attached for the convenience of any Arrowhead shareholder holding certificated shares, who cannot attend 

the annual general meeting but wishes to be represented thereat. Forms of proxy may also be obtained on request from the 

company’s registered office.

The attached form of proxy is only to be completed by those shareholders who are:

• holding shares in certificated form; or 

•  recorded on the company’s sub-register in dematerialised electronic form with “own name” registration. 

All other beneficial owners who have dematerialised their shares through a Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) 

or broker and wish to attend the annual general meeting, must instruct their CSDP or broker to provide them with the necessary 

letter of representation, or they must provide the CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody 

agreement entered into between them and the CSDP or broker. These shareholders must not use a form of proxy.

Forms of proxy must be deposited at the transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd at 70 Marshall Street, 

Johannesburg or by fax on +27 (0) 11 688 6238 to be received no later than 10:00 on Monday, 25 January 2016. Alternatively, 

the form of proxy may be handed to the chairman of the annual general meeting at the annual general meeting at any time 

prior to the commencement of the annual general meeting. Any shareholder who completes and lodges a form of proxy will 

nevertheless be entitled to attend, speak and vote in person at the annual general meeting should the shareholder decide to 

do so.

A company that is a shareholder, wishing to attend and participate at the annual general meeting should ensure that a resolution 

authorising a representative to so attend and participate at the annual general meeting on its behalf is passed by its directors. 

Resolutions authorising representatives in terms of section 57(5) of the Companies Act must be lodged with the company’s 

transfer secretaries prior to the annual general meeting.

Arrowhead does not accept responsibility and will not be held liable for any failure on the part of the CSDP or broker of a 

dematerialised shareholder to notify such shareholder of the annual general meeting or any business to be conducted thereat.

By order of the Board
ARROWHEAD PROPERTIES LIMITED
17 November 2015
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FORM OF PROXY

Where appropriate and applicable the terms defined in the notice of annual general meeting to which this form of proxy is attached and forms 
part of bear the same meanings in this form of proxy.

This form of proxy is only for use by:
•  registered shareholders who have not yet dematerialised their Arrowhead shares;
•  registered shareholders who have already dematerialised their Arrowhead shares and which shares are registered in their own names in the 

company’s sub-register.

For completion by the aforesaid registered shareholders of Arrowhead who are unable to attend the annual general meeting of the company 
to be held at the offices of the company at 2nd Floor, 18 Melrose Boulevard, Melrose Arch, Johannesburg, at 10:00 on 27 January 2016 (the 
“annual general meeting”) or any postponement or adjournment thereof.

Dematerialised shareholders, other than with “own name” registration, are not to use this form. Dematerialised shareholders, other than with 
“own name” registration, should provide instructions to their appointed Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker in the 
form as stipulated in the agreement entered into between the shareholder and the CSDP or broker.

I/WE (BLOCK LETTERS PLEASE) 

OF (ADDRESS)

BEING THE HOLDER/S OF                                                                ARROWHEAD A SHARES AND ARROWHEAD B SHARES HEREBY APPOINT:

1.

2.

3. The chairman of the annual general meeting

as my/our proxy to attend and speak and to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting and at any adjournment or 
postponement thereof, for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the resolutions to be proposed at 
the annual general meeting, and to vote on the resolutions in respect of the ordinary shares registered in my/our name(s), in the following manner.

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces below how you wish your votes to be cast. Unless this is done the proxy will vote as he/she 
thinks fit.

*IN FAVOUR OF *AGAINST *ABSTAIN

A shares B shares A shares B shares A shares B shares

Ordinary resolution 1.1 Re-election of M Kaplan as director

Ordinary resolution 1.2 Re-election of I Suleman as director

Ordinary resolution 1.3 Re-election of T Adler as a director

Ordinary resolution 2.1 Re-appointment of members of the audit and risk 
committee – S Noik (chairman) 

Ordinary resolution 2.2 Re-appointment of members of the audit and risk 
committee – E Stroebel

Ordinary resolution 2.3 Re-appointment of members of the audit and risk 
committee – T Adler

Ordinary resolution 3 Re-appointment of auditors

Ordinary resolution 4 Unissued shares

Ordinary resolution 5 General authority to issue shares for cash

Ordinary resolution 6 Unissued shares under directors’ control for 
acquisition issues/vendor placings

Ordinary resolution 7 Non-binding advisory vote on remuneration policy

Ordinary resolution 8 Signature of documentation

Special resolution 1 Share repurchases

Special resolution 2 Financial assistance to related and inter-related  parties

Special resolution 3 Approval of fees payable to non-executive directors

3.1 Directors fees

3.2 Increase in fees

Special resolution 4 Amendment of Memorandum of Incorporation

*  One vote per share held by Arrowhead shareholders recorded in the register on the voting record date. Unless otherwise instructed, my/our proxy may vote or 
abstain from voting as he/she thinks fit.

SIGNED THIS DAY OF 20

SIGNATURE ASSISTED BY ME (WHERE APPLICABLE)

(STATE CAPACITY AND FULL NAME)
A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, vote and speak in his/her stead. 
A proxy need not be a member of the company. Each shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and, on a poll, 
vote in place of that shareholder at the annual general meeting. Forms of proxy must be deposited at Computershare Investor 
Services Proprietary Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, or posted to PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107 
so as to arrive by no later than 10:00 on Monday, 25 January 2016. Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.

Arrowhead Properties Limited 

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) (Registration number 2011/000308/06)

JSE share code: AWA ISIN: ZAE000203105 JSE share code: AWB ISIN: ZAE000203113 (approved as a REIT by the JSE) (“Arrowhead” or “The Company”)
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1.  Only shareholders who are registered in the register of the 
company under their own name on the date on which shareholders 
must be recorded as such in the register maintained by the transfer 
secretaries, Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, 
being Friday, 22 January 2016 (the “voting record date”), may 
complete a form of proxy or attend the annual general meeting. 
This includes shareholders who have not dematerialised their 
shares or who have dematerialised their shares with “own name” 
registration. The person whose name stands first on the form of 
proxy and who is present at the annual general meeting will be 
entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names 
follow. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the company. 

2.  Certificated shareholders wishing to attend the annual general 
meeting have to ensure beforehand with the transfer secretaries of 
the company (being Computershare Investor Services Proprietary 
Limited) that their shares are registered in their own name.

3.  Beneficial shareholders whose shares are not registered in their 
“own name”, but in the name of another, for example, a nominee, 
may not complete a proxy form, unless a form of proxy is issued 
to them by a registered shareholder and they should contact the 
registered shareholder for assistance in issuing instructions on 
voting their shares, or obtaining a proxy to attend, speak and, on a 
poll, vote at the annual general meeting.

4.  Dematerialised shareholders who have not elected “own name” 
registration in the register of the company through a Central 
Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) and who wish to attend 
the annual general meeting, must instruct the CSDP or broker to 
provide them with the necessary authority to attend

5.  Dematerialised shareholders who have not elected “own name” 
registration in the register of the company through a CSDP and 
who are unable to attend, but wish to vote at the annual general 
meeting, must timeously provide their CSDP or broker with their 
voting instructions in terms of the custody agreement entered into 
between that shareholder and the CSDP or broker.

6.  A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of 
two or more alternative proxies of the shareholder’s choice in the 
space, with or without deleting “the chairman of the annual general 
meeting”. The person whose name stands first on the form of proxy 
and who is present at the annual general meeting will be entitled to 
act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow.

7.  The completion and lodging of this form will not preclude the 
relevant shareholder from attending the annual general meeting 
and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any 
proxy appointed, should such shareholder wish to do so. In addition 
to the aforegoing, a shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment 
by (i) cancelling it in writing, or making a later inconsistent 
appointment of a proxy; and (ii) delivering a copy of the revocation 
instrument to the proxy, and to the company.

8.  The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete and 
final cancellation of the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of the 
relevant shareholder as of the later of the date –

 • stated in the revocation instrument, if any; or
 •  upon which the revocation instrument is delivered to the proxy 

and the relevant company as required in section 58(4)(c)(ii) of 
the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended (“Companies Act”).

9.  Should the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies have been 
delivered to the company, as long as that appointment remains 
in effect, any notice that is required by the Companies Act or the 
company’s Memorandum of Incorporation to be delivered by the 
company to the shareholder must be delivered by the company to –

 • the shareholder, or
 •  the proxy or proxies if the shareholder has in writing directed 

the relevant company to do so and has paid any reasonable fee 
charged by the company for doing so.

10.  A proxy is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any 
voting right of the relevant shareholder without direction, except to 
the extent that the Memorandum of Incorporation of the company 
or the instrument appointing the proxy provides otherwise.

11.  If the company issues an invitation to shareholders to appoint one 
or more persons named by the company as a proxy, or supplies a 
form of instrument for appointing a proxy –

 •  such invitation must be sent to every shareholder who is entitled 
to receive notice of the meeting at which the proxy is intended to 
be exercised;

 •  the company must not require that the proxy appointment be 
made irrevocable; and

 •  the proxy appointment remains valid only until the end of the 
relevant meeting at which it was intended to be used, unless 
revoked as contemplated in section 58(5) of the Companies Act.

12.  Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be 
initialled by the signatory/ies. A deletion of any printed matter 
and the completion of any blank space(s) need not be signed 
or initialled.

13.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person 
signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity must be 
attached to this form unless previously recorded by the transfer 
secretaries of the company or waived by the chairman of the annual 
general meeting.

14.  A minor must be assisted by his/her parent/guardian unless 
the relevant documents establishing his/her legal capacity are 
produced or have been registered by the transfer secretaries.

15.  A company holding shares in the company that wishes to attend 
and participate at the annual general meeting should ensure that 
a resolution authorising a representative to act is passed by its 
directors. Resolutions authorising representatives in terms of 
section 57(5) of the Companies Act must be lodged with the 
company’s transfer secretaries prior to the annual general meeting.

16.  Where there are joint holders of shares any one of such persons 
may vote at any meeting in respect of such shares as if he were 
solely entitled thereto; but if more than one of such joint holders 
be present or represented at the meeting, that one of the said 
persons whose name appears first in the register of shareholders of 
such shares or his proxy, as the case may be shall alone be, shall be 
entitled to vote in respect thereof.

17.  On a show of hands, every shareholder of the company present 
in person or represented by proxy shall have one vote only. On a 
poll a shareholder who is present in person or represented by a 
proxy shall be entitled to that proportion of the total votes in the 
company which the aggregate amount of the nominal value of the 
shares held by him bears to the aggregate amount of the nominal 
value of all the shares of the relevant class issued by the company.

18.  The chairman of the annual general meeting may reject or accept 
any proxy which is completed and/or received other than in 
accordance with the instructions, provided that he shall not accept 
a proxy unless he is satisfied as to the matter in which a shareholder 
wishes to vote.

19.  A proxy may not delegate his/her authority to act on behalf of the 
shareholder, to another person.

20.  A shareholder’s instruction to the proxy must be indicated by the 
insertion of the relevant number of shares to be voted on behalf 
of that shareholder in the appropriate space provided. Failure to 
comply with the above will be deemed to authorise the chairperson 
of the annual general meeting, if the chairperson is the authorised 
proxy, to vote in favour of the resolutions at the annual general 
meeting or other proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the 
annual general meeting as he/she deems fit, in respect of the shares 
concerned. A shareholder or the proxy is not obliged to use all the 
votes exercisable by the shareholder or the proxy, but the total 
of votes cast in respect whereof abstention is recorded may not 
exceed the total of the votes exercisable by the shareholder or the 
proxy.

21.  It is requested that this form of proxy be lodged or posted 
or faxed to the transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor 
Services (Pty) Ltd at 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg or by 
fax on +27 11 688  6238, to be received by the company no later 
than 10:00 on Monday, 25 January 2016. Alternatively, the form 
of proxy may be handed to the chairman of the annual general 
meeting at the annual general meeting at any time prior to the 
commencement of the annual general meeting. A quorum for the 
purposes of considering the resolutions shall comprise 25% of all 
the voting rights that are entitled to be exercised by shareholders in 
respect of each matter to be decided at the annual general meeting. 
In addition, a quorum shall consist of three shareholders of the 
company personally present or represented and entitled to vote at 
the annual general meeting.

22.  This form of proxy may be used at any adjournment or 
postponement of the annual general meeting, including any 
postponement due to a lack of quorum, unless withdrawn by the 
shareholder.

23.  The aforegoing notes contain a summary of the relevant provisions 
of section 58 of the Companies Act, as required in terms of 
that section.

NOTES TO THE FORM OF PROXY
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Definitions

A
Amorispan
Amorispan (Pty) Ltd

Arrowhead
Arrowhead Properties Limited, a REIT 

listed on the JSE

B
Board
Board of directors

C
CEO
Chief executive officer

CFO
Chief financial officer

CGT
Capital Gains Tax

CIPC
Companies and Intellectual Property 

Commission

Citiq
Citiq Property Services (Pty) Ltd

Commerical
Retail, office and industrial properties

Companies Act
Companies Act, 2008 as amended

Company
Arrowhead

COO
Chief operating officer

Couzyns
Couzins Incorporated

CSI Rentals
CSI Rentals (Pty) Ltd

CSDP
Central Securities Depository 

Participant

E
Executive
CEO, CFO and COO

EPS
Earnings per share

D
Dipula
Dipula Income Fund Limited
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G
Gearing
Loans from Standard Bank of South 

Africa Limited and Nedbank Limited

GLA
Gross lettable area

Grant Thornton
Grant Thornton Johannesburg Practice

I
IAS
International Accounting Standards

IFRS
International Financial Reporting 

Standards

IT
Information technology

Indluplace
Indluplace Properties Limited

J
JHI
JHI Topeka Trading 4 Proprietary 

Limited, trading as JHI

JSE
Johannesburg Stock Exchange Limited

S
SENS
Stock Exchange News Service of the JSE

Share or ordinary share
Share or ordinary share A no par value 

share in the capital of the company

Standard Bank
Standard Bank of South Africa Limited

Strate
A licensed Central Securities 

Depository for the electronic settlement 

of financial instruments in South Africa

M
m²
Square metre

Mafadi
Mafadi Property Management (Pty) Ltd

L
LTV
Loan to value

P
Pipeline
Potential property acquisitions not yet 

finalised

PLS
Property Loan Stock

R
R
South African Rand

Real Insight 
Real Insight (Pty) Ltd

Redefine 
Redefine Properties Limited

REIT
Real Estate Investment Trust

U
Units
Number of residential units

JIKA 1
First transaction of Jika Proprietary 

Limited group of companies effective 

1 April 2014

JIKA 2
Second transaction of Jika Proprietary 

Limited group of companies effective 

1 April 2015

H
HEPS
Headline earnings per share

N
NAV
Net Asset Value

T
Transfer Date
Date of registration of transfer of 

ownership of immovable property in 

the Deads Office.






